
City of Rock Falls 
603 W. 10th Street 

Rock Falls, IL 61071-2854 

Mayor 
William B. Wescott 

 815-380-5333 

City Administrator 

Robbin D. Blackert 
815-564-1366 

City Clerk 
Eric Arduini 

815-622-1104 

City Treasurer 

Kay Abner 
815-622-1100 

City Council Agenda 
Rock Falls Council Chambers 

October 16th, 2018 
6:30 p.m.

Call to Order @ 6:30 p.m. 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call 

Community Affairs: 
Bethany Bland, President /CEO, Rock Falls Chamber of Commerce. 

Consent Agenda: 
1. Approval of the Minutes of the October 2nd, 2018 Regular Council Meeting.

2. Approval of bills as presented.

Old Business: 
1. Items tabled at previous meeting.

a. Approval of the quote for the Lincoln Street Watermain Extension with
Kirby Cable Service, 17842 Sumner Rd, Pecatonica, IL 61063 not to exceed 
$19,999.99 as recommended by the Utilities Committee.  
b. Approval of the quote for materials from Ferguson 1720 State Street.
Dekalb. IL 60116 for the Swallow to Lincoln water main extension in the 
amount of $12,597.99 as recommended by the Utilities Committee.  

Ordinance First Reading 
1. Approval of Ordinance 2018-2401 authorizing the City to borrow funds from the
Water Pollution Control Loan Program. 
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Ordinance Second Reading / Adoption 
1. Adoption of Ordinance 2018-2399 authorizing lease of elevated water tower 
through June 15th, 2019 in the amount of $300.00 per month. 
 
2. Adoption of Ordinance 2018-2400 Declaration of Restrictive Covenants for the 
Schmitt Addition Redevelopment Site. 
 
3. Adoption of Ordinance 2018-2402 authorizing entry into an easement agreement 
with Commonwealth Edison for installation of underground utilities. 
 
 

City Administrator Robbin Blackert: 
1. Approval the FY 2018 (May 1, 2017 through April 30, 2018) Final Audit. 
 
2. Approval of the low bid from Furr Excavating 30529 Duden Road Rock Falls IL. 
for the demolition of the property at 241 Avenue F in the amount of $4,900.00. 
 
3. Approval of the low bid from Furr Excavating 30529 Duden Road Rock Falls IL. 
for the demolition of the property at 711 9th Avenue in the amount of $6,500.00 
 

  
Information/Correspondence: 
Eric Arduini, City Clerk 

1. Acceptance of the letter of resignation from Michelle Conklin for her position as 
Deputy Clerk.  

 
James Reese, City Attorney  
Brian Frickenstein, City Engineer  
 
 
Department Heads: 
Water Reclamation- Ed Cox 
Electric- Dick Simon 
Police Chief- Chief Tammy Nelson   
Fire Chief- Chief Gary Cook 
Building Inspector- Mark Searing 
Water – Ted Padilla 
Street - Larry Spinka 
Utility Office - Diane Hatfield  
Tourism  
Broadband – Wayne Shafer 
 
 

Ward Reports: 
Ward 1   Ward 2   Ward 3   Ward 4 
Ald. Reitzel  Ald. Kuhlemier Ald. Schuneman Ald. Folsom 
Ald. Logan  Ald. Snow  Ald. Kleckler  Ald. Sobottka 
 
 
 
 
 

2



 
 
 
 
 
 
Mayor’s Report:  
    
 
Executive Session: 

1. Personnel Section 2 (c)(1) Employee hiring, firing, compensation, discipline, and 
performance.    

  
Any action taken from Executive Session: 
 
 
Adjournment: 
 
Next City Council Meeting 11-06-2018 
 
Posted 10-12-2018 
Eric Arduini, City Clerk 
 

The City of Rock Falls is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Individuals with Disabilities who plan to attend this 

meeting and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in the meeting, or who have questions regarding the 

accessibility of the meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact Mark Searing, ADA Coordinator, at 1-815-622-1108; promptly to allow the City of 

Rock Falls to make reasonable accommodations within 48 hours of the scheduled meeting. 

3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



CITY OF ROCK FALLS 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

ORDINANCE NO. 2018-2402 

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING ENTRY INTO AN EASEMENT 
AGREEMENT WITH COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY 

FOR INSTALLATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

ADOPTED BY THE 

CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE 

CITY OF ROCK FALLS 

THIS _______ DAY OF _________________, 2018 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the City Council of the City of Rock Falls, this 
_____ day of ___________________, 2018. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
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ORDINANCE NO. 2018-2402 

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING ENTRY INTO AN EASEMENT 
AGREEMENT WITH COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY 

FOR INSTALLATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES 

WHEREAS, the City of Rock Falls (“City”) has requested that Commonwealth Edison 
(“ComEd”) grant an easement permitting the City to cross property owned by ComEd, PIN # 17-03-
200-002; and 

WHEREAS, Commonwealth Edison in exchange for payment of the requisite easement 
amount ($8,400.00) has indicated consent to entry into the necessary easement agreement; and 

WHEREAS, it is the opinion of the City Council that entry into the easement agreement is 
in the best interests of the residents of the City of Rock Falls; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council herein waives necessity of a second reading and desires to 
adopt the Ordinance..   

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Rock 
Falls as follows: 

SECTION 1:  The preambles to this ordinance are true and correct and are hereby 
incorporated in this section as if fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2:  The Mayor and City Clerk are authorized to execute the easement agreement, 
from Commonwealth Edison to the City, in substantially the same form hereto as Exhibit A 
(Easement Agreement). 

SECTION 3:  Provisions and sections of this resolution shall be deemed to be separable and 
the invalidity of any portion of this resolution shall not affect the validity of the remainder. 

SECTION 4:  The City Clerk is directed to publish this resolution in pamphlet form. 

SECTION 5:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval and publication as required by law. 

Passed by the Mayor and the City Council of the City of Rock Falls on the _____ day of 
________________________, 2018. 

___________________________________ 
Mayor  

ATTEST: 
________________________________ 

City Clerk 
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AYE      NAY 
 
_____________________________  _______________________________  
 
_____________________________  _______________________________  
 
_____________________________  _______________________________  
 
_____________________________  _______________________________  
 
_____________________________   _______________________________  
 
_____________________________  _______________________________  
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This Document was Prepared by: 
When Recorded, Return to: 
John Mishevski 
Three Lincoln Centre, 4th FL 
Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181 

FOR RECORDING PURPOSES ONLY               

 EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS  Easement Agreement (“Easement”) is made as of this ___ day of ______________, _____, by and 
between COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY, an Illinois corporation (“Grantor”), with a mailing 
address of Three Lincoln Centre, 4th FL, Oakbrook Terrace Illinois 60181, and CITY OF ROCK FALLS, 

603 West 10th Street, Rock Falls, Illinois 61071 (“Grantee”). 

RECITALS: 

A. Grantor is the owner of a parcel of land in Rock Falls, County of Whiteside and State of 
Illinois, commonly known as Rockfalls Morison right of way, described in Exhibit A attached hereto and 
made a part hereof (“Grantor’s Property”). 

B. Grantor utilizes Grantor’s Property for Grantor’s own business operations, which 
operations, for purposes hereof, shall include without limitation the construction, reconstruction, 
maintenance, repair, upgrade, expansion, addition, renewal, replacement, relocation, removal, use and 
operation of Grantor’s equipment and facilities, whether now existing or hereafter to be installed, in, at, 
over, under, along or across Grantor’s Property (collectively, “Grantor’s Operations”). 

C. Grantee desires to install a six -inch (6”) underground primary electric circuit below 
and underneath  a center line across Grantor’s Property in the location legally described on the Plat of 
Easement diagram attached hereto as Exhibit B  (for the purposes of this Easement, the “Easement Premises 
as shown on the diagram attached hereto as Exhibit B). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of Ten and No/100ths Dollars, the payments, covenants, 
terms, and conditions to be made, performed, kept and observed by Grantee hereunder and other good and 
lawful consideration, Grantor and Grantee hereby agree as follows: 

1. Grant of Easement.  Subject to the terms and provisions of this Easement, Grantor hereby
grants and conveys, without warranty of title, a perpetual, non-exclusive easement for the right and privilege 
to use the underground Easement Premises for the following purposes and for no other purpose whatsoever: 
construction, maintenance and use of two (2)  six -inch (6”)  underground primary electric circuit conduit 
and one (1) four-inch (4”) underground fiber optic cable conduit in substantial conformity with the 
engineering plan sheet 01, prepared by Willet Hoffman & Associates, 809 East 2nd Street, Dixon, Illinois 

Exhibit A
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61021, dated 3/22/2018 and known as  City of Rock Falls Electric Line Utility Easement attached hereto 
as Exhibit B and made a part hereof (hereinafter referred to as the “Facilities”).  

2. Grantee’s Use.  The following general conditions shall apply to Grantee’s use of the 
Easement Premises: 

(a) Grantee shall procure and maintain at its own expense, prior to entry upon Grantor’s Property 
hereunder, all licenses, consents, permits, authorizations and other approvals required from any federal, 
state or local governmental authority in connection with the construction, placement, use and operation of 
the Easement Premises and the Facilities, and Grantee shall strictly observe all laws, rules, statutes and 
regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Easement Premises or Grantee’s 
operations thereon.  Grantor may from time to time request reasonable evidence that all such approvals 
have been obtained by Grantee and are in full force and effect.  In no event shall Grantee seek any 
governmental approvals that may affect in any way Grantor’s Operations, including without limitation any 
zoning approvals, without in each instance obtaining Grantor’s prior written consent, which consent may 
be granted or withheld in Grantor’s sole discretion. 

(b) In the event any aspect of Grantee’s construction, placement, maintenance, repair, use or operation 
of the Easement Premises and the Facilities at any time violates or is forbidden by any law, statute, rule, 
regulation, order or requirement of any governmental authority, Grantee shall immediately discontinue such 
operations and at its own expense take all required corrective action, including without limitation removal 
of all or any portion of the Facilities from Grantor’s Property if required, within the lesser of (i) thirty (30) 
days from Grantee’s notice of such violation or (ii) the period of time required by law for the correction of 
such violation. 

(c) Grantee’s use of the Easement Premises shall be conducted in a manner that does not conflict or 
interfere with Grantor’s Operations. 

(d) This Easement and the rights granted hereunder are subject and subordinate in all respects to all 
matters and conditions affecting the Easement Premises (whether recorded or unrecorded). 

(e) Grantee’s obligations and liabilities to Grantor under this Easement with respect to the Easement 
Premises and the Facilities and all other matters shall not be limited or in any manner impaired by any 
agreements entered into by and between Grantee and any third parties, including without limitation any 
agreements related to the construction or installation of the Facilities, and Grantee shall be and remain liable 
to Grantor for the installation and operation of the Facilities in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
this Easement, notwithstanding Grantee’s failure or refusal to accept delivery of or title to such facilities 
from any such third parties.  

(f)  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this Easement and the rights granted hereunder 
are subject and subordinate in all respects to the existing and future rights of Grantor and its lessees, 
licensees and grantees, existing roads and highways, the rights of all existing utilities, all existing railroad 
rights-of-way, water courses and drainage rights that may be present in Grantor’s Property.  If required, 
Grantee shall secure the engineering consent of such prior grantees as a prerequisite to exercising its rights 
hereunder and provide Grantor with a copy of the same. 

3. Term.  The term of this Easement shall be perpetual, unless sooner terminated in accordance with 
the provisions of this Easement, and shall commence as of the date first hereinabove written. 
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4. Fees.  In partial consideration of this Easement, Grantee shall pay Grantor a certain sum of money 
as set forth in a separate agreement between Grantor and Grantee, which amount shall be due and payable 
to Grantor, prior to Grantor’s execution of this Easement. 

5. Rights Reserved to Grantor. 

(a) Grantor’s rights in and to the Easement Premises, Grantor’s Property and Grantor’s Operations are 
and shall remain superior to Grantee’s rights granted hereunder.  Grantor shall not be liable to Grantee for 
damage to the Facilities due to Grantor’s Operations and/or the installation, operation, maintenance or 
removal of any present or future facilities of Grantor. 

(b) Grantor reserves the right to grant additional leases, licenses, easements and rights hereafter to third 
parties through, under, over and across all or any portion of Grantor’s Property, including the Easement 
Premises, so long as there is no material adverse impact on Grantee’s rights in and use of the Easement 
Premises pursuant to the terms of this Easement.  In the event of a violation of this Paragraph 5(b), Grantee’s 
sole and exclusive remedy against Grantor shall be seeking an injunction preventing such third party from 
creating such material adverse impact on Grantee’s rights as aforesaid. 

6. Relocation and Restoration of Easement Premises.  The following terms and conditions shall 
govern the rights and obligations of the parties with respect to relocation and restoration of the Easement 
Premises: 

(a) In the event any alteration, expansion, upgrade, relocation or other change in Grantor’s Operations 
interferes or conflicts with Grantee’s use of the Easement Premises hereunder, Grantor shall notify Grantee 
in writing of such proposed change and the conflict posed by this Easement or the presence of the Facilities 
on the Easement Premises.  Such notice shall contain Grantor’s estimate of the additional costs Grantor will 
incur if the proposed change in Grantor’s Operations must be altered to avoid or minimize any conflict or 
interference with Grantee’s use of the Easement Premises.  Within twenty-one (21) days after receipt of 
such notice, Grantee shall notify Grantor in writing of its election to (i) make such changes in the Facilities, 
at Grantee’s cost, as in the judgment of Grantor may be required to avoid or minimize any conflict or 
interference with the proposed change in Grantor’s Operations, including without limitation the relocation 
of the Easement Premises and the Facilities to another location owned by and designated by Grantor, or (ii) 
reimburse Grantor for all additional costs incurred by Grantor in altering the proposed change in Grantor’s 
Operations to avoid or minimize such conflict or interference.  In the event Grantee fails to notify Grantor 
in writing of such election within such twenty-one (21) day period, Grantee shall be conclusively deemed 
to have elected to reimburse Grantor for its additional costs as provided in clause (ii) hereinabove.  In the 
event Grantee elects to make all changes to the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities, including 
relocation to another location designated by Grantor, required to avoid conflict with the proposed change 
in Grantor’s Operations, Grantee, at its sole cost and in accordance with all applicable terms and conditions 
of this Easement, shall promptly take all steps necessary to complete such changes and relocation within a 
reasonable time but in no event later than sixty (60) days after the date of such election.  In the event Grantee 
elects to reimburse Grantor for the additional costs to be incurred by Grantor, Grantee shall make such 
payment within thirty (30) days after Grantor’s demand therefor. 

(b) Grantee agrees that, within sixty (60) days after the termination of this Easement for any reason, 
Grantee shall, at its sole cost and expense and only if directed to do so by Grantor in Grantor’s sole 
discretion, remove all of the Facilities from Grantor’s Property and restore and repair Grantor’s Property to 
the condition existing prior to the installation of the Facilities.  In the event Grantee fails to so remove the 
Facilities and restore and repair Grantor’s Property, Grantor may elect to do so at Grantee’s sole cost and 
expense, and, in such event, Grantor may dispose of the Facilities without any duty to account to Grantee 
therefor.  Grantee shall pay all costs and expenses incurred by Grantor in removing the Facilities, including 
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any storage costs, and any costs incurred by Grantor in restoring and repairing Grantor’s Property.  Any 
facilities and equipment that Grantee fails to remove from Grantor’s Property within sixty (60) days after 
the termination of this Easement shall be conclusively deemed to have been abandoned by Grantee and 
shall become the sole property of Grantor, without liability or obligation to account to Grantee therefor. 

7. Condition of Grantor’s Property.  Grantee has examined the Easement Premises and knows its 
condition.  Grantee hereby accepts the condition of the Easement Premises in its AS-IS, WHERE-IS 
CONDITION, WITH ALL FAULTS.  No representations as to the condition, repair or compliance 
thereof with any laws, and no agreements to make any alterations, repairs or improvements in or about the 
Easement Premises have been made by or on behalf of Grantor.  By accepting possession of the Easement 
Premises, Grantee shall be conclusively presumed to have accepted the condition thereof and to have 
unconditionally waived any and all claims whatsoever related to the condition of the Easement Premises. 

8. Conditions Governing Construction, Repair, Maintenance and Other Work. 

(a) All work performed by Grantee pursuant to this Easement, including without limitation all work 
related to the installation, alteration, maintenance (excluding only routine maintenance), repair, relocation, 
replacement or removal of the Easement and the Facilities, shall be performed in accordance with plans and 
specifications approved in writing by Grantor prior to the commencement of such work.  Grantor shall 
review and approve any amendments, additions or other changes to such approved plans and specifications, 
prior to the performance of any work identified therein.  Grantor shall have the right (but not the obligation) 
to supervise Grantee’s performance of any such work at the Easement Premises (or any component thereof) 
and, in the event that Grantor so elects, Grantee shall reimburse Grantor for any and all costs of such 
supervision, together with a charge for Grantor’s overhead, as determined by Grantor. 

(b) Prior to the performance of any work, Grantee shall (i) obtain all applicable permits, approvals and 
authorizations required from any federal, state or local governmental authorities and furnish Grantor with 
satisfactory evidence that all such approvals have been obtained and (ii) furnish Grantor with certificates 
of insurance for each contractor and subcontractor evidencing such contractor’s or subcontractor’s 
compliance with the requirements of Section 11 hereof. 

(c) Except for emergency repairs affecting the health and safety of the public, Grantee shall provide 
Grantor with not less than thirty (30) days advance notice of any work (including routine maintenance) so 
that Grantor may take such protective actions as Grantor deems necessary to ensure the safety and reliability 
of Grantor’s facilities in the area of Grantee’s proposed work.  Grantee shall postpone the commencement 
of its work until such time as Grantor has completed any and all such protective work.  Any cost and expense 
of such protective work shall be borne by Grantee and paid by Grantee within thirty (30) days after receipt 
of a bill therefor.  

(d) Grantee hereby agrees that, in the event that Grantee (or any employee, agent, representative, 
contractor, licensee, invitee or guest of Grantee) performs any grading, leveling, digging or other work of 
any kind on the Grantor’s Property (to the extent expressly permitted under the terms of this Easement) and 
damages any improvements, fixtures, facilities, equipment, or other property located (now or in the future) 
at Grantor’s Property, then Grantee will either (at Grantor’s sole election), (x) promptly cause any such 
improvements, fixtures, facilities, equipment or other property to be repaired and restored to the same or 
better condition as the same were in immediately prior to such damage or destruction, or (y) promptly pay 
Grantor the amount which Grantor estimates (as set forth in a written notice from Grantor to Grantee) will 
cover the cost and expense of repairing and restoring such damage or destruction.  Prior to performing any 
such grading, leveling, digging or excavation work on the Easement Premises (which work shall be subject 
to Grantor’s prior written approval), Grantee will notify J.U.L.I.E. at telephone number (800) 892-0123, 
C.U.A.N. at (312) 744-7000 if the Easement Premises are located in the City of Chicago, or in the event 
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the Easement Premises are located outside J.U.L.I.E.’s or C.U.A.N.’s jurisdiction, any other services 
required by the utilities in the jurisdiction where the Easement Premises are located, at least seventy-two 
(72) hours prior to the commencement of such work in order to locate all existing utility lines that may be 
present on the Easement Premises.   

(e) Except for emergency repairs affecting the health and safety of the public, which emergency repairs 
should be called in within the first 8-hours of entering Grantor’s Property and confirmed by Grantor, 
Grantee shall (in addition to the notice required under subparagraph (c) above) notify Grantor’s  at 1-866-
639-35327661 at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of entering Grantor’s Property for the performance 
of any work (including routine maintenance).  The timing and scheduling of such work shall be subject to 
Grantor’s prior approval.  In the event Grantee is required to perform any emergency repair work affecting 
the health and safety of the public, Grantee shall notify Grantor in writing of such repair work within forty-
eight (48) hours after the performance of such repairs. 

(f) Grantee hereby acknowledges that the Easement Premises may be used from time to time to 
accommodate equipment and facilities of other persons and/or entities (including, without limitation, 
pipeline and utility companies) which are (or will be) located on, above or below the surface of the 
Easement Premises.  Grantee agrees that it will contact any such persons and/or entities holding rights to 
use and/or occupy the Easement Premises, and provide the proper protection required by such persons or 
entities, in connection with Grantee’s use and occupancy of the Easement Premises.  Grantee further agrees 
to furnish Grantor copies of the correspondence between the any such persons or entities and Grantee.  
Grantee agrees that this requirement shall apply to any installations currently located on, above or below 
the Easement Premises and any and all future installations on, above or below the Easement Premises. 

(g) Grantor may withhold its approval to the performance of any work hereunder whenever any of the 
following conditions exist:  (i) Grantee is in default under this Easement, (ii) the performance of such work 
and the use and occupancy of Grantor’s Property contemplated by such work in Grantor’s judgment will 
interfere with Grantor’s Operations or any other then existing uses of Grantor’s Property, or (iii) Grantor 
and Grantee have failed to enter into such supplemental agreements as Grantor deems necessary or 
advisable regarding the performance of such work.  Grantor retains the right to suspend or stop all such 
work if in Grantor’s sole judgment the ongoing performance of such work endangers Grantor’s facilities or 
threatens to interfere with Grantor’s Operations, and Grantor shall incur no liability for any additional cost 
or expense incurred by Grantee or any third parties in connection with such work stoppage. 

(h) All work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with all 
applicable laws, statutes, building codes and regulations of applicable governmental authorities.  Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Grantee shall cause all work and the placement of the Easement 
Premises and the Facilities to meet the applicable requirements of 83 Ill. Admin. Code Part 305, as amended 
from time to time, and shall cause all workers performing any work on behalf of Grantee, its contractors 
and subcontractors, to be equipped for and conform to OSHA safety regulations.  Upon completion of the 
work, Grantee shall (i) provide waivers of liens from each contractor and such other evidence of lien-free 
completion of the work as Landlord may require and (ii) restore all adjacent and other affected areas of 
Grantor’s Property to their original condition preceding the commencement of such work. 

(i) Grantee shall promptly notify Grantor of any damage caused to Grantor’s facilities arising our of 
or related to the performance of such work, including without limitation damage to crops, fences, pasture 
land or livestock, landscaping and the like and Grantee will reimburse Grantor on demand for the cost of 
any such repairs and other expenses incurred by Grantor as a result of such damage.  The formula described 
in Section 15(b) shall be used to determine the amount due Grantor as reimbursement for the cost of such 
repairs.  No vehicles, equipment or anything else (including, but not limited to, any equipment attached to 
vehicles or equipment such as antennas) having a height which exceeds the maximum allowable height 
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under applicable OSHA height standards in effect from time to time, shall be driven, moved or transported 
on the Easement Premises without Grantor’s prior written consent.   

(j) There shall be no impairment of any natural or installed drainage facilities occasioned by any work 
related to the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities and Grantee at its cost shall repair and replace all 
drainage tiles damaged or destroyed during the performance of such work. 

(k) The following additional specific requirements shall apply to the performance of the work related 
to the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities: 

(i)  Grantee agrees that the Facilities will be installed in strict conformity with the Plat  
of Easement  attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

(ii)  Should any proposed changes to the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities be 
required, either before or after installation, Grantee, or its successors, shall first submit such changes to 
Grantor, in the form of revised plans for Grantor’s review and approval. 

(iii) Where the Facilities cross Grantor’s fiber optic cable (TBON), Grantor may 
require that split plastic duct shall be installed and secured around Grantor’s underground fiber optic cables 
in order to protect the fiber optic cable from any damage during any backfilling operation, all of which shall 
be performed at Grantee’s sole cost and expense. 

(v) Grantee agrees, upon completion of the installation of the Facilities, Grantee will 
replace all backfilling material in a neat, clean and workmanlike manner, with the topsoil on the surface of 
Grantor’s Property, together with the removal of all excess soils, including any rocks, debris or unsuitable 
fill from Grantor’s Property that has been displaced by the placement of the Facilities.  At Grantor’s sole 
election, Grantor may permit Grantee to evenly spread any portion of the remaining topsoil over the 
Easement Premises so long as Grantee shall not cause or permit the existing ground grade on the Easement 
Premises to be increased or decreased (vi) Grantee agrees that all of Grantor’s Property as affected 
by the construction of the Facilities shall be leveled, dressed and the area re-seeded using grass over and 
along Grantee’s entire construction project site, except for those areas that are either tenant occupied for 
agricultural purposes and/or those areas that involve in wetland construction, where governmental wetland 
restoration requirements shall take precedence.  Grantee shall manage the re-seeding process until a firm 
grass growth has been established on Grantor’s Property.  Grantee agrees to leave Grantor’s Property in a 
neat, clean and orderly condition and to the satisfaction of Grantor, including, but not limited to, the re-
seeding of Grantor’s Property as required.  

(vii) Grantee covenants and agrees that, in the event that Grantee installs (or is required 
(by Grantor or otherwise) to install) any fencing and/or gates in connection with Grantee’s work at the 
Easement Premises (or its use or occupancy of the Easement Premises), Grantee will install, maintain and 
operate such fences and/or gates in strict compliance with any and all fencing and locking rules, regulations 
and guidelines which Grantor may deliver to Grantee from time to time  

(viii) Grantee acknowledges and confirms that, in connection with Grantor’s review 
and/or approval of the plans and specifications for Grantee’s work at the Easement Premises (as provided 
in Subsection 8(a) above), Grantor may require that barricades (“Barricades”) be installed on the Easement 
Premises in order to protect Grantor’s Operations and/or other equipment, improvements and facilities of 
Grantor and other users and occupants of the Easement Premises.  Any such Barricades shall be installed 
either (at Grantor’s sole option): (i) by Grantee, at Grantee’s sole cost and expense, in a manner satisfactory 
to Grantor, or (ii) by Grantor, in which event Grantee shall pay to Grantor, prior to such installation, 
Grantor’s reasonable estimate of the cost of such installation of the Barricades.   
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9. Covenants of Grantee.  Grantee hereby covenants and agrees as follows (which covenants shall 
survive the expiration or termination of this Easement and Grantee’s rights and privileges under this 
Easement): 

(a) Grantee shall obtain and maintain all rights, licenses, consents and approvals required from any 
governmental authorities or third parties with respect to the installation, use or operation of the Easement 
Premises and/or the Facilities on Grantor’s Property and, at Grantor’s request, Grantee shall provide 
Grantor with evidence thereof.  Grantee shall cause the underground Facilities to be maintained at all times 
in good repair and in accordance with all requirements of applicable law, and Grantee shall not permit any 
nuisances or other unsafe or hazardous conditions to exist in, on or under Grantor’s Property in connection 
with the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities or Grantee’s use or occupancy of Grantor’s Property. If 
the underground Facilities cause a need for maintenance of the above ground Easement Premises, Grantee 
shall perform the same.  In the event Grantee fails to fully and faithfully perform all such repair and 
maintenance obligations, Grantor shall have right (but not the obligation) after thirty (30) days’ written 
notice to Grantee, to cause such repairs and maintenance to be performed and charge the cost thereof to 
Grantor.  In the event Grantor elects to perform such repair and maintenance, the amount due Grantor from 
Grantee as reimbursement shall be determined using the formula described in Section 15(b) hereof. 

(b) Grantee shall install the Facilities and use and occupy the Easement Premises in a manner that 
avoids any interference with Grantor’s Operations.  Within fifteen (15) days after Grantor’s demand 
therefor, Grantee shall reimburse Grantor for all costs incurred by Grantor as a result of injury or damage 
to persons, property or business, including without limitation the cost of repairing any damage to Grantor’s 
equipment or facilities or costs arising from electrical outages, caused by the use and occupancy of the 
Easement Premises by Grantee, its representatives, employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors and 
invitees. 

(c) Grantee hereby covenants and agrees that it will not cause or permit any lien (including, without 
limitation, any mechanic’s lien) or claim for lien to be asserted against the Easement Premises or any 
interest therein, whether such lien or claim for lien results from or arises out of any act or omission of 
Grantee or its employees, agents, consultants, representatives, contractors, subcontractors or materialmen, 
or otherwise.   In the event any such lien or claim for lien is filed, Grantee will immediately pay and release 
the same.  In the event such lien or claim of lien is not released and removed within five (5) days after 
notice from Grantor, Grantor, at its sole option and in addition to any of its other rights and remedies, may 
take any and all action necessary to release and remove such lien or claim of lien (it being agreed by Grantee 
that Grantor shall have no duty to investigate the validity thereof), and Grantee shall promptly upon notice 
thereof reimburse Grantor for all sums, costs and expenses, including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and expenses, incurred by Grantor in connection with such lien or claim of lien.  Grantee hereby agrees 
to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Grantor from and against any and all liens or claims for lien arising 
out of or in any way connected with Grantee’s use and occupancy of the Easement Premises. 

(d) In addition to, and not in lieu of, the other payments which Grantee is required to make under this 
Easement, Grantee shall pay the following amounts to Grantor in respect of real estate taxes and 
assessments, in each case no later than thirty (30) days after Grantor’s written demand therefor: 

(i)   All real estate taxes and other assessments which are allocable to any 
improvements, structures or fixtures constructed, installed, or placed by Grantee at the Easement Premises 
for all periods during which this Easement is in effect, plus 
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(ii)   Any increase in the real estate taxes and other assessments payable with respect to 
the Easement Premises (or any tax parcel of which the Easement Premises is a part) which is allocable to 
this Easement, Grantee’s use or occupancy of the Easement Premises, or any improvements, structures or 
fixtures constructed, installed or placed by Grantee at the Easement Premises (but without duplication of 
any amount payable pursuant to clause (a) above), for all periods during which this Easement is in effect. 

 
For purposes of this Easement real estate taxes or assessments “for” or “with respect to” any particular 
period (or portion thereof) shall mean the real estate taxes or assessments which accrue with respect to such 
period, irrespective of the fact that such taxes or assessments may be due and payable within a different 
period. 

 
(e) Grantee shall notify Grantor in writing within thirty (30) days after the date Grantee ceases 

to use the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities and shall provide Grantor with a properly executed 
release of this Easement. 

 
10. General Indemnity.   To the maximum extent permitted under applicable law, Grantee 

agrees to protect, indemnify, defend (with counsel acceptable to Grantor) and hold harmless Grantor and 
Exelon Corporation, and their respective parents, subsidiaries and affiliates, and their respective officers, 
directors, shareholders, employees, representatives, agents, contractors, licensees, lessees, guests, invitees, 
successors and assigns (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all losses, costs, 
damages, liabilities, expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) and/or injuries 
(including, without limitation, damage to property and/or personal injuries) suffered or incurred by any of 
the Indemnified Parties (regardless of whether contingent, direct, consequential, liquidated or unliquidated) 
(collectively, “Losses”), and any and all claims, demands, suits and causes of action brought or raised 
against any of the Indemnified Parties (collectively, “Claims”), arising out of, resulting from, relating to or 
connected with: (i) any act or omission of Grantee or its officers, directors, shareholders, employees, 
representatives, agents, contractors, licensees, lessees, guests, invitees, successors and assigns (“Grantee 
Parties”) at, on or about Grantor’s Property, and/or (ii) any breach or violation of this Easement on the part 
of Grantee, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Easement, such obligation to indemnify 
and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties shall survive any termination of this Easement. This 
indemnification shall include, but not be limited to, claims made under any workman’s compensation law 
or under any plan for employee’s disability and death benefits (including without limitation claims and 
demands that may be asserted by employees, agents, contractors and subcontractors).   

 
11. Waiver.  Any entry onto Grantor’s Property by Grantee Parties shall be at such parties’ 

sole risk, and Grantor makes (and has heretofore made) no representations or warranties of any kind 
whatsoever regarding Grantor’s Property or the condition of Grantor’s Property (including, without 
limitation, the environmental condition thereof).  To the fullest extent permitted under applicable law, each 
of Grantee Parties hereby waives any and all claims, demands, suits and causes of action against the 
Indemnified Parties, and fully and forever release the Indemnified Parties, for any loss, cost, damage, 
liability or expense (including, without limitation attorneys’ fees) suffered or incurred by such Grantee 
Parties in connection with any entry onto Grantor’s Property pursuant to this Easement.  This Section will 
survive termination of this Easement. 

 
12. Insurance.   

Grantee agrees to require its contractors, before commencing any work on the 
Leased Premises to purchase and maintain, or at the option of Grantee to itself 
purchase and maintain, at the cost of Grantee or its contractors, a policy or 
policies of insurance issued by insurance companies authorized to do business 
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in the State of Illinois, having ratings of A-/VII or better in the Best’s Key Rating 
Insurance Guide (latest edition in effect at the latest date stated in the 
Certificates of Insurance) and in a form satisfactory to Grantor as follows: 

 
COVERAGE #1 

Workers' Compensation Insurance with statutory limits, as required by the 
state in which the work is to be performed, –and Employers' Liability 
Insurance with limits not less than One Million dollars ($1,000,000.00) 
each accident/occurrence  
 

COVERAGE #2 
Commercial  General Liability (CGL) Policy or Policies (with coverage 
consistent with ISO CG 0001 (12 04)) covering all contractors, 
subcontractors and all their subcontractors with limits not less than Four 
Million dollars ($4,000,000.00) per occurrence covering liability for  bodily 
injury and property damage arising from premises, operations, 
independent contractors, personal injury/advertising injury, blanket 
contractual liability and products/completed operations for not less than 
three (3) years  from the date the work is accepted. (CGL insurance 
includes, but is not limited to coverage for claims against Grantor for 
injuries to employees of Grantee and its contractors or any 
subcontractors)   Grantor shall be added as an Additional Insured 
providing coverage consistent with ISO Form  CG 20 26 11 85 or the 
combination of ISO Form CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 20 37 10 01.  
 
   COVERAGE #3 
 
Automobile Liability in an amount of not less than one million dollars 
($1,000,000) per accident for bodily injury and property damage, covering 
all owned, leased, rented or non-owned vehicles, which shall include 
automobile contractual liability coverage.  
 
Policies covering contractors may substitute lower limits for any of the 
policies listed above, provided that Contactors maintains an umbrella or 
excess liability policy or policies which provide a total minimum limit of 
four million dollars ($4,000,000) per occurrence for general liability and 
one million dollars ($1,000,000) for automobile liability, and that all other 
requirements of this insurance clause are satisfied by such umbrella or 
excess policy or policies. 
 
 

 Grantee will, in any event, purchase and maintain during the term hereof;  
 

COVERAGE #4 
Commercial General Liability (CGL) Insurance (with coverage consistent 
with ISO CG 00 01 12 04) with a limit of not less than four million dollars 
($4,000,000) per occurrence covering liability for bodily injury and 
property damage, arising from premises, operations, independent 
contractors, personal injury/advertising injury, blanket contractual liability 
and products/completed operations (CGL insurance includes, but is not 
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limited to coverage for claims against Grantor for injuries to employees 
of Grantee and its contractors or any subcontractors). Grantor shall be 
added as an Additional Insured providing coverage consistent with ISO 
Form  CG 20 11 10 01   

 
COVERAGE #5 

Workers' Compensation Insurance with statutory limits, as required by the 
state in which the work is to be performed, –and Employers' Liability 
Insurance with limits not less than One Million dollars ($1,000,000.00) 
each accident/occurrence  

 
 
Grantee may substitute lower limits for any of the policies listed above, 
provided that Grantee maintains an umbrella or excess liability policy or 
policies which provide a total minimum limit of  $4,000,000.00 per 
occurrence for general liability, and that all other requirements of this 
insurance clause are satisfied by such umbrella or excess policy or 
policies. 
 
 
If any work on the Leased Premises involves or includes Contractor handling, 

transporting, disposing, or performing work or operations with hazardous substances, 
contaminants, waste, toxic materials, or any potential pollutants, Grantee and/or contractors 
shall purchase and maintain pollution legal liability applicable to bodily injury; property damage, 
including loss of us of damaged property or of property that has not been physically injured or 
destroyed; cleanup costs; and defense, including costs and expenses incurred in the 
investigation, defense, or settlement of claims; all in connection with any loss arising from the 
Leased Premises.  Coverage shall be maintained in an amount of at least two million dollars 
($2,000,000) per loss and aggregate.   Coverage shall apply to sudden and non-sudden 
pollution conditions resulting from the escape or release of smoke, vapors, fumes, acids, alkalis, 
toxic chemicals, liquids, or gases, waste materials, or other irritants, contaminants, or pollutants.  
Grantor shall be included as an additional insured and the policy shall be primary with respect to 
Grantor as the additional insured.  
 

There shall be furnished to Grantor, prior to commencing the work above 
described a certificate of insurance showing the issuance of insurance policies pursuant to the 
requirements contained in Coverages #1, #2, and #3 of this paragraph and shall be delivered to 
Grantor upon written request.  Insurance coverage as required herein shall be kept in force until 
all work has been completed.  All policies shall contain a provision that coverages afforded 
under the policies will not be canceled or material change until at least thirty (30) days prior 
written notice (ten (10) days in the case of nonpayment of premium) has been given to Exelon.   
 

Grantee shall provide evidence of the required insurance coverage under 
Coverage #4 and #5, which shall be delivered to Grantor upon execution of this document.  The 
insurance under Coverage #4 and #5 shall be kept in force through the term hereof through the 
above-referred policy, or such subsequent or substitute policy or policies as Grantee may, at its 
discretion, obtain.   

Insurance coverage provided by Grantee and its contractors shall not include any 
of the following; any claims made insurance policies; any self-insured retention or deductible 
amount greater than two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) unless approved in writing by 
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Grantor; any endorsement limiting coverage available to Grantor which is otherwise required by 
this Article; and any policy or endorsement language that (i) negates coverage to Grantor for 
Grantor’s own negligence, (ii) limits the duty to defend Grantor under the policy, (iii) provides 
coverage to Grantor only if Grantee or its contractors are negligent, (iv) permits recovery of 
defense costs from any additional insured, or (v) limits the scope of coverage for liability 
assumed under a contract.  

To the extent permitted by applicable Laws, all above-mentioned insurance 
policies shall provide the following: 

(1) Be primary and non-contributory to any other insurance carried by Grantor 

(2) Contain cross-liability coverage as provided under standard ISO Forms’ 
separation of insureds clause; and  

(3) Provide for a waiver of all rights of subrogation which Grantee’s, or its 
Contractors’  insurance carrier might exercise against Grantor; and  

(4) Any Excess or Umbrella liability coverage will not require contribution before 
it will apply 

  
 
 
 Grantor hereby reserves the right to amend, correct and change from time-to-time the 
limits, coverages and forms of polices as may be required from Grantee and/or its contractors. 
 
WAIVER OF SUBROGATION 
 
Grantee and its contractors shall waive all rights of subrogation against Grantor under those 
policies procured in accordance with this Easement.   

 
 
13. Environmental Protection. 
 
(a) Grantee covenants and agrees that Grantee shall conduct its operations on the Easement 

Premises in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws (as hereinafter defined) and further 
covenants that neither Grantee, nor any of Grantee Parties, shall use, bring upon, transport, store, keep or 
cause or allow the discharge, spill or release (or allow a threatened release) in each case of any Hazardous 
Substances (as hereinafter defined) in, on, under or from the Easement Premises.  Without limiting any 
other indemnification obligations of Grantee contained herein, Grantee hereby agrees to protect, indemnify, 
defend (with counsel acceptable to Grantor) and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties from and against 
any and all Losses and Claims (including, without limitation, (i) reasonable attorneys’ fees, (ii) liability to 
third parties for toxic torts and/or personal injury claims, (iii) fines, penalties and/or assessments levied, 
assessed or asserted by any governmental authority or court, and (iv) assessment, remediation and 
mitigation costs and expenses and natural resource damage claims) arising out of, resulting from or 
connected with any Hazardous Substances used, brought upon, transported, stored, kept, discharged, spilled 
or released by any Grantee Parties or any other person or entity (except for any person or entity which is an 
Indemnified Party) in, on, under or from the Easement Premises.  For purposes of this Easement, the term 
“Hazardous Substances” shall mean all toxic or hazardous substances, materials or waste, petroleum or 
petroleum products, petroleum additives or constituents or any other waste, contaminant or pollutant 
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regulated under or for which liability may be imposed by any Environmental Law.  “Environmental Laws” 
shall mean all federal, provincial, state and local environmental laws (including common law) regulating 
or imposing standards of care with respect to the handling, storage, use, emitting, discharge, disposal or 
other release of Hazardous Substances, including, but not limited to, the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901, et seq., the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401, et seq., the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251, et seq., the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know 
Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1101, et seq., the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability 
Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601, et seq., the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §§2601, et seq., the Oil 
Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. §§2701, et seq., any successor statutes to the foregoing, or any other 
comparable local, state or federal statute, ordinance or common law pertaining to protection of human 
health, the environment or natural resources, including without limitation the preservation of wetlands, and 
all regulations pertaining thereto, as well as applicable judicial or administrative decrees, orders or 
decisions, authorizations or permits. 

 
(b) If there are wetlands on the Easement Premises, or if wetlands should develop on the 

Easement Premises during the term of this Easement, Grantee shall strictly comply with and observe all 
applicable Environmental Laws.  At Grantor’s request, Grantee, at its cost, shall furnish Grantor with a 
survey of the Easement Premises delineating any wetland areas located on the Easement Premises.  Under 
no circumstances shall Grantee change the physical characteristics of any wetland areas located on the 
Easement Premises or any adjoining land or place any fill material on any portion of the Easement Premises 
or adjoining land, without in each instance obtaining Grantor’s prior written consent (which may be granted 
or withheld in Grantor’s sole discretion), and only then in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws. 

 
(c) Grantee shall provide Grantor with prompt written notice upon Grantee’s obtaining 

knowledge of any potential or known release or threat of release of any Hazardous Substances affecting the 
Easement Premises. 

 
(d) This Section shall survive the expiration or other termination of the Easement. 
 
14. Defaults.  The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default 

(“Event of Default”) under this Easement: 
 
(a) Grantee shall fail to pay when due any amount payable to Grantee hereunder and such 

failure continues for a period of ten (10) days after notice thereof from Grantor; or 
 
(b) Grantee shall breach or violate any of its duties or obligations set forth in Section 9(c) or 

Section 12 of this Easement; or 
 
(c) Grantee shall at any time be in default in any other covenants and conditions of this 

Easement to be kept, observed and performed by Grantee and such default continue for more than thirty 
(30) days (or such shorter time period as may specifically set forth in this Easement) after notice from 
Grantor; or 

 
(d) A receiver, assignee or trustee shall be appointed for Grantee or if the Grantee shall file 

bankruptcy, or if involuntary bankruptcy proceedings shall be filed against Grantee; or  
 
(e) Grant shall fail to complete construction of the Facilities on or before 12 months after the 

date of this Easement or shall fail to operate or maintain the Facilities for a period of twelve (12) consecutive 
months. 
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15. Remedies.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, Grantor may exercise any one or 
more of the following remedies (which remedies shall survive the expiration or termination of this Easement 
and Grantee’s rights and privileges under this Easement): 

 
(a) terminate this Easement and all rights and privileges of Grantee under this Easement by 

written notice to Grantee; or 
 
(b) take any and all corrective actions Grantor deems necessary or appropriate to cure such 

default and charge the cost thereof to Grantee, together with (i) interest thereon at the rate of nine (9%) 
percent and (ii) an administrative charge in an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the cost of the corrective 
action to defray part of the administrative expense incurred by Grantor in administering such cure, such 
payment to be made by Grantee upon Grantor’s presentment of demand therefor; or 

 
(c) any other remedy available at law or in equity to Grantor, including without limitation 

specific performance of Grantee’s obligations hereunder.  Grantee shall be liable for and shall reimburse 
Grantor upon demand for all reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred by Grantor in enforcing Grantee’s 
obligations under this Easement, whether or not Grantor files legal proceedings in connection therewith.  
No delay or omission of Grantor to exercise any right or power arising from any default shall impair any 
such right or power or be construed to be a waiver of any such default or any acquiescence therein.  No 
waiver of any breach of any of the covenants of this Easement shall be construed, taken or held to be a 
waiver of any other breach, or as a waiver, acquiescence in or consent to any further or succeeding breach 
of the same covenant.  The acceptance of payment by Grantor of any of the fees or charges set forth in this 
Easement shall not constitute a waiver of any breach or violation of the terms or conditions of this Easement. 

 
16. Notices.  Whenever notice is required to be given pursuant to this Easement, the same shall 

be in writing, and either personally delivered, sent by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, 
postage prepaid, or sent via United States certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and 
addressed to the parties at their respective addresses as follows:   

 
If to Grantor: 

 
Commonwealth Edison Company 
P.O. Box 767 
Chicago, Illinois   60690-0767 
Attn:  Director of Real Estate Services 

 
 
 
 
 
with a copy to: 

 
Exelon Business Services Company 
Law Department 
P.O. Box 805379 
Chicago, Illinois 60680-5379 
Attn:  Assistant General Counsel – Real Estate 

 
 
  If to Grantee: 

City of Rock Falls  
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603 West 10th Street 
Rock Falls, Illinois 61071 
 Attn: City Administrator 
With copy to: 
 Superintendent of Electric Utilities 
1109 Industrial Park Drive 
Rock Falls, IL 61071 

or at such other addresses as any party, by written notice in the manner specified above to the other party 
hereto, may designate from time to time.  Unless otherwise specified to the contrary in this Easement, all 
notices shall be deemed to have been given upon receipt (or refusal of receipt) thereof. 

17. No Assignment by Grantee. This Easement and the rights and obligations of the parties
hereto shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors, personal 
representatives and assigns and the owners of Grantor’s Property, from time to time; provided, however, 
that Grantee shall have no right to assign all or any portion of its right, title, interest or obligation in this 
Easement or under this Easement without the prior written consent of Grantor, which consent may be 
granted or withheld by Grantor in its sole and exclusive discretion.  Any attempt by Grantee to assign all 
or any portion of its interest hereunder in violation of the foregoing shall be void and of no force and effect. 
The terms “Grantor” and “Grantee” as used herein are intended to include the parties and their respective 
legal representatives, successors and assigns (as to Grantee such assigns being limited to its permitted 
assigns), and the owners of Grantor’s Property, from time to time.  For purposes of this Easement, any 
transfer, directly, indirectly or by operation of law, of a “controlling” interest in Grantee shall constitute an 
assignment of this Easement, and shall be subject to the terms and provisions of this Section 17.  For 
purposes hereof, a “controlling” interest in Grantee shall mean: (a) the ownership, directly or indirectly, of 
a majority of the outstanding voting stock or interests of Grantee, or (b) the possession, directly or indirectly, 
of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of Grantee, whether through 
the ownership of voting securities or other ownership interests, by statute, or by contract. 

18. Entire Agreement. This Easement, the exhibits and addenda, if any, contain the entire
agreement between Grantor and Grantee regarding the subject matter hereof, and fully supersede all prior 
written or oral agreements and understandings between the parties pertaining to such subject matter.   

19. Transfer by Grantor.  Upon any transfer or conveyance of the Easement Premises by
Grantor, the transferor shall be released from any liability under this Easement, and the transferee shall be 
bound by and deemed to have assumed the obligations of Grantor arising after the date of such transfer or 
conveyance. 

20. No Oral Change.  This Easement cannot be changed orally or by course of conduct, and no
executory agreement, oral agreement or course of conduct shall be effective to waive, change, modify or 
discharge it in whole or in part unless the same is in writing and is signed by the party against whom 
enforcement of any waiver, change, modification or discharge is sought.   

21. Further Assurances.  Each party agrees that it will execute and deliver such other
documents and take such other action as may be reasonably requested by the other party to effectuate the 
purposes and intention of this Easement. 

22. Governing Law, Venue.  The terms and provisions of this Easement shall be governed by
and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois. With respect to any suit, action or 
proceeding relating to this Easement (each a "Proceeding"), the parties hereto each irrevocably: (a) agree 
that any such Proceeding shall be commenced, brought, tried, litigated and consummated in the courts of 
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the State of Illinois located in the County of Whiteside or (as applicable) the United States District Court 
for the Northern District of Illinois, (b) submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State of 
Illinois located in the County of Whiteside and the United States District Court for the Northern District of 
Illinois, and (c) waive any objection which they may have at any time to the laying of venue of any 
Proceeding brought in any such court, waive any claim that any Proceeding brought in any such court has 
been brought in an inconvenient forum, and further waive the right to object, with respect to such 
Proceeding, that any such court does not have jurisdiction over such party.  

23. Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of each and every provision of this 
Easement. 

24. Severability.  In the event that any governmental or regulatory body or any court of 
competent jurisdiction determines that any covenant, term or condition of this Easement as applied to any 
particular facts or circumstances is wholly or partially invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such invalidity, 
illegality or unenforceability shall not affect such covenant, term or condition as applied to other facts or 
circumstances (unless the effect of such determination precludes the application of such covenant, term or 
condition to other facts or circumstances) or the validity, legality or enforceability of the other covenants, 
terms and conditions of this Easement.  In the event any provision of this Easement is held to be invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable, the parties shall promptly and in good faith negotiate new provisions in substitution 
therefor to restore this Easement to its original intent and effect. 

25. No Reinstatement.  No receipt of money by Grantor from Grantee, after the expiration or 
termination of this Easement shall renew, reinstate, continue or extend the term of this Easement. 

26. Non-Affiliated.  By signing this Easement, Grantee affirms and states that it is not an 
employee of Commonwealth Edison Company nor Exelon Corporation, and their respective parents, 
subsidiaries and affiliates, nor has any affiliated interest in the Commonwealth Edison Company or Exelon 
Corporation, and their respective parents, subsidiaries and affiliates. 

27. Counterparts.  This Easement may be executed by the parties in counterparts.  Each such 
counterpart shall be deemed an original and all such counterparts, taken together, shall constitute one and 
the same agreement.   

28. No Assessment.  By signing this Easement Grantee agrees that Grantor or its public utility 
successor shall not be assessed for any improvements to be constructed pursuant hereto as a local 
improvement project or otherwise charged for the cost of such improvements. 

29. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  Grantor and Grantee agree and acknowledge that, except as 
expressly set forth herein, there are no intended third party beneficiaries of this Easement nor any of the 
rights and privileges conferred herein. 

30. Illinois Commerce Commission Approval.  Grantor and Grantee acknowledge that Grantor 
is a public utility regulated by the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission”) and other governmental 
authorities, and this Easement and the obligations of the parties hereto are subject to all legal requirements 
applicable to Grantor as a public utility.  Although it is not expected that the Commission’s or other 
governmental authority’s approval will be required for this Easement, the rights and obligations of the 
parties hereunder are conditioned upon the Commission’s and any other applicable governmental 
authority’s approval of this Easement, under any circumstances in which such approval is required.  It is 
further agreed and understood that this Easement may be terminated by Grantor immediately at any time in 
the event that Grantor is required to do so by the Commission or some other governmental authority. 
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31. Labor Relations.  Neither Grantee nor any of Grantee’s authorized agents shall, at any time,
directly or indirectly, employ, or permit the employment of, any contractor, mechanic or laborer in the 
Easement Premises, or permit any materials to be delivered to or used in the Easement Premises, if, in 
Grantor’s sole judgment, such employment, delivery or use will interfere or cause any conflict with other 
contractors, mechanics or laborers engaged in the construction, maintenance or operation of Grantor’s 
Property (or any other property) by Grantor, Grantee or others, or the use and enjoyment of Grantor’s 
Property by Grantor or other lessees or occupants of Grantor’s Property.  In the event of such interference 
or conflict, upon Grantor’s request, Grantee shall cause all contractors, mechanics or laborers causing such 
interference or conflict to leave Grantor’s Property immediately. 

32. Independent System Operator.  In the event responsibility for management or operation of
all or any portion of Grantor’s electrical transmission facilities located in or on the Grantor’s Property is 
transferred or assigned by Grantor to an independent system operator (“ISO”) or another third party, then 
Grantee agrees to recognize the right of such ISO or third party to exercise all or any part of Grantor’s rights 
under this instrument.   

33. Additional Requirements. The Grantee shall follow adhere to the Additional 
Requirements listed in Exhibit C. 

90



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Easement to be executed by their 
proper officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first hereinabove written. 

COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY 

By:  __________________________________ 
         Kendall C. Hodge  
 Director of Real Estate and Facilities  
  
 
 
CITY OF ROCK FALLS, 

By:   __________________________________ 
 
 Name: ____________________________ 
 
 Title: ______________________________ 
 

SCHEDULE OF EXHIBITS 

A Legal description of Grantor’s Property 

B Easement Premises  

C Additional Requirements 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    )  SS 
COUNTY OF DUPAGE ) 

I , the undersigned, a Notary Public, in and for the County and State aforesaid, DO HEREBY 
CERTIFY, that Kendal C. Hodge, personally known to me to be the Director of Real Estate and Facilities 
of COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY, is the same person whose name is subscribed to the 
foregoing instrument, appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged that, as such Director, he 
signed and delivered such instrument, as his/her free and voluntary act and deed, and as the free and 
voluntary act and deed of such corporation,  for the uses and purposes therein set forth. 

 Given under my hand and official seal, this ____ day of _______________, 20___. 

_________________________ 
Notary Public 

Commission expires:________________________ 

STATE OF ___________ ) 
    )  SS 
COUNTY OF _________ ) 

 I, _____________________, a Notary Public in and for the County and State aforesaid, DO 
HEREBY CERTIFY that _________________, personally known to me to be the 
____________________of _______________________, a _____________, and personally known to me 
to be the same person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me this day 
in person and acknowledged that as such ___________________, (s)he signed and delivered such 
instrument pursuant to authority given by the __________ of such ____________, as his/her free and 
voluntary act and deed, and as the free and voluntary act and deed of such ________________, for the uses 
and purposes therein set forth. 

 Given under my hand and official seal, this ____ day of _______________, 20___. 

_________________________ 
Notary Public 

Commission expires:________________________ 
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EXHIBIT A TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF GRANTOR’S PROPERTY 

A PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION THREE (3), TOWNSHIP TWENTY 
(20) NORTH, RANGE SEVEN (7) EAST OF THE FOURTH PRINCIPLE MERIDIAN, 
WHITESIDE COUNTY ILLINOIS. 

PIN #:17-03-200-002. 
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EXHIBIT B TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

EASEMENT PREMISES 

See attached. 
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EXHIBIT C TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

Transmission 

1.  A single point of contact during the duration of the construction period will be
Tina Kowalczyk at 1 +224-244-1826. A minimum of 48 hours prior to the start and 
upon completion of the project. 

2. Bulk material storage (i.e. gravel, dirt, mulch) is not allowed on the Grantor property.
3. The Grantee and/or its contractor cannot change grade within the right-of-way.

The Grantee shall ensure that the existing drainage is not affected, storm water
does not pool on the ROW or adjacent properties and Grantor NESC safety
clearances are not violated. Any spreading of leftover excavation spoils on the
Grantor Right of Way shall be reviewed and approved by Grantor Engineering.

4. Subsurface utility installations and excavations shall be a minimum of fifteen (15)
feet away from any transmission structure.  In addition, equipment and materials
should not enter into the fifteen foot buffer area.

5. Any damage to Grantor’s property caused by the Grantee will be repaired at the
Grantee's expense.

6. The Grantee should not leave trenches open overnight.  Also, the Grantee cannot
place obstructions on Grantor property that will restrict our ability to access,
operate and maintain existing and future transmission and distribution facilities.

7. The Grantee's facilities should be designed for HS20 axle loading per AASHTO
highway specifications in order to withstand Grantor construction traffic.

8. The Grantee and/or its contractor are advised that if heavy snow, rains and/or a large
amount of water enters the excavation site and/or pooling occurs within the excavation
site. The Grantee and/or its contractor must immediately backfill the excavation area
and the Overhead Transmission engineering department must be contacted for further
instructions.

9. The Grantee equipment cannot exceed fourteen (14) feet in height on the right-of-
way. 

10. The Grantee cannot leave construction equipment and materials on Grantor Property
when there is no work activity.

11. The Grantee is responsible for their own investigation and implementation of any
cathodic protection required to mitigate induced voltage on any buried pipeline
facilities.

12. When working in the vicinity of Grantor's electric transmission lines during the
installation, OSHA requirements must be followed.  
Under no circumstances, should truck beds be raised underneath Grantor 
transmission lines. This note should be added to any construction drawings. 

13. The Grantee must be made aware that the Company does use heavy equipment and
Cannot be responsible for any damage to the Grantor's facilities that may occur due to 

the Company's right to access our property to operate and maintain new and existing 
transmission and distribution facilities. 

14. Upon completion of Grantee's project, the Grantee shall remove any equipment, construction
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debris and material from the right-of-way and restore right of way to its preconstruction condition. 

Environmental: 
Note: The items in red must be submitted to ESD (Grantor) for review and approval as 
indicated. Grantee is responsible for all costs associated with any of the noted 
requirements (consulting, permitting, clean-up, sampling, audit, etc.). 

Easement Requirements 
1. Any revision to the plans must be submitted to GRANTOR for review and

approval.
2. No hazardous materials, including petroleum products, may be stored, used, or transferred

On Grantor property.
3. Grantee is not permitted to change the grading of the property without prior

authorization from Grantor. This includes activities of adding gravel or other fill-
in activities to the surface of Grantor property. 

4. Grantee is responsible for all potential drainage impacts within the easement area
for the duration of the easement.

5. Grantee shall provide a kmz file of the newly installed electric conduit on Grantor 
owned property.

Construction Project Requirements 
6. All construction equipment must be free of leaks and any leaks of oils or

chemicals that occur must be cleaned up and reported to the appropriate
agencies as needed.

7. Daily equipment inspections must be conducted to verify proper working
condition before equipment use on Grantor property. Written records of
equipment inspections must be available to Grantor upon request.

8. No demolition, construction, or equipment staging is permitted on Grantor during construction
activities.

9. Concrete washout activities are not permitted on Grantee property.
10. A spill kit of appropriate size must be present and accessible at all times during

construction activities on Grantee property.
11. In the event that drain tiles are damaged, Grantee shall repair or replace, as appropriate,

the damaged drain tiles and accept responsibility for any adverse drainage issues and
related damages that may arise.

Excavation, Spoils and Materials 
12. If the project requires removal of soil or waste from Grantee property, this must be

managed by a Grantor Environmental Contractor of Choice (ECOC) and taken to a
Grantee approved landfill. Clean construction or demolition debris (CCDD) disposal is
not permitted.

13. Grading of excess soil is not permitted on Grantor property.
14. If the project requires additional soil and gravel, only certified “clean” fill shall be used. The

source of the clean fill must be approved by Grantor.
15. No construction debris, soil, fill material, or spoils may be stored on Grantor property during

or post construction.
16. Environmental sampling is not permitted on Grantor property.

Environmental Regulations and Permits 
17. All applicable regulations must be followed including implementation of a Storm Water

Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) and a Soil Erosion and Sediment Control Plan (SESC) to
minimize sediment pollution in storm water runoff as well as any other required practices. This
SESC must be provided to Grantor.
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18. All applicable environmental permits must be obtained including Wetlands and NPDES
stormwater permits, as required under the Clean Water Act as well as any other
applicable environmental permits.

19. Grantee must submit copies of any required environmental permits and plans to Grantor
prior to project start.

20. Requirements of all permits must be followed which could include site monitoring, reporting
and restoration extending well beyond the construction time period.

21. Grantee must follow all applicable environmental laws and regulations including those
not specifically mentioned herein.

Wetlands Requirements 
22. Based on a review of Grantor resources, construction activities will be conducted adjacent to

wetlands on Grantee property. Construction activities cannot in any way impact wetlands
on Grantee property.

23. A Frac-Out Containment plan must be submitted to Grantor prior to the start of 
construction activities.

24. If a Frac-Out occurs during the course of project, Grantor must be notified immediately.
Grantee should call the Tenant Hotline and ask that the on-duty Environmental person
be contacted.

25. Grantor recommends the use of timber or composite matting over wetland areas that will be
crossed during construction and maintenance activities.

26. Grantee must follow all federal, state, and local wetlands requirements, including United States
Army Corps of Engineers and Whiteside County regulations and guidelines.

Condition of Property 
27. Grantee must provide documentation of current property conditions before 

improvements are started (e.g. Phase I, topographic maps, surveys, photographs).
28. Any damage to Grantee’s property caused by the Grantee will be repaired at the Grantee’s

expense.

29. Grantee must provide full restoration of the site to the original condition when the project is
Grantee including seeding as necessary.

30. Grantee must provide documentation (including photographs) that the property 
is returned to its original condition after completion of the project and 
restoration.

Should Grantee request additional information in the future, Grantee shall provide the following 
information to Grantor (please reference Project Code SR 4722268 in any communications with 
Grantee): 

31. A letter that summarizes the results of their analysis of what types of environmental
permits, plans, and controls are required (e.g. wetlands, SWPPP, SESCP, and
endangered species impacts).

32. A copy of the environmental permit applications for the project.
33. A copy of any environmental reports required by the permits.
34. Copies of certificates of clean fill.
35. Inspection records.

Please contact Courtney Crenshaw Environmental Services with any questions. Phone: 630-576-6379 
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS 
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401 W. State Street, Suite 509 
Rockford, IL 61101 

815.282.6565 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
The Honorable Mayor 
Members of the City Council 
City of Rock Falls, Illinois 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, 
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City 
of Rock Falls, Illinois (the City) as of and for the year ended April 30, 2018, and the related notes to 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 
 

In our opinion, the basic financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Rock Falls, Illinois, as of 
April 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows 
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 

 

Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required 
supplementary information listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part 
of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Management has omitted management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part 
of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operations, 
economic or historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this 
missing information.  
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund 
financial statements and schedules, supplemental information and statistical section are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The 
combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules and supplemental information are 
the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and 
individual fund financial statements and schedules and supplemental information are fairly stated in 
all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  
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The statistical section has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 

basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 

on it. 

 

 

 

Rockford, Illinois 

October 11, 2018 
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Governmental Business-Type  

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS  

Cash and investments 4,555,130$     11,892,153$       16,447,283$        

Receivables (net, where applicable,

  of allowances for uncollectibles)  

Property taxes 1,720,559        -                      1,720,559            

Accounts 63,896             833,011               896,907               

Unbilled 14,431             511,961               526,392               

Accrued interest 1,665               12,341                 14,006                 

Other 46,854             69                        46,923                 

Inventory -                  933,030               933,030               

Due from other governments 657,485           -                      657,485               

Internal balances (561,961)         561,961               -                       

Restricted assets

Restricted cash and investments 90,887             3,483,664           3,574,551            

Land held for resale 3,314,849        -                      3,314,849            

Net pension asset 155,567           326,240               481,807               

Capital assets

Not depreciated 725,520           1,794,631           2,520,151            

Depreciated (net of accumulated depreciation) 7,857,072        48,490,422         56,347,494          

Total assets 18,641,954     68,839,483         87,481,437          

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension items - IMRF 173,676           364,213               537,889               

Pension items - Police Pension 1,439,660        -                      1,439,660            

Pension items - Firefighters' Pension 1,077,966        -                      1,077,966            

Total deferred outflows of resources 2,691,302        364,213               3,055,515            

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 21,333,256     69,203,696         90,536,952          

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

April 30, 2018

(This statement is continued on the following page.)
- 4 -
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Governmental Business-Type  

Activities Activities Total

LIABILITIES   

Accounts payable 299,999$         1,010,848$         1,310,847$          

Accrued payroll 32,370             43,361                 75,731                 

Accrued interest payable 33,945             18,319                 52,264                 

Refundable customer deposits -                  312,738               312,738               

Unearned revenue 90,850             -                      90,850                 

Net pension liability - Police Pension 7,585,682        -                      7,585,682            

Net pension liability - Firefighters' Pension 5,024,295        -                      5,024,295            

Long-term liabilities

Due within one year 317,298           722,797               1,040,095            

Due in more than one year 5,167,350        18,257,101         23,424,451          

Total liabilities 18,551,789     20,365,164         38,916,953          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred property taxes 1,720,559        -                      1,720,559            

Pension items - IMRF 631,918           1,325,186           1,957,104            

Pension items - Police Pension 103,429           -                      103,429               

Pension items - Firefighters' Pension 79,836             -                      79,836                 

Total deferred inflows of resources 2,535,742        1,325,186           3,860,928            

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 21,087,531     21,690,350         42,777,881          

 

NET POSITION   

Net investment in capital assets 6,116,394        35,126,142         41,242,536          

Restricted for

Maintenance of streets 350,230           -                      350,230               

Tourism 862,508           -                      862,508               

Economic development 84,139             -                      84,139                 

Public safety 52,888             -                      52,888                 

Retirement 309,376           -                      309,376               

Workers' compensation 244,913           -                      244,913               

Debt service 90,887             -                      90,887                 

Unrestricted (deficit) (7,865,610)      12,387,204         4,521,594            

TOTAL NET POSITION 245,725$         47,513,346$       47,759,071$        

April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Continued)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Operating Capital

Charges Grants and Grants and

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Governmental Activities

General government 1,385,774$        925,409$           95,856$           -$                

Public safety 5,492,300          405,807             13,427             -                  

Street and highways 1,166,439          27,729               270,010           -                  

Public property division 531,630             -                     -                  -                  

Development 327,793             -                     -                  -                  

Interest 137,752             -                     -                  -                  

Total governmental activities 9,041,688          1,358,945          379,293           -                  

Business-Type Activities

Water 1,531,741          1,573,594          -                  -                  

Electric 9,690,374          10,317,986        -                  -                  

Sewer 2,376,986          2,940,867          -                  -                  

Garbage 420,804             593,223             -                  -                  

Municipal broadband 72,883               8,940                 -                  -                  

Fiber optic broadband 355,239             -                     -                  -                  

Total business-type activities 14,448,027        15,434,610        -                  -                  

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 23,489,715$      16,793,555$      379,293$         -$                

Program Revenues

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

 STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018
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Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total

(364,509)$           -$                    (364,509)$           

(5,073,066)          -                      (5,073,066)          

(868,700)             -                      (868,700)             

(531,630)             -                      (531,630)             

(327,793)             -                      (327,793)             

(137,752)             -                      (137,752)             

(7,303,450)          -                      (7,303,450)          

-                      41,853                41,853                

-                      627,612              627,612              

-                      563,881              563,881              

-                      172,419              172,419              

-                      (63,943)               (63,943)               

-                      (355,239)             (355,239)             

-                      986,583              986,583              

(7,303,450)          986,583              (6,316,867)          

General Revenues

Taxes

Property 1,694,293           -                      1,694,293           

Replacement 48,694                -                      48,694                

Sales and use 2,172,395           -                      2,172,395           

Telecommunications 149,795              -                      149,795              

Hotel/motel 247,350              -                      247,350              

Video gaming 214,357              -                      214,357              

Utility 118,932              -                      118,932              

Shared income tax 840,258              -                      840,258              

Investment income 23,549                112,020              135,569              

Miscellaneous 273,324              95,963                369,287              

Transfers in (out) 642,161              (642,161)             -                      

Total 6,425,108           (434,178)             5,990,930           

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (878,342)             552,405              (325,937)             

NET POSITION, MAY 1 1,124,067           46,821,119         47,945,186         

Prior period adjustment -                      139,822              139,822              

NET POSITION, MAY 1, AS RESTATED 1,124,067           46,960,941         48,085,008         

NET POSITION, APRIL 30 245,725$            47,513,346$       47,759,071$       

Net (Expense) Revenue and Change in Net Position

Primary Government

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Nonmajor Total

Governmental Governmental

General Funds Funds

ASSETS

Cash and investments 2,189,763$     1,873,280$      4,063,043$         

Restricted cash -                  90,887             90,887                

Receivables (net, where applicable,

  of allowances for uncollectibles)

Property taxes 1,151,656       568,903           1,720,559           

Accounts 43,488            20,408             63,896                

Unbilled 14,431            -                   14,431                

Accrued interest 544                 1,121               1,665                  

Other 46,724            -                   46,724                

Due from other governments 631,524          25,961             657,485              

Due from other funds 88,547            -                   88,547                

Land held for resale 3,314,849       -                   3,314,849           

TOTAL ASSETS 7,481,526$     2,580,560$      10,062,086$       

 

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 268,237$        14,701$           282,938$            

Accrued payroll 30,054            2,316               32,370                

Due from other funds -                  88,547             88,547                

Advances from other funds 561,961          -                   561,961              

Unearned revenue 90,850            -                   90,850                

  

Total liabilities 951,102          105,564           1,056,666           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable property taxes 1,151,656       568,903           1,720,559           

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,151,656       568,903           1,720,559           

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 2,102,758       674,467           2,777,225           

  

FUND BALANCES  

Nonspendable 3,314,849       -                   3,314,849           

Restricted for maintenance of streets -                  350,230           350,230              

Restricted for tourism -                  862,508           862,508              

Restricted for economic development -                  84,139             84,139                

Restricted for public safety -                  52,888             52,888                

Restricted for retirement -                  309,376           309,376              

Restricted for worker's compensation -                  244,913           244,913              

Restricted for debt service -                  90,887             90,887                

Unrestricted

Assigned

Assigned for future expenditures 531,100          -                   531,100              

 Unassigned 1,532,819       (88,848)            1,443,971           

  

Total fund balances 5,378,768       1,906,093        7,284,861           

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS   

  OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 7,481,526$     2,580,560$      10,062,086$       

OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

April 30, 2018

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 7,284,861$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 

  net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 

  resources and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental 

  funds, net of accumulated depreciation of $10,083,446 8,582,592       

Differences between expected and actual experiences, assumption

  changes and net difference between projected and actual earnings

  for the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund are recognized as deferred

  outflows and inflows of resources on the statement of net position

IMRF (458,242)         

Police Pension 1,336,231       

Firefighters' Pension 998,130          

Net pension assets (liabilities) are not financial resources and, therefore, 

  are not reported in the fund financial statements

IMRF 155,567          

Police Pension (7,585,682)      

Firefighters' Pension (5,024,295)      

  

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period 

  and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds

General obligation bonds payable (2,035,000)      

Debt certificates (2,593,000)      

Capital leases (124,899)         

Accrued interest payable (33,945)           

Unamortized bond premium (140,299)         

Compensated absences payable (410,283)         

Other postemployment benefit payable (181,167)         

The net position of the internal service fund are included in the 

  governmental activities in the statement of net position 475,156          

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 245,725$        

April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

RECONCILIATION OF FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES IN THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Nonmajor Total

Governmental Governmental

General Funds Funds

REVENUES

Taxes 4,476,167$      826,133$         5,302,300$      

Licenses and permits 132,075           -                  132,075           

Intergovernmental 179,172           317,418           496,590           

Charges for services 840,405           -                  840,405           

Fines and fees 423,736           36,139             459,875           

Investment income 13,756             9,793               23,549             

Reimbursements 160,749           -                  160,749           

Miscellaneous 28,093             77,549             105,642           

  

Total revenues 6,254,153        1,267,032        7,521,185        

  

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government 987,552           159,256           1,146,808        

Public safety 4,276,273        36,622             4,312,895        

Street and highways 1,143,435        100,396           1,243,831        

Public property division 526,759           -                  526,759           

Development -                  327,793           327,793           

Capital outlay 136,190           99,649             235,839           

Debt service

Principal 176,769           110,000           286,769           

Interest and fiscal charges 73,216             102,421           175,637           

  

Total expenditures 7,320,194        936,137           8,256,331        

  

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 

  OVER EXPENDITURES (1,066,041)      330,895           (735,146)         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 583,465           195,728           779,193           

Transfers (out) -                  (4,902,734)      (4,902,734)      

  

Total other financing sources (uses) 583,465           (4,707,006)      (4,123,541)      

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (482,576)         (4,376,111)      (4,858,687)      

FUND BALANCES, MAY 1 5,861,344        6,282,204        12,143,548      

FUND BALANCES, APRIL 30 5,378,768$      1,906,093$      7,284,861$      

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES -

  TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (4,858,687)$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities

  are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures; however,

  they are capitalized and depreciated in the statement of activities 767,044          

Depreciation expense does not require the use of current financial resources 

  and, therefore, is not reported as an expenditure in governmental funds (786,527)

The change in the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund net pension liability and 

  deferred outflows of resources is not a source or use of a financial resource 17,699            

The change in the Police Pension Fund net pension liability and deferred

  outflows/inflows of resources is not a source or use of financial resources (540,406)         

The change in the Firefighters' Pension Fund net pension liability and deferred 

  outflows of resources is not a source or use of a financial resource (539,549)         

Some expenses in the statement of activities do not required the use of 

  current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures 

  in governmental funds

Change in compensated absences (10,461)           

Change in other postemployment benefit obligation (36,240)           

The increase in interest payable is reported as a decrease of expense on the

  statement of activities 30,091            

Governmental funds report the effects of premium when the debt is issued;

  however, these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities 7,794              

The repayment of long-term debt is reported as an expenditure when due

  in governmental funds but as a reduction of principal on the government-wide

  financial statements 286,769          

The transfer of long-term debt to business-type activities 4,765,702       

The addition in net position of certain activities of internal service funds is 

  included in governmental funds 18,429            

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES (878,342)$       

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES, 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES IN THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 11 -

114



Governmental

Municipal Activities

Municipal Municipal Sanitary Municipal Municipal Fiber Optic Internal

Water Electric Sewerage Garbage Broadband Broadband Total Service

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and investments 1,178,419$       5,269,960$       4,824,454$       619,320$          -$                  -$                  11,892,153$     492,087$          

Restricted cash -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    3,483,664         3,483,664         -                    

Receivables

Accounts 91,893              519,331            185,141            36,406              240                    -                    833,011            -                    

Unbilled 52,929              333,412            106,912            18,708              -                    -                    511,961            -                    

Accrued interest 1,520                 8,396                 2,271                 154                    -                    -                    12,341              130                    

Other -                    69                      -                    -                    -                    -                    69                      -                    

Due from other funds -                    299,296            -                    -                    -                    -                    299,296            -                    

Inventory 46,154              886,876            -                    -                    -                    -                    933,030            -                    

Total current assets 1,370,915         7,317,340         5,118,778         674,588            240                    3,483,664         17,965,525       492,217            

NONCURRENT ASSETS

Net pension asset 66,979              192,629            66,580              52                      -                    -                    326,240            -                    

Advance to other funds 30,000              558,499            36,050              10,000              -                    -                    634,549            -                    

Total noncurrent assets 96,979              751,128            102,630            10,052              -                    -                    960,789            -                    

CAPITAL ASSETS

Nondepreciable 55,578              -                    993,458            -                    -                    745,595            1,794,631         -                    

Depreciable 11,606,868       37,907,598       42,045,025       -                    686,839            482,154            92,728,484       -                    

Accumulated depreciation (6,503,739)        (24,345,984)      (13,173,010)      -                    (206,052)           (9,277)               (44,238,062)      -                    

Net capital assets 5,158,707         13,561,614       29,865,473       -                    480,787            1,218,472         50,285,053       -                    

Total assets 6,626,601         21,630,082       35,086,881       684,640            481,027            4,702,136         69,211,367       492,217            

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension items - IMRF 74,774              215,052            74,328              59                      -                    -                    364,213            -                    

Total deferred outflows of resources 74,774              215,052            74,328              59                      -                    -                    364,213            -                    

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 6,701,375         21,845,134       35,161,209       684,699            481,027            4,702,136         69,575,580       492,217            

Business-Type Activities

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

April 30, 2018
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Governmental

Municipal Activities

Municipal Municipal Sanitary Municipal Municipal Fiber Optic Internal

Water Electric Sewerage Garbage Broadband Broadband Total Service

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 48,106$            459,122$          80,620$            33,913$            -$                  389,087$          1,010,848$       17,061$            

Accrued payroll 7,707                 25,307              9,512                 69                      -                    766                    43,361              -                    

Accrued interest payable 846                    -                    3,858                 -                    -                    13,615              18,319              -                    

Compensated absences, current 7,631                 18,826              5,105                 25                      -                    2,104                 33,691              -                    

Loan payable, current 114,696            -                    574,410            -                    -                    -                    689,106            -                    

Due to other funds -                    -                    -                    -                    299,296            -                    299,296            -                    

Total current liabilities 178,986            503,255            673,505            34,007              299,296            405,572            2,094,621         17,061              

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Refundable customer deposits 40,131              135,684            129,871            7,052                 -                    -                    312,738            -                    

Advance from other funds 36,050              -                    -                    -                    36,538              -                    72,588              -                    

Compensated absences, noncurrent 43,240              106,682            28,931              139                    -                    11,925              190,917            -                    

Net other postemployment benefit obligation 24,042              64,249              24,277              147                    -                    -                    112,715            -                    

Capital lease, noncurrent -                    93,367              -                    -                    -                    -                    93,367              -                    

Loan payable, noncurrent 622,298            -                    12,472,850       -                    -                    -                    13,095,148       -                    

Bonds payable, noncurrent -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    4,764,954         4,764,954         -                    

Total long-term liabilities 765,761            399,982            12,655,929       7,338                 36,538              4,776,879         18,642,427       -                    

Total liabilities 944,747            903,237            13,329,434       41,345              335,834            5,182,451         20,737,048       17,061              

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension items - IMRF 272,067            782,459            270,447            213                    -                    -                    1,325,186         -                    

 

Total deferred inflows of resources 272,067            782,459            270,447            213                    -                    -                    1,325,186         -                    

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 1,216,814         1,685,696         13,599,881       41,558              335,834            5,182,451         22,062,234       17,061              

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

Net investment in capital assets 4,421,713         13,468,247       16,818,213       -                    480,787            (62,818)             35,126,142       -                    

Unrestricted (deficit) 1,062,848         6,691,191         4,743,115         643,141            (335,594)           (417,497)           12,387,204       475,156            

 
TOTAL NET POSITION (DEFICIT) 5,484,561$       20,159,438$     21,561,328$     643,141$          145,193$          (480,315)$         47,513,346$     475,156$          

Business-Type Activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Municipal 

Municipal Municipal Sanitary

Water Electric Sewerage

OPERATING REVENUES

Billed services 1,563,980$       9,891,671$       2,867,625$       

Utility taxes -                    219,614            -                    

Penalties collected -                    -                    31,680              

Connection fees -                    32,978              950                   

Other fees 9,614                173,723            40,612              

 

Total operating revenues 1,573,594         10,317,986       2,940,867         

 

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personnel

Salaries 401,269            1,068,036         405,382            

Payroll taxes 29,195              78,650              29,538              

Payroll benefits 143,680            267,793            138,649            

Total personnel 574,144            1,414,479         573,569            

Utility expense 78,988              5,266,708         236,857            

Commodities 349,663            1,215,532         431,031            

Contractual services 13,582              220,620            46,621              

Miscellaneous 110,887            329,246            65,530              

Depreciation and amortization 368,759            1,235,349         984,247            

 

Total operating expenses 1,496,023         9,681,934         2,337,855         

 

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 77,571              636,052            603,012            

 

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Investment income 10,112              32,837              35,884              

Reimbursements 19,491              30,340              17,448              

Other miscellaneous revenue -                    -                    -                    

Interest expense (35,718)             (8,440)               (39,131)             

 

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (6,115)               54,737              14,201              

NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS 71,456              690,789            617,213            

Transfers in -                    18,300              -                    

 Transfers (out) (56,616)             (157,362)           (56,598)             

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 14,840              551,727            560,615            

NET POSITION, MAY 1 5,469,721         19,607,711       21,000,713       

Prior period adjustment -                    -                    -                    

NET POSITION, MAY 1, AS RESTATED 5,469,721         19,607,711       21,000,713       

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 5,484,561$       20,159,438$     21,561,328$     

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

Business-Type Activities
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Governmental

Activities

Municipal Municipal Fiber Optic Internal

Garbage Broadband Broadband Total Service

593,066$          -$                  -$                  14,916,342$     1,281,155$       

-                    -                    -                    219,614            -                    

-                    -                    -                    31,680              -                    

-                    -                    -                    33,928              -                    

157                   8,940                -                    233,046            10,000              

  

593,223            8,940                -                    15,434,610       1,291,155         

  

2,417                -                    82,568              1,959,672         -                    

173                   -                    13,216              150,772            -                    

967                   -                    430                   551,519            1,275,319         

3,557                -                    96,214              2,661,963         1,275,319         

-                    -                    -                    5,582,553         -                    

410,050            -                    33,215              2,439,491         -                    

3,309                4,199                19,797              308,128            -                    

3,888                -                    32,291              541,842            -                    

-                    68,684              9,277                2,666,316         -                    

  

420,804            72,883              190,794            14,200,293       1,275,319         

  

172,419            (63,943)             (190,794)           1,234,317         15,836              

  

2,035                -                    31,152              112,020            2,593                

128                   -                    3,258                70,665              -                    

190                   9,459                15,649              25,298              -                    

-                    -                    (164,445)           (247,734)           -                    

  

2,353                9,459                (114,386)           (39,751)             2,593                

174,772            (54,484)             (305,180)           1,194,566         18,429              

-                    -                    4,469,045         4,487,345         -                    

(74,928)             -                    (4,784,002)        (5,129,506)        -                    

99,844              (54,484)             (620,137)           552,405            18,429              

543,297            199,677            -                    46,821,119       456,727            

-                    -                    139,822            139,822            -                    

543,297            199,677            139,822            46,960,941       456,727            

643,141$          145,193$          (480,315)$         47,513,346$     475,156$          

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Municipal 

Municipal Municipal Sanitary 

Water Electric Sewerage

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers and users 1,591,683$       10,259,530$     2,953,098$       

Receipts from interfund services transactions -                    -                    -                    

Payments for interfund services transactions (112,732)           (109,210)           (24,932)             

Payments to suppliers (424,474)           (6,746,199)        (762,921)           

Payments to employees (576,625)           (1,426,383)        (570,657)           

Net cash from operating activities 477,852            1,977,738         1,594,588         

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL 

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Receipt of loans from other funds -                    -                    -                    

Repayment of loans from other funds (18,000)             -                    -                    

Repayment of loans made to other funds -                    64,871              18,000              

Loans made to other funds -                    (299,296)           -                    

Transfers in -                    18,300              -                    

Transfers (out) (56,616)             (157,362)           (56,598)             

Receipt of other miscellaneous revenue 19,491              30,340              17,448              

 

Net cash from noncapital financing activities (55,125)             (343,147)           (21,150)             

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital assets purchased (439,080)           (277,453)           (153,537)           

Capital contributions 13,358              -                    -                    

Principal payments on long-term debt (139,884)           (333,498)           (1,004,117)        

Interest payments on long-term debt (22,795)             (11,012)             (41,394)             

Net cash from capital and related

   financing activities (588,401)           (621,963)           (1,199,048)        

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received on investments 8,592                 27,518              33,915              

 

Net cash from investing activities 8,592                 27,518              33,915              

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

  CASH EQUIVALENTS (157,082)           1,040,146         408,305            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, MAY 1 1,335,501         4,229,814         4,416,149         

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, APRIL 30 1,178,419$       5,269,960$       4,824,454$       

Business-Type Activities

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018
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Governmental

Activities

Municipal Municipal Fiber Optic Internal

Garbage Broadband Broadband Total Service

604,374$          8,700$              -$                  15,417,385$     -$                  

-                    -                    -                    -                    1,291,155         

(745)                  -                    -                    (247,619)           -                    

(415,665)           (5,191)               (78,078)             (8,432,528)        (1,258,258)        

(3,496)               -                    (81,419)             (2,658,580)        -                    

184,468            3,509                 (159,497)           4,078,658         32,897              

-                    1,900                 -                    1,900                 -                    

-                    (14,868)             -                    (32,868)             -                    

-                    -                    -                    82,871              -                    

-                    -                    -                    (299,296)           -                    

-                    -                    4,469,045         4,487,345         -                    

(74,928)             -                    (18,300)             (363,804)           -                    

394                    9,459                 18,907              96,039              -                    

  

(74,534)             (3,509)               4,469,652         3,972,187         -                    

-                    -                    (706,065)           (1,576,135)        -                    

-                    -                    -                    13,358              -                    

-                    -                    -                    (1,477,499)        -                    

-                    -                    (151,578)           (226,779)           -                    

  

-                    -                    (857,643)           (3,267,055)        -                    

  

1,883                 -                    31,152              103,060            2,629                 

  

1,883                 -                    31,152              103,060            2,629                 

111,817            -                    3,483,664         4,886,850         35,526              

507,503            -                    -                    10,488,967       456,561            

  

619,320$          -$                  3,483,664$       15,375,817$     492,087$          

(This statement is continued on the following pages.)
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Municipal 

Municipal Municipal Sanitary

Water Electric Sewerage

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

  TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM

  OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income (loss) 77,571$            636,052$          603,012$          

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)

  to net cash from operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 368,759            1,235,349         984,247            

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 11,856              (96,665)             12,409              

Other receivables -                    30,994              -                    

Prepaid expenses -                    117,506            -                    

Inventory 1,064                 24,991              -                    

Deferred outflows - pension items - IMRF 28,875              83,041              28,704              

Accounts payable 15,103              34,200              (7,814)               

Accrued payroll 1,198                 6,430                 2,494                 

Refundable customer deposits 6,233                 7,215                 (178)                  

Compensated absences (1,687)               (6,324)               2,595                 

Net pension obligation (252,218)           (725,372)           (250,716)           

Net other postemployment benefit obligation 5,375                 9,907                 5,397                 

Deferred inflows - pension items - IMRF 215,723            620,414            214,438            

 

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 477,852$          1,977,738$       1,594,588$       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,178,419$       5,269,960$       4,824,454$       

Restricted cash and investment -                    -                    -                    

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,178,419$       5,269,960$       4,824,454$       

SCHEDULE OF NONCASH TRANSACTIONS

Long-term debt transferred from governmental activities -$                  -$                  -$                  

TOTAL NONCASH TRANSACTIONS -$                  -$                  -$                  

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

Business-Type Activities

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS
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Governmental

Activities

Municipal Municipal Fiber Optic Internal

Garbage Broadband Broadband Total Service

172,419$          (63,943)$           (190,794)$         1,234,317$       15,836$            

-                    68,684              9,277                 2,666,316         -                    

6,818                 (240)                  -                    (65,822)             -                    

-                    -                    -                    30,994              -                    

-                    -                    -                    117,506            -                    

-                    -                    -                    26,055              -                    

70                      -                    -                    140,690            -                    

837                    (992)                  7,225                 48,559              17,061              

41                      -                    766                    10,929              -                    

4,333                 -                    -                    17,603              -                    

26                      -                    14,029              8,639                 -                    

(197)                  -                    -                    (1,228,503)        -                    

-                    -                    -                    20,679              -                    

121                    -                    -                    1,050,696         -                    

  

184,468$          3,509$              (159,497)$         4,078,658$       32,897$            

619,320$          -$                  -$                  11,892,153$     492,087$          

-                    -                    3,483,664         3,483,664         -                    

619,320$          -$                  3,483,664$       15,375,817$     492,087$          

-$                  -$                  (4,765,701)$      -$                  -$                  

-$                  -$                  (4,765,701)$      -$                  -$                  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PENSION TRUST FUNDS

ASSETS

Cash and short-term investments 692,576$            

Investments

U.S. agency obligations 277,652              

U.S. Treasuries 3,018,689           

Common stock 2,282,045           

Mutual funds 3,639,139           

Corporate bonds 1,683,899           

Municipal bonds 215,037              

Mortgage pools 48,592                

Annuities 592,928              

Negotiable certificates of deposit 1,713,446           

Receivables 

Accrued interest 45,707                

Prepaid expenses 4,382                  

Total assets 14,214,092         

 

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 3,458                  

Total liabilities 3,458                  

NET POSITION RESTRICTED

  FOR PENSIONS 14,210,634$       

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

April 30, 2018

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

PENSION TRUST FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

 

ADDITIONS

Contributions

Employer contributions 755,359$           

Employee contributions 194,647             

Total contributions 950,006             

Investment income

Net appreciation in 

  fair value of investments 576,211             

Interest 184,457             

Total investment income 760,668             

Less investment expense (37,785)             

Net investment income 722,883             

Total additions 1,672,889          

DEDUCTIONS

Benefits and refunds 1,271,046          

Administrative expenses 47,354               

 

Total deductions 1,318,400          

 

NET INCREASE 354,489             

NET POSITION RESTRICTED

  FOR PENSIONS

May 1 13,856,145        

April 30 14,210,634$      

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

April 30, 2018 

 

 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

 The basic financial statements of the City of Rock Falls, Illinois (the City) have been 

prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

of America, as applied to government units (hereinafter referred to as generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP)). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is 

the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial 

reporting principles. The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described 

below. 

 

 a. Reporting Entity 

 

  The City is a municipal corporation governed by an elected council under the 

mayor/council form of government. The City is considered to be a primary 

government as defined by GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, 

as Amended by GASB Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations 

are Component Units, and GASB Statement No 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: 

Omnibus - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14 and 34, since its council is 

separately elected and fiscally independent. In accordance with these pronouncements, 

the basic financial statements include all funds for which the City is financially 

accountable. No other government is a component unit of the City based on GASB 

Statement Nos. 14, 39 and 61. 

 

  Pension Trust Funds 

 

The City’s financial statements include the Police Pension Fund and the Firefighters’ 

Pension Fund as pension trust funds. The City’s sworn police and firefighter 

employees participate in these pension trust funds which function for the benefit of 

those employees and are governed by a five-member Pension Board of Trustees. Two 

members appointed by the Mayor, one elected pension beneficiary and two elected 

police officers constitute the Pension Boards. The City and the pension plan 

participants are obligated to fund all pension plan costs based upon actuarial 

valuations. The State of Illinois is authorized to establish benefit levels and the City is 

authorized to approve the actuarial assumptions used in the determination of the 

contribution levels. The pension plans are reported as pension trust funds because of 

the City’s fiduciary responsibility. Separate financial statements are not available for 

the Police Pension Plan and Firefighters’ Pension Plan. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

 b. Fund Accounting 

 

  The City uses funds to report on its financial position and changes in its financial 

position. Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid 

financial management by segregating transactions related to certain government 

functions or activities. A fund is a separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set 

of accounts. The minimum number of funds are maintained consistent with legal and 

managerial requirements.  

 

  Funds are classified into the following categories: governmental, proprietary and 

fiduciary.  

 

  Governmental funds are used to account for all or most of the City’s general activities, 

including the collection and disbursement of restricted or committed monies (special 

revenue funds), the funds restricted, committed or assigned for the acquisition or 

construction of capital assets (capital projects funds) and the funds restricted, 

committed or assigned for the servicing of long-term debt (debt service funds). The 

General Fund is used to account for all activities of the City not accounted for in some 

other fund. 

 

  Proprietary funds are used to account for activities similar to those found in the private 

sector, where the determination of net income is necessary or useful for sound financial 

administration. Goods or services from such activities can be provided either to outside 

parties (enterprise funds) or to other departments or agencies primarily within the 

government (internal service funds).  

 

  Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, 

including other governments, or on behalf of other funds within the government. The 

City utilizes pension trust funds which are generally used to account for assets that the 

City holds in a fiduciary capacity. 

 

 c. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

 

  The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the 

statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the 

City. The effect of material interfund activity has been eliminated from these 

statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and 

intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, 

which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
 c. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
  The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a 

given function, segment or program are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses 
are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program 
revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly 
benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 
(2) grants and standard revenues that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly 
included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 

 
  Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds 

and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide 
financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual 
enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

 
  The City reports the following major governmental fund: 
 
   The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all 

financial resources of the general government, except those accounted for in 
another fund. 

 
  The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 
   The Municipal Water Fund accounts for the costs related to operations 

associated with water service. Funding is provided by user fees. 
 
   The Municipal Electric Fund accounts for the costs related to operations 

associated with electric service. Funding is provided by user fees. 
 
   The Municipal Sanitary Sewer Fund accounts for the costs related to operations 

associated with sewer service. Funding is provided by user fees. 
 
   The Municipal Garbage Fund accounts for the costs related to operations 

associated with garbage service. Funding is provided by user fees. Management 
has elected to report this as a major fund. 

 
The Municipal Broadband Fund accounts for the costs related to operations 
associated with broadband internet service. Funding is provided by user fees. 
Management has elected to report this as a major fund. 

 
The Fiber Optic Broadband Fund accounts for the costs related to operations 
associated with fiber infrastructure. Funding is provided by user fees.   
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

 c. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

 

  Additionally, the City reports the following proprietary fund type: 

 

   Internal Service Funds account for the financing of goods or services provided 

by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City, or to 

other governmental units, on a cost reimbursement basis. These are reported as 

part of the governmental activities on the government-wide financial statements 

as they provide services to the City’s governmental funds/activities. The City 

reports two internal service funds: The Health Insurance Fund and the GIS IT 

Fund. 

 

  The City reports pension trust funds as fiduciary funds to account for the Police 

Pension Fund and Firefighters’ Pension Fund. 

 

 d. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 

 

  The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 

measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and 

fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues and additions are recorded when earned 

and expenses and deductions are recorded when a liability is incurred. Property taxes 

are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied (i.e., intended to 

finance). Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 

requirements imposed by the provider have been met. Operating revenues/expenses 

include all revenues/expenses directly related to providing enterprise fund services. 

Incidental revenues/expenses are reported as non-operating.  

 

  Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 

resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues 

are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are 

considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon 

enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures generally are 

recorded when a fund liability is incurred. However, debt service expenditures are 

recorded only when payment is due, unless due the first day of the following fiscal 

year. 

 

  Property taxes, sales taxes and telecommunication taxes owed to the state at year end, 

utility taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, charges for services and interest associated with 

the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and are 

recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Fines and permit revenue are 

considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
 d. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation  
    (Continued) 
 
  In applying the susceptible to accrual concept to intergovernmental revenues (i.e., 

federal and state grants), the legal and contractual requirements of the numerous 
individual programs are used as guidance. There are, however, essentially two types 
of these revenues. In one, monies must be expended on the specific purpose or project 
before any amounts will be paid to the City; therefore, revenues are recognized based 
upon the expenditures recorded. In the other, monies are virtually unrestricted as to 
purpose of expenditure and are generally revocable only for failure to comply with 
prescribed eligibility requirements, such as equal employment opportunity. These 
resources are reflected as revenues at the time of receipt or earlier if they meet the 
availability criterion. 

 
  The City reports unearned revenue and deferred/unavailable revenue on its financial 

statements. Deferred/unavailable revenues arise when a potential revenue does not 
meet the availability criteria for recognition in the current period, under the modified 
accrual basis of accounting. Unearned revenue arises when a revenue is measurable 
but not earned under the accrual basis of accounting. Unearned revenues also arise 
when resources are received by the City before it has a legal claim to them or prior to 
the provision of services, as when grant monies are received prior to the incurrence of 
qualifying expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both revenue recognition criteria 
are met, or when the City has a legal claim to the resources, the liability or deferred 
inflows of resource for unearned and deferred/unavailable revenue are removed from 
the financial statements and revenue is recognized. 

 
 e. Cash and Investments 
 
  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
  For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City’s proprietary funds consider cash 

and cash equivalents to include cash on hand, demand deposits, cash with fiscal agent, 
and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition. 

 
  Investments 
 
  Investments with a maturity of less than one year when purchased, non-negotiable 

certificates of deposit and other nonparticipating investments are stated at cost or 
amortized cost. Investments with a maturity greater than one year when purchased and 
all investments of the pension trust funds are stated at fair value. Fair value is the price 
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

 f. Property Taxes 

 

  Property taxes for 2017 are levied in December 2017 and attach as an enforceable lien 

on the property on January 1, 2017. Tax bills are prepared by the County and issued 

on or about May 1, 2018 and August 1, 2018, and are due and collectible on or about 

June 1, 2018 and September 1, 2018. The County collects the taxes and remits them 

periodically to the City. Those 2017 taxes are intended to finance the 2019 fiscal year 

and are not considered available or earned for current operations and, therefore, are 

reported as deferred/unavailable revenue. The 2018 tax levy has not been recorded as 

a receivable at April 30, 2018, as the tax attached as a lien on property as of January 1, 

2018; however, the tax will not be levied until December 2018 and, accordingly, is not 

measurable at April 30, 2018.  

 

 g. Inventory 

 

  Inventory is valued at average cost on a first-in/first-out (FIFO) method.  

 

 h. Restricted Assets 

 

  Certain cash and investments in the MFT Bond Fund and Fiber Optic Broadband Fund 

are restricted in accordance with the ordinances authorizing the issuance of the 

alternate revenue source bonds. These assets are reflected as restricted cash and 

investments and restrictions of net position.  

 

 i. Prepaid Items/Expenses 

 

  Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond the date of this 

report are recorded as prepaid items/expenses and are accounted for using the 

consumption method. 

 

j. Capital Assets 

 

  Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., 

roads, bridges, sidewalks, storm water and similar items), are reported in the applicable 

governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial 

statements. Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual 

cost in excess of $2,500 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  

 

  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or 

constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of 

donation. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

 j. Capital Assets (Continued) 

 

  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs, including street overlays that do not add 

to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized.  

 

  Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 

constructed. Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of 

business-type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets 

constructed. Property, plant and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line 

method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 

Assets  Years 

   

Buildings, infrastructure and improvements  20-50 

Vehicles and other equipment  5-20 

 

 k. Compensated Absences 

 

  City employees are granted sick leave and vacation days. Vacation days vary by 

employee and accumulation of vacation days is ordinarily not allowed. However, 

vacation days are earned in the year prior to their eligibility for use. Upon termination 

of employment, city employees are paid for any earned, unused vacation days and any 

accumulated unused sick leave at the rate of two days pay for each ten accumulated 

unused sick days. The employees receive ten sick days per calendar year. Police 

employees are allowed to accumulate a maximum of 1,200 hours of sick leave. Upon 

retirement, the City agrees to provide continued health insurance coverage on behalf 

of the retired employee equal to the cash value of the accumulated unused sick leave 

then held by the employee. Firefighter employees are allowed to accumulate a 

maximum of 1,680 hours of sick leave. Upon retirement, the City agrees to provide 

continued health insurance coverage on behalf of the retired employee equal to the 

cash value of the accumulated unused sick leave then held by the employee. 

 

  Vested or accumulated vacation related to employees that have retired or terminated 

at year end but have not yet been paid is reported as an expenditure and a fund liability 

of the governmental fund that will pay it.  

 

Vested and accumulated vacation of governmental activities and proprietary funds is 

recorded as an expense and liability as the benefits accrue to employees.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

 l. Interfund Transactions 

 

  Interfund service transactions are accounted for as revenues, expenditures or expenses. 

Transactions that constitute reimbursements to a fund for expenditures/expenses 

initially made from it that are properly applicable to another fund, are recorded as 

expenditures/expenses in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of 

expenditures/expenses in the fund that is reimbursed. 

 

  All other interfund transactions, except interfund service transactions and 

reimbursements, are reported as transfers.  

 

 m. Interfund Receivables/Payables 

 

  Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 

outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other 

funds” (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” 

(i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances 

between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.”  

 

  Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial statements, are offset by a 

fund balance nonspendable account in applicable governmental funds to indicate that 

they are not available for appropriation and are not expendable available financial 

resources. 

 

 n. Long-Term Obligations 

 

  In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary funds in the fund 

financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 

liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities or 

proprietary fund financial statements. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as any 

gains/losses on refunding are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds 

payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Issuance costs, 

whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as expenses. 

 

  In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and 

discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount 

of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  

 

  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while 

discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, 

whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as 

expenditures. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

 o. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 

separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement 

element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net assets that 

applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 

(expense/expenditure) until then. In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial 

position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. 

This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 

acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized 

as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  

 

p. Fund Balance/Net Position  

 

  In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report nonspendable fund 

balance for amounts that are either not in spendable form or legally or contractually 

required to be maintained intact. Restrictions of fund balance are reported for amounts 

constrained by legal restrictions from outside parties for use for a specific purpose, or 

externally imposed by outside entities or from enabling legislation adopted by the City. 

Committed fund balance is constrained by formal actions of the City Council, which 

is considered the City’s highest level of decision-making authority. Formal actions 

include ordinances approved by the City Council. Assigned fund balance represents 

amounts constrained by the City’s intent to use them for a specific purpose. The City 

Council has the authority to assign fund balance. Any residual fund balance in the 

General Fund, including fund balance targets and any deficit fund balance of any other 

governmental fund is reported as unassigned.  

 

The City’s flow of funds assumption prescribes that the funds with the highest level 

of constraint are expended first. If restricted or unrestricted funds are available for 

spending, the restricted funds are spent first. Additionally, if different levels of 

unrestricted funds are available for spending the City considers committed funds to be 

expended first followed by assigned funds and then unassigned funds.  

 

The City has a policy to maintain a minimum unassigned fund balance in the General 

Fund equal to 45 days of General Fund operating expenditures as determined from 

year-to-year based upon the fiscal year budget approved by the City Council. 

 

  In the government-wide financial statements, restricted net position is legally 

restricted by outside parties for a specific purpose. None of the City’s net position is 

restricted as a result of enabling legislation adopted by the City Council. Net investment 

in capital assets, represents the City’s investment in the book value of capital assets, less 

any outstanding debt that was issued to construct or acquire the capital asset. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

 q. Use of Estimates  

 

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting 

period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

 

 The City and pension funds categorizes the fair value measurements within the fair value 

hierarchy established by GAAP. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 

measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for 

identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs 

are significant unobservable inputs.  

 

 The City maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds except 

the pension trust funds. Each fund’s portion of this pool is displayed on the financial 

statements as “cash and investments.” The deposits and investments of the pension trust 

funds are held separately from those of other funds. The investments are governed by three 

separate investment policies: one policy for the City adopted by the City Council and one 

policy each for the Police Pension Fund and the Firefighters’ Pension Fund approved by 

their respective boards.  

 

The City’s investment policy authorizes the City to make deposits in the commercial banks 

and savings and loan institutions and to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. 

agencies, obligations of states and their political subdivisions, credit union shares, 

repurchase agreements and The Illinois Funds.  

 

The Illinois Public Treasurers’ Investment Pool, known as The Illinois Funds, operates as a 

qualified external investment pool in accordance with the criteria established in GASB 

Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants, and thus, 

reports all investments at amortized cost rather than market value.  The investment in The 

Illinois Funds by participants is also reported at amortized cost.  The Illinois Funds does not 

have any limitations or restrictions on participant withdrawals. The Illinois Treasurer’s 

Office issues a separate financial report for The Illinois Funds which may be obtained by 

contacting the Administrative Office at Illinois Business Center, 400 West Monroe Street, 

Suite 401, Springfield, Illinois 62704. 
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 

 It is the policy of the City to invest its funds in a manner which will provide the highest 

investment return with the maximum security while meeting the daily cash flow demands of 

the City and conforming to all state and local statutes governing the investment of public 

funds, using the “prudent person” standard for managing the overall portfolio. The primary 

objectives of the policy are safety (preservation of capital and protection of investment 

principal), liquidity and yield. 

 

 City Deposits with Financial Institutions 

 

 Custodial credit risk for deposits with financial institutions is the risk that in the event of a 

bank’s failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned to it. The City’s investment policy 

requires pledging of collateral with a fair value of 110% of all bank balances in excess of 

federal depository insurance, evidenced by a written collateral agreement with the collateral 

held by an independent third party safekeeping agent of the City in the City’s name.  

 

 City Investments  

  

The City categorizes the fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established 

by GAAP. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of 

the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 

inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant 

unobservable inputs. There are no investments subject to fair value measurement since all 

of the City’s investments are in non-negotiable certificates of deposit. 

 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the City limits its exposure 

to interest rate risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for short and long-term 

cash flow needs while providing a reasonable rate of return based on the current market. The 

City’s investment policy limits investments to a two-year maturity.  

 

 Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligations to the 

holder of the investment in securities allowed under the investment policy. The City’s 

investment policy does not address credit risk. 

 

 Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 

counterparty to the investment, the City will not be able to recover the value of its 

investments that are in the possession of an outside party. To limit its exposure, the City’s 

investment policy requires all security transactions that are exposed to custodial credit risk 

to be processed with the underlying investments held by a third party custodian and held in 

the City’s name. 
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 

 Concentration of the credit risk is the risk that the City has a high percentage of their 

investments invested in one investment. The City’s investment policy requires 

diversification of investments to avoid unreasonable risk by limiting deposits in one 

institution to 50% of the City’s deposits unless fully collateralized. 

 

3. RECEIVABLES  

 

 The following receivables are included in due from other governments on the statement of 

net position at April 30, 2018: 

 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES  

 General Fund  

  Telecommunications tax $ 38,790 

  Use tax   60,481 

  Sales tax   277,237 

  Video gaming tax   42,996 

  Non-home rule sales tax   197,377 

  Fines   5,510 

  Grants   9,133 

  

   Total General Fund   631,524 

  

 Nonmajor Governmental Funds  

  Motor fuel tax   21,213 

  Grants   4,748 

  

   Total Nonmajor Governmental Funds   25,961 

  

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ 657,485 

 

  

- 33 - 136



4. CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

 Capital asset activity for the year ended April 30, 2018 was as follows: 

 
 Beginning 

Balances,  

As Restated 

 

 

Increases 

 

 

Decreases 

 

 

Transfers 

 

Ending 

Balances 

      

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES      

 Capital assets not being depreciated      

  Land $ 725,520 $ - $ - $ - $ 725,520 

   Total capital assets not being  

     depreciated 

 

  725,520 

 

  - 

 

  - 

 

  - 

 

  725,520 

      

 Capital assets being depreciated      

  Land improvements   2,728,354   181,022   -   -   2,909,376 

  Buildings   2,531,288   -   -   -   2,531,288 

  Equipment   4,267,198   58,218   17,433   -   4,307,983 

  Infrastructure   8,433,161   527,804   -   -   8,960,965 

   Total capital assets being  

     depreciated 

 

  17,960,001 

 

  767,044 

 

  17,433 

 

  - 

 

  18,709,612 

      
 Less accumulated depreciation for      
  Land improvements   140,339   169,968   -   -   310,307 
  Buildings   1,666,852   79,712   -   -   1,746,564 
  Equipment   3,630,151   189,352   17,433   -   3,802,070 
  Infrastructure   4,646,104   347,495   -   -   4,993,599 

   Total accumulated depreciation   10,083,446   786,527   17,433   -   10,852,540 

      
   Total capital assets being 
     depreciated, net 

 
  7,876,555 

 
  (19,483) 

 
  - 

 
  - 

 
  7,857,072 

      
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES       
  CAPITAL ASSETS, NET $ 8,602,075 $ (19,483) $ - $ - $ 8,582,592 

 
 Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the governmental activities as 

follows: 
 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES  
 General government $ 256,150 
 Public safety   103,373 
 Streets and highways   422,133 
 Public property division   4,871 

  
TOTAL DEPRECIATION EXPENSE - 
  GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

 
$ 786,527 
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

 Beginning 

Balances, 

As Restated 

 

 

Increases 

 

 

Decreases 

 

 

Transfers 

 

Ending 

Balances 

      

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES       

 Capital assets not being depreciated      

  Land $ 980,000 $ - $ - $ - $ 980,000 

  Construction in progress   775,178   814,630   -   (775,177)   814,631 

   Total capital assets not being  

     depreciated 

 

  1,755,178 

 

  814,630 

 

  - 

 

  (775,177) 

 

  1,794,631 

      

 Capital assets being depreciated      

  Buildings and infrastructure   72,607,533   845,863   -   775,177   74,228,573 

  Improvements other than buildings   13,264,949   157,286   -   -   13,422,235 

  Equipment   4,955,644   140,218   18,186   -   5,077,676 

   Total capital assets being  

     depreciated 

 

  90,828,126 

 

  1,143,367 

 

  18,186 

 

  775,177 

 

  92,728,484 

      

 Less accumulated depreciation for      

  Buildings and infrastructure   29,311,924   2,053,286   -   -   31,365,210 

  Improvements other than buildings   7,987,478   446,453   -   -   8,433,931 

  Equipment   4,290,530   166,577   18,186   -   4,438,921 

   Total accumulated depreciation   41,589,932   2,666,316   18,186   -   44,238,062 

      

   Total capital assets being 

     depreciated, net 

 

  49,238,194 

 

  (1,522,949) 

 

  - 

 

  775,177 

 

  48,490,422 

      

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES  

  CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 

 

$ 50,993,372 

 

$ (708,319) 

 

$ - 

 

$ - 

 

$ 50,285,053 

 

 Depreciation expense was charged to the business-type activities as follows: 

 

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES  

 Municipal water $ 368,759 

 Municipal electric   1,235,349 

 Municipal sanitary sewerage   984,247 

 Municipal broadband (electric)   68,684 

   Municipal broadband 9,277 

  

TOTAL DEPRECIATION EXPENSE - 

  BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 

 

$ 2,666,316 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT 

 

 a. Long-Term Debt - Governmental Funds  

 

  Long-term liability activity for the year ended April 30, 2018 was as follows: 

 
  

May 1 

 

Additions 

Reductions/ 

Refundings 

 

Transfers 

 

April 30 

Current 

Portion 

       

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES        

 General obligation alternate  

   revenue source bonds**, *** $ 6,895,000 $ - $ 110,000 

 

$  (4,750,000) $ 2,035,000 $ 195,000 

 Bond premium***   163,795   -   7,794 (15,702)   140,299   7,794 

 Debt certificates*   2,617,000   -   24,000 -   2,593,000   26,000 

 Capital leases*   277,668   -   152,769 -   124,899   26,962 

 Compensated absences*   399,822   410,283   399,822 -   410,283   61,542 

 Net other postemployment  

   benefit obligation* 

 

  144,927 

 

  36,240 

 

  - 

 

- 

 

  181,167 

 

  - 

       

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL        

  ACTIVITIES $ 10,498,212 $ 446,523 $ 694,385 $  (4,765,702) $ 5,484,648 $ 317,298 

 

  *These liabilities are primarily retired by the General Fund. 

  ** These liabilities are primarily retired by the Debt Service Funds. 

 ***The 2017A and 2017B General Obligation Bonds were transferred into the 

business-type activities as of April 30, 2018. 

 

  Long-term liabilities payable from governmental activities at April 30, 2018 comprise 

the following: 

 
  Current 

 Total Portion 

   

General Obligation Bonds   

$720,000 - General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 

Motor Fuel Tax (alternative revenue sources); due in annual 

installments of $105,000 to $110,000 through January 1, 2019; 

interest at 2.60%, payable semiannually in January and July.  

 

 

 

$ 110,000 

 

 

 

$ 110,000 

   

$1,925,000 - General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 

(alternative revenue sources); due in annual installments of 

$85,000 to $145,000 starting October 1, 2018 through 

October 1, 2035; interest at 2% to 4%, payable semiannually in 

April and October.  

 

 

 

 

  1,925,000 

 

 

 

 

  85,000 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

 

 a. Long-Term Debt - Governmental Funds (Continued)  

 
  Current 

 Total Portion 

   

Debt Certificates   

$280,000 Debt Certificates, Series 2012; due in annual 

installments of $22,000 to $30,000 through November 1, 2023; 

interest at 3.50% to 3.75% payable semiannually in May and 

November. 

 

 

 

 $ 166,000 

 

 

 

 $ 26,000 

   

$2,427,000 Debt Certificates, Series 2016; due March 16, 2022; 

interest at 2.28% through March 2019, 3-year Treasury 

Constant Rate plus 1.50% from March 2019 through March 

2022 payable semiannually in March and September. 

 

 

 

  2,427,000 

 

 

 

  - 

   

Capital Leases    

$178,243 capital lease for 2013 Elgin Pelican NP Street 

Sweeper; due in installments of $27,768 through April 2019; 

interest at 2.99%. 

 

 

  26,962 

 

 

  26,962 

   

$241,551 capital lease for two International 7300 trucks with 

Plows; due in annual installments of $51,102 through May 

2020; interest at 2.89%. 

 

 

  97,937 

 

 

  - 

   

Bond premium 140,299 7,794 

   

Compensated absences   410,283   61,542 

   

Net other postemployment benefit obligation   181,167   - 

   

TOTAL $ 5,484,648 $ 317,298 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

 

 b.  Debt Service to Maturity 

 

  The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding as of April 30, 2018, are as 

follows:  

 
Fiscal Year  Governmental Activities 

Ending  General Obligation Debt Debt Certificates 

April 30,  Principal Interest Principal Interest 

      

2019  $ 195,000 $ 64,510 $ 26,000 $ 61,208 

2020    85,000   59,950   27,000   60,298 

2021    90,000   58,200   28,000   59,353 

2022    90,000   56,400   2,457,000   58,373 

2023    90,000   54,600    30,000   1,988 

2024-2028    490,000   240,450   25,000   938 

2029-2033    585,000   141,900   -   - 

2034-2038    410,000   25,200   -   - 

      

TOTAL  $ 2,035,000 $ 701,210 $ 2,593,000 $ 242,158 

 

 c.  Capital Leases 

 

  The City has capital lease obligations, with total annual payments ranging from 

$27,768 to $51,102, at interest rates of 2.99% to 3.99%. Future minimum lease 

payments under the capital leases at April 30, 2018 are as follows: 

 

Fiscal Year 

Ending  

April 30, 

   

    

2019   $ 27,768 

2020     51,102 

2021     51,102 

    

 Subtotal     129,972 

Less amount representing interest    5,073 

    

TOTAL    $ 124,899 

 

  The cost of such equipment acquired through capital leases was $489,764 with an 

accumulated depreciation of $218,278 at April 30, 2018. 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

 

 d. Pledged Revenue Debt  

 

  The City has outstanding bonds with remaining pledges of revenue outstanding. The 

schedule of pledged revenue is detailed below: 

 
 

 

Debt 

Issue 

 

 

Pledge 

Source 

 

 

Pledge 

Remaining 

 

 

Commitment 

End Date 

 

 

Pledged 

Revenue 

Principal 

and 

Interest 

Paid 

 

Percent of 

Pledged 

Revenue 

       

 

2012 GO Alternate  

  Revenue Source 

Motor  

Fuel Tax 

Allotments 

 

 

$ 112,860 

 

 

January 1, 2019 

 

 

$ 237,000 

 

 

$ 115,720 

 

 

49% 

       

 

2016 GO Alternate  

  Revenue Source 

TIF 

Property  

Taxes 

 

 

  2,623,350 

 

 

October 1, 2035 

 

 

  269,397 

 

 

  96,701 

 

 

36% 

       

 

 e.  Long-Term Debt - Business-Type Activities  

 

  Long-term liability activity for business-type activities for the year ended April 30, 

2018 was as follows: 

 
  

May 1 

 

Additions 

 

Reductions 

 

Transfers 

 

April 30 

Current 

Portion 

       

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES       

 General obligation bonds $ 240,000 $ - $ 240,000 $ 4,750,000 $  4,750,000 $ - 

   Bond premium - - 748 15,702 14,954 - 

 Capital leases   222,876   -   129,509 -   93,367   - 

 IEPA revolving loans   15,276,859   -   1,492,605 -   13,784,254   689,106 

 Net other postemployment  

   benefit obligation 

 

  91,960 

 

  20,755 

 

  - 

 

- 

 

  112,715 

 

  - 

 Compensated absences   215,969   224,608   215,969 -   224,608   33,691 

       

TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE  

  ACTIVITIES  

 

$ 16,047,664 

 

$ 245,363 

 

$ 2,078,831 

 

$ 4,765,702 

 

$ 18,979,898 

 

$ 722,797 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

 

 e.  Long-Term Debt - Business-Type Activities (Continued) 

 

  Long-term liabilities payable from business-type activities at April 30, 2018 comprise 

the following: 

 
  Current 

 Total Portion 

   

General Obligation Bonds   

$2,105,000 - General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 

2017A (alternative revenue sources); due in annual 

installments of $240,000 to $340,000 starting October 1, 

2031 through October 1, 2037; interest at 3.25% to 4.00%, 

payable semiannually in April and October. 

 

 

 

 

 $ 2,105,000 

 

 

 

 

 $ - 

   

$2,645,000 - General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 

2017B (alternative revenue sources); due in annual 

installments of $30,000 to $260,000 starting October 1, 2024 

through October 1, 2031; interest at 3.25% to 4.00%, payable 

semiannually in April and October.  

 

 

 

 

  2,645,000 

 

 

 

 

  - 

   

IEPA Loans   

$1,621,986 Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) 

loan payable - water; due in semiannual installments of 

$53,749, including interest at 2.905% through April 4, 2022. 

 

 

   403,197 

 

 

  96,481 

   

$20,000,000 IEPA wastewater treatment works loan payable; 

due in semiannual installments of $394,615, no interest 

through May 1, 2031.  

 

 

  10,000,000 

 

 

  384,615 

   

$5,481,335 IEPA wastewater treatment facility and 

watermain/liftstation loan of which $4,334,740 is required to 

be repaid; due in semiannual installments of $105,806, 

including interest at 1.25% through March 19, 2032. 

 

 

 

  2,710,096 

 

 

 

  178,292 

   

$654,443 IEPA liftstation and sewer rehabilitation loan 

payable of which $490,832 is required to be repaid; due in 

semiannual installments of $13,610 including interest of 

1.25% through November 19, 2031.  

 

 

 

  337,165 

 

 

 

  11,503 

   

$536,590 IEPA drinking water loan payable of which 

$379,942 is required to be repaid; due in semiannual 

installments of $21,319 including interest of 1.86% through 

November 19, 2026.  

 

 

 

  333,796 

 

 

 

  18,215 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

 

 e.  Long-Term Debt - Business-Type Activities (Continued)  

 
  Current 

 Total Portion 

   

Capital Leases   

$186,865 capital lease for Altec Capital Bucket truck; due in 

annual installments of $49,375 through May 2020, including 

interest at 3.82%. 

 

 

$ 93,367 

 

 

$ - 

   

Compensated absences    224,608   33,691 

   

Bond premium 14,954 - 

   

Net other postemployment benefit obligation   112,715   - 

   

TOTAL $ 18,979,898 $ 722,797 

 
  Business-Type Activities 

Fiscal Year 

Ending 

 GO Alternate Revenue 

Source Bonds  

 

Illinois IEPA Loans 

April 30,  Principal Interest Principal Interest 

      

2019   $ - $ 163,378 $ 689,106 $ 43,341 

2020    185,000   161,389   1,109,223   37,579 

2021    190,000   157,120   1,115,374   32,809 

2022    195,000   152,305   1,121,655   27,634 

2023    200,000   146,970   1,019,790   23,734 

2024-2028    1,095,000   634,545   5,107,787   89,238 

2029-2033    1,300,000   419,640   3,621,319   26,318 

2034-2038  1,585,000 151,075 - - 

      

TOTAL  $ 4,750,000 $ 1,986,422 $ 13,784,254 $ 280,653 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
 f.  Capital Leases (Continued) 
 
  The City has a capital lease obligation, with total annual of $49,375, with an interest 

rate of 3.82%. Future minimum lease payments under the capital leases at April 30, 
2018 are as follows: 

 
Year Ending    

June 30,    
    
2019   $ - 
2020     49,375 
2021     49,375 
    
 Subtotal     98,750 
Less amount representing interest    5,383 
    
TOTAL    $ 93,367 

 
  The cost of such equipment acquired through capital lease was $186,865 with an 

accumulated depreciation of $28,920 at April 30, 2018. 
 
 g. Pledged Revenue Debt 
 
  The City has outstanding bonds with remaining pledges of revenue outstanding. The 

schedule of pledged revenue is detailed below: 
 

 
Debt 
Issue 

 
Pledge 
Source 

 
Pledge 

Remaining 

 
Commitment 

End Date 

 
Pledged 
Revenue 

Principal 
and Interest 

Paid 

Percent of 
Pledged 
Revenue 

       
2010 GO Alternate  
  Revenue Source 

Electric 
Revenues 

 
$ - 

January 1, 
2018 

 
$ 9,888,069 

 
$ 245,760 

 
2% 

       
Illinois EPA  
  Loan - Drinking  
  Water 

 
Water 

Revenues 

 
 
  429,695 

 
 

April 4, 2022 

 
 
  1,555,805 

 
 
  107,499 

 
 

7% 
       
Illinois EPA 
  Loan - Drinking 
  Water 

 
Water 

Revenues 

 
 
  362,425 

 
November 19, 

2026 

 
 
  1,555,805 

 
 
  54,942 

 
 

4% 
       
Illinois EPA 
  Loan - Treatment  
  Plant 

Sanitary 
Sewer 

Revenues 

 
 
  10,000,000 

 
 

May 1, 2031 

 
 
  2,828,446 

 
 
  1,153,846 

 
 

41% 
       
Illinois EPA  
  Loan - Treatment  
  Plant   

Sanitary 
Sewer 

Revenues 

 
 
  2,962,581 

 
March 19, 

2032 

 
 
  2,828,446 

 
 
  211,613 

 
 

7% 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

 

 g. Pledged Revenue Debt (Continued) 

 
 

Debt 

Issue 

 

Pledge 

Source 

 

Pledge 

Remaining 

 

Commitment 

End Date 

 

Pledged 

Revenue 

Principal 

and Interest 

Paid 

Percent of 

Pledged 

Revenue 

       

Illinois EPA  

  Loan - Lift  

  Station  

  Rehabilitation 

 

Sanitary 

Sewer 

Revenues 

 

 

 

 $ 367,461 

 

 

November 19, 

2031 

 

 

 

 $ 2,828,446 

 

 

 

 $ 27,219 

 

 

 

1% 

 

 

2017A GO Alternate  

  Revenue Source 

Broadband  

System 

Revenues 

 

 

  3,400,825 

 

October 1, 

2037 

 

 

  - 

 

 

  71,810 

 

 

0% 

       

 

2017B GO Alternate  

  Revenue Source 

Broadband 

System 

Revenues 

 

 

  3,335,596 

 

October 1, 

2031 

 

 

  - 

 

 

  79,768 

 

 

0% 

 

6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 

 

 The City contributes to three defined benefit pension plans the Illinois Municipal Retirement 

Fund (IMRF), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system; the Police 

Pension Plan, which is a single-employer pension plan; and the Firefighters’ Pension Plan, 

which is also a single-employer pension plan. The benefits, benefit levels, employee 

contributions and employer contributions for all three plans are governed by Illinois 

Compiled Statutes (ILCS) and can only be amended by the Illinois General Assembly. IMRF 

issues a publicly available report that includes financial statements and supplementary 

information for the plan as a whole, but not for individual employers. That report can be 

obtained at www.imrf.org. The Police Pension Plan and Firefighters’ Pension Plan do not 

issue separate reports.  

 
 a. Plan Descriptions 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund 
 
  Plan Administration 
 
  All employees (other than those covered by the Police Pension Plan and Firefighters’ 

Pension Plan) hired in positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly 
standard must be enrolled in IMRF as participating members. 

 
  The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized 
when earned in the year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are 
recognized as an expense and liability when due and payable. 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 

 

  Plan Membership 

 

  At December 31, 2017 (the measurement date), IMRF membership consisted of: 

 

Inactive employees or their beneficiaries  

  currently receiving benefits   57 

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits   26 

Active employees   44 

  

TOTAL   127 

 

  Benefits Provided 

 

  IMRF provides two tiers of pension benefits. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2011 

are eligible for Tier 1 benefits. For Tier 1 employees, pension benefits vest after eight 

years of service. Participating members who retire at age 55 (reduced benefits) or after 

age 60 (full benefits) with eight years of credited service are entitled to an annual 

retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, in an amount equal to 1 2/3% of their final 

rate of earnings, for each year of credited service up to 15 years, and 2% for each year 

thereafter.  

 

  Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011 are eligible for Tier 2 benefits. For Tier 2 

employees, pension benefits vest after ten years of service. Participating members who 

retire at age 62 (reduced benefits) or after age 67 (full benefits) with ten years of 

credited service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, 

in an amount equal to 1 2/3% of their final rate of earnings, for each year of credited 

service up to 15 years, and 2% for each year thereafter. IMRF also provides death and 

disability benefits. These benefit provisions and all other requirements are established 

by state statute. 

 

  Contributions 

 

  Participating members are required to contribute 4.50% of their annual salary to IMRF. 

The City is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to fund IMRF as 

specified by statute. The employer contribution rate for the calendar years ended 2017 

and 2018 was 9.79% and 9.55%, respectively, of covered payroll. 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 

 

  Actuarial Assumptions 

 

  The City’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2017 and the total 

pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 

actuarial valuation performed as of the same date using the following actuarial 

methods and assumptions.  

 

Actuarial valuation date December 31, 2017 

  

Actuarial cost method  Entry-age normal 

  

Assumptions  

 Inflation 2.75% 

  

 Salary increases 3.75% to 14.50% 

  

 Interest rate 7.50% 

  

 Cost of living adjustment 3.00% 

  

Asset valuation method  Market value 

 

For nondisabled retirees, an IMRF specific mortality table was used with fully 

generational projection scale MP-2014 (base year 2012). IMRF specific rates were 

developed from the RP-2014 Blue Collar Health Annuitant Mortality Table with 

adjustments to match current IMRF experience. For disabled retirees, an IMRF 

specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection scale MP-2014 

(base year 2012). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Disabled 

Retirees Mortality Table applying the same adjustment that were applied for 

nondisabled lives. For active members, an IMRF specific mortality table was used 

with fully generational projection scale MP-2014 (base year 2012). IMRF specific 

rates were developed from the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Table with adjustments 

to match current IMRF experience. 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 

 

  Discount Rate 

 

 The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%. The projection 

of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions 

will be made at the current contribution rate and that the City contributions will be 

made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates 

and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the IMRF’s fiduciary net position 

was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 

plan members. 

 

  Changes in the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 

 

  

(a) 

Total 

 

(b) 

Plan 

(a) - (b) 

Net  

Pension 

 Pension 

Liability 

Fiduciary  

Net Position 

Liability 

(Asset) 

    

BALANCES AT  

  JANUARY 1, 2017 

 

$ 16,019,729 

 

$ 14,687,218 

 

$ 1,332,511 

    

Changes for the period    

 Service cost   294,864   -   294,864 

 Interest   1,180,963   -   1,180,963 

 Difference between expected    

   and actual experience    (122,986)   -   (122,986) 

 Changes in assumptions   (518,345)   -   (518,345) 

 Employer contributions   -   264,612   (264,612) 

 Employee contributions   -   121,630   (121,630) 

 Net investment income   -   2,604,966   (2,604,966) 

 Benefit payments and refunds   (841,981)   (841,981)   - 

 Other   -   (342,393)   342,393 

    

  Net changes   (7,485)   1,806,834   (1,814,319) 

    

BALANCES AT  

  DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 

$ 16,012,244 

 

$ 16,494,052 

 

$ (481,808) 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 
  Changes in the Net Pension Liability (Asset) (Continued) 
 
  Net pension liability (asset) was reported as follows in the statement of net position: 
 

Governmental activities  $ (155,568) 
Business-type activities (proprietary fund)   (326,240) 

  
TOTAL NET PENSION LIABILITY $ (481,808) 

 
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  
  Resources 
 
For the year ended April 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of $210,964.  
 
At December 31, 2017, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to IMRF from the following sources: 
 
 Deferred 

Outflows of 
Deferred 

Inflows of 
Net Deferred 
Outflow of 

 Resources Resources Resources 

    

Difference between expected and  
  actual experience 

 
$ - 

 
$ 324,037 

 
$ (324,037) 

Changes in assumption   4,448   406,383   (401,935) 
Net difference between projected and 
  actual earnings on pension plan  
  investments 

 
 
  438,777 

 
 
  1,226,684 

 
 
  (787,907) 

Contributions after measurement date   94,664   -   94,664 

    
TOTAL $ 537,889 $ 1,957,104 $(1,419,215) 

 
Net deferred outflows of resources was reported as follows in the statement of net 
position: 
 
Governmental activities  $ (458,242) 
Business-type activities (proprietary fund)   (960,973) 

  
NET DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ (1,419,215) 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 

 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources (Continued) 

 

$94,664 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 

city contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a 

reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended April 30, 2019. Other amounts 

reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 

IMRF will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

Year Ending    

December 31,   

   

2018  $ (403,644) 

2019    (319,538) 

2020    (445,155) 

2021    (345,542) 

   

TOTAL  $ (1,513,879) 

 

  Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 

  The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability (asset) to changes in 

the discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability (asset) of the City 

calculated using the discount rate of 7.50% as well as what the City’s net pension 

liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage 

point lower (6.50%) or 1 percentage point higher (8.50%) than the current rate:  

 

  

1% Decrease 

Current  

Discount Rate 

 

1% Increase 

 (6.50%) (7.50%) (8.50%) 

    

Net pension liability (asset) $ 1,576,081 $ (481,808) $ (2,177,747) 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan 
 
  Plan Administration 
 
  Police sworn personnel are covered by the Police Pension Plan. Although this is a 

single-employer pension plan, the defined benefits and employee and employer 
contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40 ILCS 5/3-1) and 
may be amended only by the Illinois legislature. The City accounts for the plan as a 
pension trust fund.  

 
  The plan is governed by a five-member Board of Trustees. Two members of the board 

are appointed by the City’s Mayor, one member is elected by pension beneficiaries 
and two members are elected by active police employees. 

 
  The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized 
when earned in the year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are 
recognized as an expense and liability when due and payable. 

 
  Plan Membership 
 
  At April 30, 2018, the measurement date, the Police Pension Plan membership 

consisted of: 
 

Inactive plan members currently receiving benefits   18 
Inactive plan members entitled to benefits but not  
  yet receiving them   3 
Current employees   21 

  
TOTAL   42 

 
  Benefits Provided 
 
  The Police Pension Plan provides retirement benefits through two tiers of benefits as 

well as death and disability benefits. Tier 1 employees (those hired prior to January 1, 
2011) attaining the age of 50 or older with 20 or more years of creditable service are 
entitled to receive an annual retirement benefit equal to one-half of the salary attached 
to the rank held on the last day of service, or for one year prior to the last day, 
whichever is greater. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.50% of such salary 
for each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum of 75% 
of such salary.   
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Benefits Provided  (Continued) 

 

  Employees with at least eight years but less than 20 years of credited service may retire 

at or after age 60 and receive a reduced benefit. The monthly benefit of a police officer 

who retired with 20 or more years of service after January 1, 1977 shall be increased 

annually, following the first anniversary date of retirement and be paid upon reaching 

the age of at least 55 years, by 3% of the original pension and 3% compounded 

annually thereafter.  

 

  Tier 2 employees (those hired on or after January 1, 2011) attaining the age of 55 or 

older with ten or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual 

retirement benefit equal to the average monthly salary obtained by dividing the total 

salary of the police officer during the 96 consecutive months of service within the last 

120 months of service in which the total salary was the highest by the number of 

months of service in that period. Police officers’ salary for pension purposes is capped 

at $106,800, plus the lesser of ½ of the annual change in the Consumer Price Index or 

3% compounded. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.50% of such salary for 

each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum of 75% of 

such salary. Employees with at least ten years may retire at or after age 50 and receive 

a reduced benefit (i.e., ½% for each month under 55). The monthly benefit of a Tier 2 

police officer shall be increased annually at age 60 on the January 1st after the police 

officer retires, or the first anniversary of the pension starting date, whichever is later. 

Noncompounding increases occur annually, each January thereafter. The increase is 

the lesser of 3% or ½ of the change in the Consumer Price Index for the proceeding 

calendar year. 

 

  Contributions 

 

  Employees are required by ILCS to contribute 9.91% of their base salary to the Police 

Pension Plan. If an employee leaves covered employment with less than 20 years of 

service, accumulated employee contributions may be refunded without accumulated 

interest. The City is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to finance 

the plan and the administrative costs as actuarially determined by an enrolled actuary. 

Effective January 1, 2011, the City has until the year 2040 to fund 100% of the past 

service cost for the Police Pension Plan. For the year ended April 30, 2018, the City’s 

contribution was 40.96% of covered payroll. The City’s policy is to fund 100% of the 

actuarially determined contribution. 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Investment Policy 
 
  ILCS limits the Police Pension Fund’s (the Fund) investments to those allowable by 

ILCS and require the Fund’s Board of Trustees to adopt an investment policy which 
can be amended by a majority vote of the Board of Trustees. The Fund’s investment 
policy authorizes the Fund to make deposits/invest in insured commercial banks, 
savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, 
insured credit union shares, money market mutual funds with portfolios of securities 
issued or guaranteed by the United States Government or agreements to repurchase 
these same obligations, repurchase agreements, short-term commercial paper rated 
within the three highest classifications by at least two standard rating services, 
investment grade corporate bonds and The Illinois Funds. The Fund may also invest 
in certain non-U.S. obligations, Illinois municipal corporations tax anticipation 
warrants, veteran’s loans, obligations of the State of Illinois and its political 
subdivisions, Illinois insurance company general and separate accounts, mutual funds 
and corporate equity securities and real estate investment trusts. 

 
  The Fund’s investment manager establishes the following target allocation across asset 

classes:  
 

 
 

Asset Class 

 
 

Target 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return 

   
Large Cap Domestic Equity 30% 5.70% 
   
Mid Cap Domestic Equity 5% 8.10% 
   
Small Cap Domestic Equity 5% 9.30% 
   
Real Estate 2% 6.40% 
   
International Equity 5% 3.00% 
   
Fixed Income 53% 2.30% 

 
  The long-term expected real rates of return are net of a 2% factor for inflation. ILCS 

limit the Fund’s investments in equities, mutual funds and variable annuities to 65%. 
Securities in any one company should not exceed 5% of the total fund.  
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Investment Policy (Continued) 
   
  The long-term expected rate of return was developed using the Dimensional Matrix 

Book 2017 Historical Returns Data.  
 
 Investment Concentrations 

 
  There are no significant investments (other than United States Government guaranteed 

obligations) in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the Fund’s 
investments. 

 
  Investment Rate of Return   
 
  For the year ended April 30, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 

pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was 1.76%. The 
money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment 
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

 
  Deposits with Financial Institutions  
 
  Custodial credit risk for deposits with financial institutions is the risk that in the event 

of a bank’s failure, the Fund’s deposits may not be returned to them. The Fund’s 
investment policy requires all bank balances to be covered by federal depository 
insurance. 

 
  Interest Rate Risk 
 
  The following table presents the investments and maturities of the Fund’s debt 

securities as of April 30, 2018:   
 

  Investment Maturities (in Years) 

 
Investment Type 

 
Fair Value 

Less than  
1 

 
1-5 

 
6-10 

Greater than 
10 

      
U.S. Treasury obligations $ 367,680 $ - $ 162,552 $ 173,868 $ 31,260 
U.S. agency obligations   47,143   -   -   8,731   38,412 
Municipal bonds   215,037   215,037   -   -   - 
Corporate bonds 1,185,514 - 1,110,765 74,749 - 
Negotiable certificates of  
  deposit 

 
  1,713,446 

 
  798,567 

 
  914,879 

 
  - 

 
  - 

      
TOTAL $ 3,528,820 $ 1,013,604 $ 2,188,196 $ 257,348 $ 69,672 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Interest Rate Risk (Continued) 

 

  The Fund has the following recurring fair value measurements as of April 30, 2018: 

The common stock and mutual funds are valued using quoted prices in active markets 

for identical assets (Level 1 inputs). The U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. agency 

obligations, negotiable certificates of deposits, corporate bonds and municipal bonds 

are valued using quoted matrix pricing models (Level 2 inputs). The annuities 

valuation methodology is unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement 

(Level 3 inputs). 

 

  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the Fund limits its 

exposure to interest rate risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for 

operating funds and maximizing yields for funds not needed for expected current cash 

flows. The investment policy does not limit the maximum maturity length of 

investments in the Fund.  

 

  Credit Risk  

 

  Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligations to 

the holder of the investment in securities allowed under the investment policy. The 

Fund’s investment policy does not address credit risk. The Fund’s investment in 

municipal bonds are rated at A by Standard and Poor’s. The Fund’s investment in 

corporate bonds are rated at BB+ to AA by Standard and Poor’s. 

 

  Custodial Credit Risk   

 

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 

counterparty to the investment, the Fund will not be able to recover the value of its 

investments that are in possession of an outside party. To limit its exposure, the Fund’s 

investment policy requires all security transactions that are exposed to custodial credit 

risk to be processed on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis with the underlying 

investments held by a third party acting as the Fund’s agent separate from where the 

investment was purchased in the Fund’s name.  
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 

  

(a) 

Total Pension 

(b) 

Plan 

Fiduciary 

(a) - (b) 

Net  

Pension 

 Liability Net Position Liability 

    

BALANCES AT  

  MAY 1, 2017 

 

$ 13,604,441 

 

$ 7,065,013 

 

$ 6,539,428 

    

Changes for the period    

 Service cost   324,172   -   324,172 

 Interest   923,645   -   923,645 

 Difference between expected     

   and actual experience    139,752   -   139,752 

 Changes in assumptions   618,890   -   618,890 

 Employer contributions   -   487,114   (487,114) 

 Employee contributions   -   118,679   (118,679) 

 Net investment income   -   336,053   (336,053) 

 Benefit payments and refunds   (756,029)   (756,029)   - 

 Other   (48,872)   -   (48,872) 

 Administrative expense   -   (30,513)   30,513 

    

  Net changes   1,201,558   155,304   1,046,254 

    

BALANCES AT  

  APRIL 30, 2018 

 

$ 14,805,999 

 

$ 7,220,317 

 

$ 7,585,682 

 

  Actuarial Assumptions 

 

  The total pension liability above was determined by an actuarial valuation performed 

as of April 30, 2018 using the following actuarial methods and assumptions.  
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 

 

Actuarial valuation date April 30, 2018 

  

Actuarial cost method  Entry-age normal 

  

Assumptions  

 Inflation 2.50% 

  

 Salary increases 4.75% 

  

 Interest rate 7.00%, net of investment 

expenses 

  

 Cost of living adjustments Tier 1 - 3.00%, compounded 

Tier 2 - 2.00%, simple 

  

Asset valuation method Market 

 

  Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality with Blue Collar Adjustment 

Table (CHBCA).  

 

  Discount Rate 

 

  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7%. The projection 

of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions 

will be made at the current contribution rate and that the City’s contributions will be 

made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates 

and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Fund’s fiduciary net position 

was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 

plan members.  

 

  Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources 

 

For the year ended April 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of $1,023,520.  
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources (Continued) 
 
At April 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to the Police Pension Plan from the following sources: 
 
 Deferred 

Outflows of 
Deferred 

Inflows of 
 Resources Resources 

   

Difference between expected and actual experience $ 223,977 $ 103,429 
Changes in assumptions   875,109   - 
Net difference between projected and actual    
  earnings on pension plan investments   340,574   - 

   
TOTAL $ 1,439,660 $ 103,429 

 
Changes in the net pension liability related to the difference in actual and expected 
experience, or changes in assumptions regarding future events, are recognized in 
pension expense over the expected remaining service life of all employees (active and 
retired) in the plan. Differences in projected and actual earnings over the measurement 
period are recognized over a five-year period.  
 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to the Police Pension Plan will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ending 

  

April 30,   

   
2019  $ 384,440 
2020    384,438 
2021    268,490 
2022    175,601 
2023    123,262 
Thereafter    - 

   
TOTAL  $ 1,336,231 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 

  The following is a sensitive analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the 

discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability of the City calculated 

using the discount rate of 7% as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be 

if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6%) or 

1 percentage point higher (8%) than the current rate:  

 

  

1% Decrease 

Current  

Discount Rate 

 

1% Increase 

 (6%) (7%) (8%) 

    

Net pension liability $ 9,594,035 $ 7,585,682 $ 5,934,066 

 

  Firefighters’ Pension Plan  

 

  Plan Administration 

 

  Fire sworn personnel are covered by the Firefighters’ Pension Plan. Although this is a 

single-employer pension plan, the defined benefits and employee and employer 

contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40 ILCS 5/4-1) and 

may be amended only by the Illinois legislature. The City accounts for the plan as a 

pension trust fund.  

 

  The plan is governed by a five-member Board of Trustees. Two members of the board 

are appointed by the City’s Mayor, one member is elected by pension beneficiaries 

and two members are elected by active firefighter employees.  

 

  The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized 

when earned in the year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are 

recognized as an expense and liability when due and payable. 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Firefighters’ Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Plan Membership  

 

  At April 30, 2018, the measurement date, the Firefighters’ Pension Plan membership 

consisted of: 

 

Inactive plan members currently receiving benefits   19 

Inactive plan members entitled to benefits but not  

  yet receiving them   1 

Current employees   14 

  

TOTAL   34 

 

  Benefits Provided  

 

  The Firefighters’ Pension Plan provides retirement benefits through two tiers of 

benefits as well as death and disability benefits. Tier 1 employees (those hired prior to 

January 1, 2011) attaining the age of 50 or older with 20 or more years of creditable 

service are entitled to receive an annual retirement benefit equal to ½ of the salary 

attached to the rank held at the date of retirement. The annual benefit shall be increased 

by 2.50% of such salary for each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 

years to a maximum of 75% of such salary. Employees with at least ten years but less 

than 20 years of credited service may retire at or after age 60 and receive a reduced 

benefit. The monthly benefit of a covered employee who retired with 20 or more years 

of service after January 1, 1977 shall be increased annually, following the first 

anniversary date of retirement and be paid upon reaching the age of at least 55 years, 

by 3% of the original pension and 3% compounded annually thereafter.  

 

  Tier 2 employees (those hired on or after January 1, 2011) attaining the age of 55 or 

older with ten or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual 

retirement benefit equal to the average monthly salary obtained by dividing the total 

salary of the firefighter during the 96 consecutive months of service within the last 

120 months of service in which the total salary was the highest by the number of 

months of service in that period. Firefighters’ salary for pension purposes is capped at 

$106,800, plus the lesser of ½ of the annual change in the Consumer Price Index or 

3% compounded. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.50% of such salary for 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Firefighters’ Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Benefits Provided (Continued) 

 

each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum of 75% of 

such salary. Employees with at least ten years may retire at or after age 50 and receive 

a reduced benefit (i.e., ½% for each month under 55). The monthly benefit of a Tier 2 

firefighter shall be increased annually at age 60 on the January 1st after the firefighter 

retires, or the first anniversary of the pension starting date, whichever is later. 

Noncompounding increases occur annually, each January thereafter. The increase is 

the lesser of 3% or ½ of the change in the Consumer Price Index for the proceeding 

calendar year. 

 

  Contributions 

 

  Covered employees are required by ILCS to contribute 9.455% of their base salary to 

the Firefighters’ Pension Plan. If an employee leaves covered employment with less 

than 20 years of service, accumulated employee contributions may be refunded 

without accumulated interest. The City is required to finance the plan and the 

administrative costs as actuarially determined by an enrolled actuary. Effective 

January 1, 2011, the City has until the year 2040 to fund 100% of the past services 

costs for the Firefighters’ Pension Plan. For the year ended April 30, 2018, the City’s 

contribution was 33.10% of covered payroll. The City’s policy is to fund 100% of the 

actuarially determined contribution. 

 

  Investment Policy  

 

 Permitted Deposits and Investments - Statutes and the Firefighter’s Pension Fund’s 

(the Fund) investment policy authorize the Fund to make deposits/invest in insured 

commercial banks, savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and 

U.S. agencies, insured credit union shares, money market mutual funds with portfolios 

of securities issued or guaranteed by the United States Government or agreements to 

repurchase these same obligations, repurchase agreements, short-term commercial 

paper rated within the three highest classifications by at least two standard rating 

services, investment grade corporate bonds and The Illinois Funds. The Fund may also 

invest in certain non-U.S. obligations, Illinois municipal corporations tax anticipation 

warrants, veteran’s loans, obligations of the State of Illinois and its political 

subdivisions, Illinois insurance company general and separate accounts, mutual funds 

and corporate equity securities.  
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Firefighters’ Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Investment Policy (Continued) 

 

  The Fund’s investment manager establishes the following target allocation across asset 

classes:  

 

 

 

Asset Class 

 

 

Target 

Long-Term 

Expected Real 

Rate of Return 

   

Equity 25%-45% 4.85% 

   

Fixed Income 45%-100% 2.55% 

   

Cash and Cash Equivalents 0%-5% 0.00% 

 

  The long-term expected real rates of return are net of a 2.10% factor for inflation. ILCS 

limits the Fund’s investments in equities, mutual funds and variable annuities to 65%. 

Securities in any one company should not exceed 5% of the total fund. 

 

  Investment Concentrations 

 

  There are no significant investments (other than United States Government guaranteed 

obligations) in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the Fund’s 

investment. 

 

  Investment Rate of Return  

 

  For the year ended April 30, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 

pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was 5.61%. The 

money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment 

expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

 
  Deposits with Financial Institutions  
 
  Custodial credit risk for deposits with financial institutions is the risk that in the event 

of a bank’s failure, the Fund’s deposits may not be returned to them. The Fund’s 
investment policy requires all bank balances to be covered by federal depository 
insurance. 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Firefighters’ Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Interest Rate Risk 

 

  The following table presents the investments and maturities of the Fund’s debt 

securities as of April 30, 2018:  

 
  Investment Maturities (in Years) 

 

Investment Type 

 

Fair Value 

Less 

than 1 

 

1-5 

 

6-10 

Greater 

than 10 

      

U.S. Treasury obligations $ 2,651,009 $ 354,449 $ 1,687,316 $ 609,244 $ - 

U.S. agency obligations   230,509   141,857   88,652   -   - 

Corporate bonds   498,385   176,887   321,498   -   - 

Mortgage pools   48,592   154   1,084   5,545   41,809 

      

TOTAL $ 3,428,495 $ 673,347 $ 2,098,550 $ 614,789 $ 41,809 

 

  The Fund has the following recurring fair value measurements as of April 30, 2018: 

the common stock and mutual funds are valued using quoted prices in active markets 

for identical assets (Level 1 inputs). The U.S. agency obligations, U.S. Treasury 

obligations, mortgage pools and corporate bonds are valued using quoted matrix 

pricing models (Level 2 inputs).  

 

  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the Fund limits its 

exposure to interest rate risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for 

operating funds and maximizing yields for funds not needed for expected current cash 

flows. The investment policy does not limit the maximum maturity length of 

investments in the Fund.  

 

  Credit Risk  

 

  Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligations to 

the holder of the investment in securities allowed under the investment policy. The 

Fund’s investment policy allows investment in corporate bonds rated as investment 

grade by one of the two largest rating services at the time of purchase. The Fund’s 

investment in corporate bonds are rated at or above BBB+ by Standard and Poor’s. 

The Fund’s investment in agency securities are rated at AA+ by Standard and Poor’s.  
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

 

  Firefighters’ Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Custodial Credit Risk  

 

  Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 

counterparty to the investment, the Fund will not be able to recover the value of its 

investments that are in possession of an outside party. The Fund’s investment policy 

requires investments to be held by a third party custodian in a custodian trust account 

designated by the Treasurer or authorized depository. All individual security 

transactions are required to be conducted on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis. 

 

  Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 

  

(a) 

Total Pension 

(b) 

Plan 

Fiduciary 

(a) - (b) 

Net  

Pension 

 Liability Net Position Liability 

    

BALANCES AT  

  MAY 1, 2017 

 

$ 10,726,642 

 

$ 6,791,132 

 

$ 3,935,510 

    

Changes for the period    

 Service cost   319,389   -   319,389 

 Interest   626,860   -   626,860 

 Difference between expected     

   and actual experience    208,429   -   208,429 

 Changes in assumptions   684,577   -   684,577 

 Employer contributions   -   268,245   (268,245) 

 Employee contributions   -   75,968   (75,968) 

 Net investment income   -   386,831   (386,831) 

 Benefit payments and refunds   (515,017)   (515,017)   - 

 Other   (36,267)   -   (36,267) 

 Administrative expense   -   (16,841)   16,841 

    

  Net changes   1,287,971   199,187   1,088,785 

    

BALANCES AT  

  APRIL 30, 2018 

 

$ 12,014,613 

 

$ 6,990,318 

 

$ 5,024,295 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Firefighters’ Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Actuarial Assumptions 
 
  The total pension liability above was determined by an actuarial valuation performed 

as of April 30, 2018 using the following actuarial methods and assumptions.  
 
  The total pension liability above was determined by an actuarial valuation performed 

as of April 30, 2018 using the following actuarial methods and assumptions.  
 

Actuarial valuation date April 30, 2018 
  
Actuarial cost method  Entry-age normal 
  
Assumptions  
 Inflation 2.50% 
  
 Salary increases 5.00% 
  
 Interest rate 6.00% 
  
 Cost of living adjustments Tier 1 - 3.00%, compounded 

Tier 2 - 2.00%, simple 
  
Asset valuation method  Market 

 
  Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 with Blue Collar Adjustment Mortality 

Table project to 2018 with scale MP2017. There is no margin for future mortality 
improvement beyond the valuation date. 

 
  Discount Rate 
 
  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6%. The projection 

of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions 
will be made at the current contribution rate and that the City’s contributions will be 
made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates 
and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Fund’s fiduciary net position 
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the 
total pension liability.   
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
  
  Firefighters’ Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources 
 
For the year ended April 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of $807,793.  
 
At April 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to the Firefighters’ Pension Plan from the following 
sources: 
 
 Deferred 

Outflows of 
Deferred 

Inflows of 
 Resources Resources 

   

Difference between expected and actual experience $ 371,354 $ 12,035 
Assumption changes 543,564  - 
Net difference between projected and actual    
  earnings on pension plan investments   163,048   67,801 

   
TOTAL $ 1,077,966 $ 79,836 

 
Changes in the net pension liability related to the difference in actual and expected 
experience, or changes in assumptions regarding future events, are recognized in 
pension expense over the expected remaining service life of all employees (active and 
retired) in the plan. Differences in projected and actual earnings over the measurement 
period are recognized over a five-year period.  
 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to the Firefighters’ Pension Plan will be recognized in pension expense as 
follows: 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ending 

  

April 30,   
   
2019  $ 338,819 
2020    338,817 
2021    164,274 
2022    156,222 
2023    (2) 
Thereafter    - 

   
TOTAL  $ 998,130 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 

  

  Firefighters’ Pension Plan (Continued) 

 

  Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 

  The following is a sensitive analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the 

discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability of the City calculated 

using the discount rate of 6% as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be 

if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (5%) or 1 

percentage point higher (7%) than the current rate:  

 

  

1% Decrease 

Current 

Discount Rate 

 

1% Increase 

 (5%) (6%) (7%) 

    

Net pension liability $ 6,714,942 $ 5,024,295 $ 3,644,313 

 

 b. Pension Segment Information  

 

  Plan Net Position  

 

 Police  

Pension 

Firefighters’ 

Pension 

 

Total 

    

ASSETS    

 Cash  $ 262,175 $ 430,401 $ 692,576 

 Investments     

  U.S. agency obligations   47,143   230,509   277,652 

  U.S. Treasuries   367,680   2,651,009   3,018,689 

  Common stock   1,645,212   636,833   2,282,045 

  Mutual funds   1,166,956   2,472,183   3,639,139 

  Corporate bonds    1,185,514   498,385   1,683,899 

  Negotiable certificates of deposit   1,713,446   -   1,713,446 

  Municipal bonds   215,037   -   215,037 

  Mortgage pools   -   48,592   48,592 

  Annuities   592,928   -   592,928 

 Accrued interest receivable   22,567   23,140   45,707 

 Prepaid items   3,690   692   4,382 

    

   Total assets   7,222,348   6,991,744   14,214,092 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 b. Pension Segment Information (Continued) 

 

  Plan Net Position (Continued) 

 

 Police  

Pension 

Firefighters’ 

Pension 

 

Total 

    

LIABILITIES    

 Accounts payable $ 2,032 $ 1,426 $ 3,458 

    

   Total liabilities   2,032   1,426   3,458 

    

NET POSITION RESTRICTED 

  FOR PENSIONS 

 

$ 7,220,316 

  

$ 6,990,318 

 

$ 14,210,634 

 

  Changes in Plan Net Position 

 

 Police  

Pension 

Firefighters’ 

Pension 

 

Total 

    

ADDITIONS    

 Contributions    

  Employer contributions $ 487,114 $ 268,245 $ 755,359 

  Employee contributions   118,679   75,968   194,647 

    

   Total contributions   605,793   344,213   950,006 

    

 Investment income    

  Net depreciation in fair  

    value investments 

 

  271,714 

 

  304,497 

 

  576,211 

  Interest   82,697   101,760   184,457 

    

   Total investment income   354,411   406,257   760,668 

    

  Less investment expense   (18,359)   (19,426)   (37,785) 

    

   Net investment income   336,052   386,831   722,883 

    

   Total additions   941,845   731,044   1,672,889 
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6. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued)  

 

 b. Pension Segment Information (Continued) 

 

  Changes in Plan Net Position (Continued) 

 

 Police  

Pension 

Firefighters’ 

Pension 

 

Total 

    

DEDUCTIONS    

 Benefits and refunds $ 756,029 $ 515,017 $ 1,271,046 

 Other   30,513   16,841   47,354 

    

   Total deductions   786,542   531,858   1,318,400 

    

NET INCREASE   155,303   199,186   354,489 

    

NET POSITION RESTRICTED 

  FOR PENSIONS 

   

    

 May 1   7,065,013   6,791,132   13,856,145 

    

 April 30 $ 7,220,316 $ 6,990,318 $ 14,210,634 

 

7. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

 The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and 

destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; illnesses of employees; 

and natural disasters. 

 

 Intergovernmental Personnel Benefit Cooperative  

 

 The City participates in the Intergovernmental Personnel Benefit Cooperative (IPBC). IPBC 

is a public entity risk pool established by certain units of local government in Illinois to 

administer some or all of the personnel benefit programs (primarily medical, dental and life 

insurance coverage) offered by these members to their officers and employees and to the 

officers and employees of certain other governmental, quasi governmental and nonprofit 

public service entities. 

 

 IPBC receives, processes and pays such claims as may come within the benefit program of 

each member. Management consists of a Board of Directors comprised of one appointed 

representative from each member. In addition, there are two officers, a Benefit Administrator 

and a Treasurer. The City does not exercise any control over the activities of IPBC beyond 

its representation on the Board of Directors. 
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 
 Municipal Insurance Cooperative Agency 
 
 The City participates in the Municipal Insurance Cooperative Agency (MICA). MICA is a 

public entity risk pool whose members are Illinois municipalities. MICA manages and funds 
first party property losses, third party liability claims, workers’ compensation claims and 
public officials’ liability claims of its members. MICA provides $1,800,000 of coverage 
after a $1,000 deductible. The City’s payments to MICA are displayed on the financial 
statements as expenditures/expenses in appropriate funds. 

 
 Management consists of a Board of Directors comprised of one appointed representative 

from each member. In addition, there are three officers, a Risk Manager and a Treasurer. 
The City does not exercise any control over activities of MICA beyond its representation on 
the Board of Directors. MICA functions solely as an administrative agent for each member. 

 

8. CONTRACTS, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
 a. Litigation 
 
  The City is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is 

not presently determinable, in the opinion of the City’s attorney the resolution of these 
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the City.  

 
 b. Grants 
 
  Amounts received and receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and 

adjustment by grantor agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed 
claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the 
applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the 
grantor cannot be determined at this time although the City expects such amounts, if 
any, to be immaterial. 

 

9. TAX ABATEMENTS 

 

 The City rebates property taxes to recruit, retain or improve local business facilities or their 
supporting public infrastructure under certain circumstances and as an annexation 
inducement. The terms of these rebate arrangements are specified within written agreements 
with the individuals and businesses concerned.  

 
 For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, the City rebated its share of property taxes paid by 

a local business to induce the investment of private capital and reverse the economic and 
physical decline of the area. This agreement ended effective December 18, 2017. The City’s 
share of the abatement granted amounted to $17,729 for the year ended April 30, 2018.  
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10. INDIVIDUAL FUND DISCLOSURES 

 
 a. Due From/To Other Funds  
 
  Due from/to other funds at April 30, 2018 consisted of the following:  
 

 Due 
From 

Due  
To 

   
General Fund $ 88,547 $ - 
Nonmajor Governmental   -   88,547 
Electric Fund   299,296   - 
Municipal Broadband   -   299,296 

   
TOTAL $ 387,843 $ 387,843 

 

  All due from/to balances are to fund temporary cash shortfalls.  

 

 b. Advances To/From 

 

  Advances to/from other funds at April 30, 2018 consisted of the following: 

 
 Advance 

To 

Advance 

From 

   

General Fund $ 561,961 $ - 

Municipal Water Fund  36,050  30,000 

Municipal Electric Fund  -  558,499 

Municipal Sewer Fund  -  36,050 

Municipal Garbage  -  10,000 

Municipal Broadband   36,538  - 

   

TOTAL $ 634,549 $ 634,549 

 

  The purposes of significant advances to/from other funds are as follows: 

 

  $199,976 was advanced from the Municipal Electric Fund to the General Fund to fund 

the East 2nd Street road along the riverfront. Repayment is not expected within one year. 

 

  $36,050 was advanced from the Municipal Sewer Fund to the Municipal Water Fund to 

fund the costs of the watermain extension. Repayment is not expected within one year. 

 

  $42,500 was advanced from the Municipal Electric Fund to the General Fund to fund the 

costs to hire a new City Administrator. Repayment is not expected within one year. 
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10. INDIVIDUAL FUND DISCLOSURES (Continued) 
 
 b. Advances To/From (Continued)  
 
  $36,539 was advanced from the Municipal Electric Fund to the Municipal Broadband 

Fund to fund the start-up costs of this fund. Repayment is not expected within one year. 
 
  $30,000 was advanced from the Municipal Water Fund to the General Fund to fund cash 

flow shortages. Repayment is not expected within one year. 
 
  $10,000 was advanced from the Municipal Garbage Fund to the General Fund to fund 

cash flow shortages in this fund. Repayment is not expected within one year. 
 
  $279,484 was advanced from the Municipal Electric Fund to the General Fund to fund 

the purchase of the Hallman property.  
 
 c. Interfund Transfers 
 
  Interfund transfers during the year ended April 30, 2018 consisted of the following: 
 

 Transfer 
In 

Transfer 
Out 

   
Governmental Activities $ 4,765,702 $ - 
General Fund   583,465 $ - 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds   195,728   4,902,734 
Municipal Water Fund   -   56,616 
Municipal Electric Fund   18,300   157,362 
Municipal Sewer Fund   -   56,598 
Municipal Garbage Fund   - 74,928 
Fiber Optic Broadband Fund   4,469,045   4,784,002 

   
TOTAL $ 10,032,240 $ 10,032,240 

 
  $4,765,702 was transferred from the Fiber Optic Broadband Fund into the 

Governmental Activities to transfer the debt issued into business-type activities. 
 
  $4,469,045 was transferred from Nonmajor Governmental Funds into the Fiber Optic 

Broadband Fund to reclassify the fund as an enterprise fund effective in fiscal year 
2018. 

 
  Other significant transfers were used to (a) move revenues collected in special 

revenue, enterprise and internal service funds to fund the General Fund for 
expenditures; (b) move revenues to the debt service fund for debt service; and (c) 
transfer the residual balances of funds closed.  
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS  

 
 a. Plan Description 
 
  The City provides postemployment health care benefits (OPEB) for retired employees 

through a single-employer defined benefit plan. The benefits, benefit levels, employee 
contributions and employer contributions are governed by the City and can be 
amended by the City through its personnel manual and union contracts. The plan is 
not accounted for as a trust fund, as an irrevocable trust has not been established to 
account for the plan. The activity of the plan is reported in the City’s governmental 
activities, proprietary fund and business-type activities columns in the 
government-wide financial statements at April 30, 2018. 

 
 b. Benefits Provided 
 
  The City provides postemployment health care benefits to its retirees. To be eligible 

for benefits, an employee must qualify for retirement under one of the City’s 
retirement plans. Elected officials are eligible for benefits if they qualify for retirement 
through IMRF. 

 
  The benefit levels are the same as those afforded to active employees. Benefits include 

general inpatient and outpatient medical services; mental, nervous and substance abuse 
care; vision care; dental care; and prescriptions. Upon a retiree reaching age 65 years 
of age, Medicare becomes the primary insurer and the City’s plan becomes secondary. 

 
 c. Membership 
 
  At April 30, 2018, membership consisted of: 
 

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving  
  benefits    8 
Terminated employees entitled to benefits but  
  not yet receiving them   1 
Active employees   80 

  
TOTAL   89 

  
Participating employers   1 

 
 d. Funding Policy 
 
  The City negotiates the contribution percentages between the City and employees 

through the union contracts and personnel policy. Active employees do not contribute 
to the plan until retirement. 
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 

 

 e. Annual OPEB Costs and Net OPEB Obligation 

 

  The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the 

plan and the net OPEB obligation for 2016, 2017 and 2018 were as follows: 

 

 

Fiscal 

Year 

Ended 

 

Annual 

OPEB 

Cost 

 

 

Employer 

Contributions 

Percentage of 

Annual OPEB 

Cost 

Contributed 

 

 

Net OPEB  

Obligation 

     

2016 $ 63,370 $ 28,773   45.40% $ 201,662 

2017   63,998   28,773   44.96%   236,887 

2018   116,904   57,097   48.84%   293,911 

 

 The net OPEB obligation (NOPEBO) as April 30, 2018 was calculated as follows: 

 

Annual required contribution $ 115,901 

Interest on net OPEB obligation   9,364 

Adjustment to annual required contribution   (11,144) 

  

Annual OPEB cost   114,121 

Contributions made   57,097 

  

Increase in net OPEB obligation   57,024 

Net OPEB obligation, beginning of year   236,887 

  

NET OPEB OBLIGATION, END OF YEAR $ 293,911 

 

  Funded Status and Funding Progress. The funded status of the plan as of April 30, 

2018 was as follows: 

 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 1,578,432 

Actuarial value of plan assets   - 

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL)   1,578,432 

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL)   0.00% 

Covered payroll (active plan members) $ 4,458,447 

UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll   35.40% 
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 e. Annual OPEB Costs and Net OPEB Obligation (Continued) 
 
  Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported 

amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the 
future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality and the 
healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and 
the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as 
actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about 
the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information following the notes to financial statements, presents multi-year trend 
information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

 
  Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. Projections of benefits for financial reporting 

purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer 
and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each 
valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer 
and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include 
techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective 
of the calculations. 

 
  In the April 30, 2018 actuarial valuation, the entry-age actuarial cost method was used. 

The actuarial assumptions included 4% investment rate of return (net of administrative 
expenses) and an initial annual healthcare cost trend rate of 8% reduced to an ultimate 
healthcare cost trend rate of 4.50%. Both rates include a 3% inflation assumption. The 
actuarial value of assets was not determined as the City has not advance funded its 
obligation. The plan’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level 
percentage of projected payroll on an open 30-year basis.  

 
12. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT  
 

 In 2018, the City has recorded a prior period adjustment for a correction of a prior year error. 
  

The beginning net position reported for the City has been restated as follows: 
 
 Increase 
 (Decrease) 
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES  
 Prior period adjustment  
  Restatement - correction of an error  $ 139,822 
  
TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES $ 139,822 
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENT  
 
 On August 8, 2018, the City issued $8,470,000 General Obligation Alternate Revenue Source 

Bonds to fund construction projects of the City. 
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Variance

Original Final Over

Budget Budget Actual (Under)

REVENUES

Taxes 4,200,548$    4,200,548$    4,476,167$    275,619$       

Licenses and permits 69,500           69,500           132,075         62,575           

Intergovernmental 347,337         347,337         179,172         (168,165)       

Fines and fees 503,320         503,320         423,736         (79,584)         

Charges for services 832,886         832,886         840,405         7,519            

Investment income 4,000            4,000            13,756           9,756            

Reimbursements -                -                160,749         160,749         

Miscellaneous 57,000           57,000           28,093           (28,907)         

    

Total revenues 6,014,591      6,014,591      6,254,153      239,562         

    

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government 1,115,732      1,115,733      987,552         (128,181)       

Public safety 4,238,234      4,238,235      4,276,273      38,038           

Street and highways 1,201,012      1,201,012      1,143,435      (57,577)         

Public property division 221,815         296,815         526,759         229,944         

Capital outlay 159,675         159,675         136,190         (23,485)         

Debt service

Principal 103,769         103,769         176,769         73,000           

Interest and fiscal charges 62,049           62,049           73,216           11,167           

    

Total expenditures 7,102,286      7,177,288      7,320,194      142,906         

    

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES (1,087,695)    (1,162,697)    (1,066,041)    96,656           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 599,195         599,195         583,465         (15,730)         

Transfers (out) (42,500)         (42,500)         -                42,500           

    

Total other financing sources (uses) 556,695         556,695         583,465         26,770           

    

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (531,000)$     (606,002)$     (482,576)       123,426$       

   

FUND BALANCES, MAY 1 5,861,344      

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 5,378,768$    

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

GENERAL FUND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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(2) UAAL

Actuarial (4) as a

Actuarial (1) Accrued (3) Unfunded Percentage

Valuation Actuarial Liability Funded AAL (5) of Covered

Date Value of (AAL) Ratio (UAAL) Covered Payroll

April 30, Assets Entry-Age (1) / (2) (2) - (1) Payroll (4) / (5)

2013 -$              531,227$       0.00% 531,227$       4,333,183$    12.26%

2014 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

2015 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

2016 -                673,794         0.00% 673,794         4,292,077      15.70%

2017 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

2018 -                1,578,432      0.00% 1,578,432      4,458,447      35.40%

N/A - Not available - actuarial valuation not performed

April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2016 2017 2018

Actuarially determined contribution 291,340$         291,216$         266,688$         

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 

291,340           291,216           266,688           

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (Excess) -$                -$                -$                

Covered-employee payroll 2,654,803$      2,736,280$      2,739,117$      

Contributions as a percentage of 

  covered-employee payroll 10.97% 10.64% 9.74%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

The information presented was determined as part of the actuarial valuations as of January 1 of the

prior calendar year. Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation presented is as follows:

the actuarial cost method was entry-age normal; the amortization method was level percent of pay,

closed and the amortization period was 26 years; the asset valuation method was five-year smoothed

market; and the significant actuarial assumptions were an investment rate of return at 7.50% annually,

projected salary increases assumption of 3.75% to 14.50% compounded annually and postretirement

benefit increases of 3.00% compounded annually.

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of

information can be compiled, information will be presented for as many as is available.

  determined contribution

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND

Last Three Fiscal Years

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2015 2016 2017 2018

Actuarially determined contribution 267,066$         272,414$         348,352$         477,809$         

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 

  determined contribution 308,239           290,412           353,782           487,114           

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (Excess) (41,173)$         (17,998)$         (5,430)$           (9,305)$           

Covered-employee payroll 1,102,613$     1,064,782$     1,104,186$     1,189,107$     

Contributions as a percentage of  

  covered-employee payroll 27.96% 27.27% 32.04% 40.96%

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information

can be compiled, information will be presented for as many as is available.

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

POLICE PENSION FUND

Last Four Fiscal Years

The information presented was determined as part of the actuarial valuations as of May 1 of the prior fiscal year.

Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation presented is as follows: the actuarial cost method was

entry age normal; the amortization method was level percent of pay, closed and the amortization period was 23

years; the asset valuation method was at market value; and the significant actuarial assumptions were an investment

rate of return of 7.00% annually, projected salary increase assumption of 4.75% annually and postretirement benefit

increases of 2.50% compounded annually.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2015 2016 2017 2018

Actuarially determined contribution 95,127$         128,854$       273,915$       379,803$       

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 

  determined contribution  114,533         138,388         280,059         268,245         

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (Excess) (19,406)$        (9,534)$          (6,144)$          111,558$       

Covered-employee payroll 762,207$       752,088$       765,539$       810,351$       

Contributions as a percentage of  

  covered-employee payroll 15.03% 18.40% 36.58% 33.10%

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information

can be compiled, information will be presented for as many as is available.

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

FIREFIGHTERS' PENSION FUND

Last Four Fiscal Years

The information presented was determined as part of the actuarial valuations as of May 1 of the prior fiscal year.

Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation presented is as follows: the actuarial cost method was

entry age normal; the amortization method was level percent of pay, closed and the amortization period was 23

years; the asset valuation method was at market value; and the significant actuarial assumptions were an

investment rate of return of 6.00% annually, projected salary increase assumption of 5.00% annually and

postretirement benefit increases of 2.50% compounded annually.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Annual

Required 

Fiscal Employer Contribution Percentage

Year Contributions (ARC) Contributed

2013 18,973$           26,182$           72.47%

2014 18,973             26,182             72.47%

2015 5,541               42,980             12.89%

2016 28,773             63,370             45.40%

2017 28,773             63,370             45.40%

2018 57,097             115,901           49.26%

April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE DECEMBER 31, 2015 2016 2017

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 

Service cost 279,863$       279,969$           294,864$           

Interest 1,136,096      1,156,943          1,180,963          

Changes of benefit terms -                 -                     -                     

Differences between expected and actual experience (350,021)        (310,072)            (122,986)            

Changes of assumptions 19,649           (20,106)              (518,345)            

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (787,185)        (787,019)            (841,981)            

Net change in total pension liability 298,402         319,715             (7,485)                

Total pension liability - beginning 15,401,612    15,700,014        16,019,729        

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 15,700,014$  16,019,729$      16,012,244$      

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 

Contributions - employer 279,323$       297,091$           264,612$           

Contributions - member 115,831         120,442             121,630             

Net investment income 71,834           987,473             2,604,966          

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (787,185)        (787,019)            (841,981)            

Other (net transfer) 7,758             (181,091)            (342,393)            

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (312,439) 436,896 1,806,834

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 14,562,761    14,250,322        14,687,218        

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - ENDING 14,250,322$  14,687,218$      16,494,052$      

EMPLOYER'S NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET) 1,449,692$    1,332,511$        (481,808)$          

Plan fiduciary net position

  as a percentage of the total pension liability 90.77% 91.68% 103.01%

Covered-employee payroll 2,560,252$    2,676,502$        2,702,890$        

Employer's net pension liability (asset)

  as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 56.62% 49.79% (17.83%)

Notes to Required Supplementary Information:

Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2015 and 2016.

Changes in assumptions related to inflation rates, salary rates and mortality were made in 2017.

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be

compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available.

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S 

NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS   

ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND

Last Three Calendar Years

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE APRIL 30, 2015 2016 2017 2018

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 

Service cost 216,465$       274,906$       317,509$        324,172$        

Interest 769,429         872,412         880,069          923,645          

Changes of benefit terms -                 -                 -                  -                  

Differences between expected and actual experience 369,331         (207,901)        160,355          139,752          

Changes of assumptions 700,021         723,408         -                  618,890          

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (557,596)        (744,632)        (634,475)         (756,029)         

Other -                 (33,159)          (39,547)           (48,872)           

Net change in total pension liability 1,497,650      885,034         683,911          1,201,558       

Total pension liability - beginning 10,537,846    12,035,496    12,920,530     13,604,441     

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 12,035,496$  12,920,530$  13,604,441$   14,805,999$   

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 

Contributions - employer 308,239$       292,074$       353,782$        487,114$        

Contributions - member 104,929         111,587         107,338          118,679          

Net investment income 381,236         (52,930)          440,037          336,052          

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (557,595)        (744,632)        (634,475)         (756,029)         

Administrative expense (34,233)          (20,016)          (21,877)           (30,513)           

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 202,576 (413,917) 244,805 155,303

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 7,031,548      7,234,125      6,820,208       7,065,013       

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - ENDING 7,234,124$    6,820,208$    7,065,013$     7,220,316$     

EMPLOYER'S NET PENSION LIABILITY 4,801,372$    6,100,322$    6,539,428$     7,585,683$     

Plan fiduciary net position

  as a percentage of the total pension liability 60.11% 52.79% 51.93% 48.77%

Covered-employee payroll 1,102,613$    1,064,782$    1,104,186$     1,189,107$     

Employer's net pension liability

  as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 435.45% 572.92% 592.24% 637.93%

2015 - There was a change with respect to actuarial assumptions from the prior year to reflect revised expectations with respect

to future interest rates, mortality rates, disability rates, turnover rates and retirement rates.

2016 - There was a change with respect to actuarial assumptions from the prior year with respect to the discount rate.

2018 - There was a change with respect to actuarial assumptions from the prior year with respect to mortality rates.

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be compiled,

information will be presented for as many as is available.

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S 

NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS  

POLICE PENSION FUND

Last Four Fiscal Years

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE APRIL 30, 2015 2016 2017 2018

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 

Service cost 167,256$        291,703$        333,605$        319,389$        

Interest 434,427          554,370          604,643          626,860          

Changes of benefit terms -                 -                 -                 -                 

Differences between expected and actual experience 74,024           504,859          (21,802)          208,429          

Changes of assumptions 1,781,627       -                 -                 684,577          

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (426,303)        (452,555)        (482,662)        (515,017)        

Administrative expense -                 (42,515)          (47,634)          (36,267)          

Net change in total pension liability 2,031,031       855,862          386,150          1,287,971       

Total pension liability - beginning 7,453,599       9,484,630       10,340,492     10,726,642     

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 9,484,630$     10,340,492$   10,726,642$   12,014,613$   

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 

Contributions - employer 114,533$        138,388$        280,059$        268,245$        

Contributions - member 71,025           70,592           71,527           75,968           

Net investment income 371,945          (9,699)            470,151          386,831          

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (426,303)        (452,555)        (482,662)        (515,017)        

Administrative expense (17,739)          (42,515)          (28,103)          (16,841)          

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 113,461 (295,789) 310,972 199,186

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 6,662,488       6,775,949       6,480,160       6,791,132       

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - ENDING 6,775,949$     6,480,160$     6,791,132$     6,990,318$     

EMPLOYER'S NET PENSION LIABILITY 2,708,681$     3,860,332$     3,935,510$     5,024,295$     

Plan fiduciary net position

  as a percentage of the total pension liability 71.44% 62.66% 60.41% 58.18%

Covered-employee payroll 762,207$        752,088$        765,539$        810,351$        

Employer's net pension liability

  as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 355.37% 513.28% 514.08% 620.01%

2015 - There was a change with respect to actuarial assumptions from the prior year to reflect revised expectations with respect

to future interest rates, mortality rates, disability rates, turnover rates and retirement rates.

2018 - There was a change with respect to actuarial assumptions from the prior year with respect to mortality rates.

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S 

FIREFIGHTERS' PENSION FUND

Last Four Fiscal Years

NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS  

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be compiled,

information will be presented for as many as is available.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2015 2016 2017 2018

Annual money-weighted rate of return,

  net of investment expense 5.75% (1.06%) 4.87% 1.76%

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

POLICE PENSION FUND

Last Four Fiscal Years

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of

information can be compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2015 2016 2017 2018

Annual money-weighted rate of return,

  net of investment expense 5.64% (0.04%) 7.27% 5.61%

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

FIREFIGHTERS' PENSION FUND

Last Four Fiscal Years

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of

information can be compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS 

 

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 

April 30, 2018 

 

 

 

BUDGETS 

 

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with GAAP. Annual budgets are adopted for the General, 

Special Revenue and Enterprise Funds, except for the Motor Fuel Tax Bond Fund, Safe Passage 

Fund and Foreign Fire Insurance Fund. The appropriation ordinance represents the legal spending 

limits for the City. The budget is used to control those limits. The appropriation ordinance and 

budget was passed on June 20, 2017. All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year end. One budget 

amendment was made for the current fiscal year. 

 

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 

statements: 

 

The City Administrator submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year 

commencing the following May 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the 

means of financing them. 

 

 Public hearings are conducted by the City to obtain taxpayer comments. 

 

 Subsequently, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance. 

 

The legal level of budgetary control is at the fund level. The City Council can transfer budgeted 

amounts between line items; however, any revision altering both revenues and budgeted 

expenditures for any fund must be approved by a two-thirds council action. 

 

 Budgetary authority lapses at year end. 

 

The Workers’ Compensation Fund expenditures exceeded budgeted amounts by $17,430. 
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MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
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Variance

Original and Over

Final Budget Actual (Under)

REVENUES

Taxes

Property taxes

General 181,957$          181,424$        (533)$              

Police protection 54,587             54,428            (159)                

Fire protection 54,587             54,428            (159)                

Police pension 477,809           479,758          1,949              

Fire pension -                   260,888          260,888          

Road and bridge 50,000             59,765            9,765              

Emergency vehicle 24,712             24,819            107                 

Total property taxes 843,652           1,115,510       271,858          

State income/use/photo tax 935,866           840,258          (95,608)           

Non-home rule sales tax 818,000           812,292          (5,708)             

State sales tax 1,090,000         1,114,972       24,972            

State use tax 234,430           245,132          10,702            

Personal property replacement tax -                   14,714            14,714            

Video gaming 160,000           214,357          54,357            

Utility 118,600           118,932          332                 

Total taxes 4,200,548         4,476,167       275,619          

License and permits

Liquor 38,000             91,300            53,300            

Other 31,500             40,775            9,275              

Total license and permits 69,500             132,075          62,575            

Intergovernmental

Police grant -                   415                 415                 

Grant funds 262,500           93,921            (168,579)         

Acting Chief Reimbursement 84,837             84,836            (1)                    

Total intergovernmental 347,337           179,172          (168,165)         

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

(This schedule is continued on the following page.)
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Variance

Original and Over

Final Budget Actual (Under)

REVENUES (Continued)

Fines and fees

Circuit court 104,420$          90,839$          (13,581)$         

Bail and warrant fees 13,000             8,402              (4,598)             

Building permits 20,000             27,274            7,274              

Nicor franchise fee 15,900             15,558            (342)                

Telecommunication maintenance 225,000           149,795          (75,205)           

Cablevision 125,000           131,868          6,868              

Total fines and fees 503,320           423,736          (79,584)           

Charges for services

Street excavation/sidewalk repair 19,000             27,729            8,729              

Rent 76,786             62,860            (13,926)           

Capital cost recovery 490,000           479,617          (10,383)           

Wireless tower rental -                   12,257            12,257            

Administrative fees 8,100               16,202            8,102              

Fire protection 239,000           241,740          2,740              

Total charges for services 832,886           840,405          7,519              

Investment income 4,000               13,756            9,756              

Reimbursements -                   160,749          160,749          

Miscellaneous 57,000             28,093            (28,907)           

TOTAL REVENUES 6,014,591$       6,254,153$      239,562$        

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)

GENERAL FUND 

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

Variance

Original Final Over

Budget Budget Actual (Under)

GENERAL GOVERNMENT

Legislative expense  

Elected officials salaries 44,400$                 44,400$          48,000$           3,600$            

Mayor's expenses 600                        600                 550                  (50)                  

Codification or ordinances 5,000                     5,000              6,879               1,879              

Dues and subscriptions 1,284                     1,284              1,771               487                 

Consultants fee 43,200                   43,200            39,600             (3,600)             

GIS/IT technician expense 5,471                     5,471              6,362               891                 

Meetings and seminars 16,000                   16,000            7,326               (8,674)             

Telephone 600                        600                 921                  321                 

Office expenses 1,200                     1,200              3,768               2,568              

Miscellaneous 1,900                     1,900              5,543               3,643              

Contingency 58,788                   58,788            -                   (58,788)           

   

Total legislative expense 178,443                 178,443          120,720           (57,723)           

   

City Clerk

Salaries 139,343                 139,343          139,814           471                 

Elected officials' salaries 3,600                     3,600              186                  (3,414)             

Insurance expense 35,000                   35,000            41,866             6,866              

Dues and subscriptions 1,865                     1,865              1,983               118                 

Office expense 13,480                   13,480            13,418             (62)                  

Meetings and seminars 5,200                     5,200              4,099               (1,101)             

Telephone 1,680                     1,680              1,844               164                 

Miscellaneous charges 250                        250                 346                  96                   

Contingency 20,041                   20,041            -                   (20,041)           

   

Total City Clerk 220,459                 220,459          203,556           (16,903)           

City Administrator

Salaries 77,250                   77,250            77,794             544                 

Health insurance 15,500                   15,500            18,987             3,487              

Dues and subscriptions 205                        205                 405                  200                 

Telephone 1,000                     1,000              1,341               341                 

Meetings and seminars 1,000                     1,000              83                    (917)                

Fellowship allowance 100                        100                 -                   (100)                

Vehicle allowance 1,200                     1,200              1,200               -                  

Miscellaneous 250                        250                 50                    (200)                

Office supplies 2,000                     2,000              1,005               (995)                

Contingency 9,850                     9,850              -                   (9,850)             

Total City Administrator 108,355                 108,355          100,865           (7,490)             

Planning Commission

Printing/publishing ordinances 100                        100                 -                   (100)                

Dues and subscriptions 275                        275                 -                   (275)                

Postage and office supplies 500                        500                 20                    (480)                

Legal expenses 2,500                     2,500              4,226               1,726              

Meetings and seminars 450                        450                 -                   (450)                

Miscellaneous 50                          50                   -                   (50)                  

Contingency 387                        387                 -                   (387)                

Total Planning Commission 4,262                     4,262              4,246               (16)                  

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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Variance

Original Final Over

Budget Budget Actual (Under)

GENERAL GOVERNMENT (Continued)

Building inspector

Salary 134,675$               134,675$        126,464$         (8,211)$           

Insurance expense 30,511                   30,511            33,152             2,641              

Vehicle, gas, oil and maintenance 3,500                     3,500              1,262               (2,238)             

Dues and subscriptions 1,200                     1,200              1,390               190                 

Postage and office supplies -                         -                  465                  465                 

Telephone expense 1,380                     1,380              2,324               944                 

Office expense 8,000                     8,000              4,702               (3,298)             

Meetings and seminars 2,500                     2,500              1,670               (830)                

Legal expense 2,000                     2,000              204                  (1,796)             

Public awareness 500                        500                 -                   (500)                

Emergency code enforcement 500                        500                 -                   (500)                

Miscellaneous 1,000                     1,000              3,224               2,224              

Contingency 18,575                   18,576            -                   (18,576)           

   

Total building inspector 204,341                 204,342          174,857           (29,485)           

   

Code hearing

Software 8,000                     8,000              3,600               (4,400)             

MSI commission 7,600                     7,600              5,624               (1,976)             

Meetings and seminars 500                        500                 -                   (500)                

Legal expenses 500                        500                 148                  (352)                

Professional expense 8,700                     8,700              7,100               (1,600)             

Office supplies 1,400                     1,400              1,325               (75)                  

Miscellaneous -                         -                  628                  628                 

Contingency 2,780                     2,780              -                   (2,780)             

   

Total code hearing 29,480                   29,480            18,425             (11,055)           

Other expenses

Legal and professional 69,250                   69,250            48,704             (20,546)           

Auditing 27,000                   27,000            22,825             (4,175)             

Union drainage tax 5,000                     5,000              -                   (5,000)             

Insurance (general liability) 208,642                 208,642          208,859           217                 

Insurance (employee) 53,000                   53,000            76,995             23,995            

Chamber general office expense 6,000                     6,000              6,000               -                  

Tax incentive expense 1,500                     1,500              1,500               -                  

Total other expenses 370,392                 370,392          364,883           (5,509)             

Total general government 1,115,732              1,115,733       987,552           (128,181)         

PUBLIC SAFETY

Police department

Salaries 1,378,460              1,378,460       1,402,477        24,017            

Health insurance 265,028                 265,028          287,878           22,850            

ICMA contribution 5,927                     5,927              6,744               817                 

Pension contribution 477,809                 477,809          487,114           9,305              

Temporary employment expense -                         -                  46,695             46,695            

Commissioners secretary -                         -                  600                  600                 

Commissioner expense 9,858                     9,858              6,298               (3,560)             

Uniform allowance 13,000                   13,000            13,698             698                 

Postage 3,500                     3,500              3,832               332                 

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)

GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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Variance

Original Final Over

Budget Budget Actual (Under)

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)

GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

PUBLIC SAFETY (Continued)

Police department (Continued)

Printing 1,000$                   1,000$            996$                (4)$                  

Photographic expense 500                        500                 -                   (500)                

Legal and professional expense 5,000                     5,000              5,902               902                 

Legal expense 365,000                 365,000          968                  (364,032)         

Repairs and maintenance 3,723                     3,723              5,081               1,358              

Telephone 14,437                   14,437            9,919               (4,518)             

Service contracts 24,039                   24,039            16,453             (7,586)             

Dues 4,380                     4,380              3,493               (887)                

Investigation 2,500                     2,500              2,798               298                 

Training 9,400                     9,400              44,347             34,947            

Police supplies 600                        600                 713                  113                 

Janitor supplies 800                        800                 881                  81                   

Animal control 5,500                     5,500              5,536               36                   

Radio expense 5,300                     5,300              5,028               (272.0)             

Electric expense -                         -                  11,863             11,863            

Physicals 600                        600                 392                  (208)                

Safety 2,000                     2,000              1,115               (885)                

Towing 200                        200                 -                   (200)                

Gas and oil 27,000                   27,000            29,330             2,330              

Vehicle operations and maintenance 14,000                   14,000            24,478             10,478            

Maintenance (building) 10,000                   10,000            20,967             10,967            

Heating gas 1,500                     1,500              824                  (676)                

Community policing 500                        500                 502                  2                     

Consolidated dispatch -                         -                  319,350           319,350          

Miscellaneous 11,200                   11,200            17,468             6,268              

Contingency 270,382                 270,383          -                   (270,383)         

   

Total police department 2,933,143              2,933,144       2,783,740        (149,404)         

   

Fire department

Salaries 865,196                 865,196          886,316           21,120            

Health insurance 203,000                 203,000          235,475           32,475            

ICMA contributions 4,161                     4,161              4,531               370                 

Pension contribution -                         -                  268,245           268,245          

Fire investigation 50                          50                   -                   (50)                  

Dues and subscriptions 3,930                     3,930              2,408               (1,522)             

Postage and office supplies 1,140                     1,140              638                  (502)                

Maintenance (building) 10,000                   10,000            4,386               (5,614)             

Maintenance (equipment) 11,000                   11,000            12,442             1,442              

Maintenance (vehicles) 24,000                   24,000            13,096             (10,904)           

Commissioner's secretary -                         -                  600                  600                 

Commissioner expense 2,488                     2,488              3,112               624                 

Telephone 6,415                     6,415              6,253               (162)                

Meetings and seminars 8,000                     8,000              6,102               (1,898)             

Legal expense 2,500                     2,500              1,205               (1,295)             

Uniform allowance 4,100                     4,100              3,524               (576)                

Electric -                         -                  11,863             11,863            

Heating 5,000                     5,000              2,436               (2,564)             

Physicals 1,500                     1,500              870                  (630)                

Supplies (equipment) 11,000                   11,000            12,983             1,983              

Radio expense 2,800                     2,800              1,249               (1,551)             

Safety expense 125                        125                 50                    (75)                  

Operating supplies 2,500                     2,500              1,039               (1,461)             

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
- 91 -

197



Variance

Original Final Over

Budget Budget Actual (Under)

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)

GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

PUBLIC SAFETY (Continued)

Fire department (Continued)

Janitorial supplies 1,700$                   1,700$            1,055$             (645)$              

Gas and oil 12,100                   12,100            9,245               (2,855)             

Miscellaneous 950                        950                 3,410               2,460              

Contingency 121,436                 121,436          -                   (121,436)         

   

Total fire department 1,305,091              1,305,091       1,492,533        187,442          

   

Total public safety 4,238,234              4,238,235       4,276,273        38,038            

PUBLIC WORKS

Streets and highways

Salaries 265,932                 265,932          280,316           14,384            

Health insurance 91,339                   91,339            106,734           15,395            

Maintenance (building) 16,000                   16,000            21,991             5,991              

Maintenance (streets) 7,000                     7,000              6,620               (380)                

Maintenance (snow removal) 500                        500                 347                  (153)                

Maintenance (service vehicles) 17,500                   17,500            20,926             3,426              

Information technology 750                        750                 -                   (750)                

Materials 1,000                     1,000              -                   (1,000)             

Radio expense 1,500                     1,500              -                   (1,500)             

Alarm expense 2,000                     2,000              2,177               177                 

Vehicle gas and oil 13,500                   13,500            11,726             (1,774)             

Small tools and supplies 3,000                     3,000              1,503               (1,497)             

Equipment rental 1,000                     1,000              83                    (917)                

Telephone 4,000                     4,000              5,374               1,374              

Vehicle operation and maintenance 18,000                   18,000            21,745             3,745              

Tree and stump removal 2,500                     2,500              2,600               100                 

Sign material 7,000                     7,000              4,373               (2,627)             

Legal expenses 500                        500                 278                  (222)                

Uniform allowance 1,500                     1,500              1,653               153                 

Janitor supplies 2,500                     2,500              8,005               5,505              

Physicals 375                        375                 -                   (375)                

Postage and office supplies 500                        500                 1,042               542                 

Engineering 10,000                   10,000            72,258             62,258            

RB&W Development 50,000                   50,000            -                   (50,000)           

Barricade expose 1,000                     1,000              870                  (130)                

Paint and painting supplies 15,000                   15,000            12,354             (2,646)             

Heating gas expense 4,500                     4,500              5,153               653                 

Sales tax project - infrastructure 530,000                 530,000          542,226           12,226            

Meetings and seminars 500                        500                 -                   (500)                

Safety expense 1,500                     1,500              2,169               669                 

Miscellaneous 3,500                     3,500              10,912             7,412              

Contingency 127,116                 127,116          -                   (127,116)         

   

Total streets and highways 1,201,012              1,201,012       1,143,435        (57,577)           

Public property division

New equipment 500                        500                 443                  (57)                  

Equipment rental 500                        500                 -                   (500)                

Maintenance (equipment) 1,000                     1,000              475                  (525)                

Maintenance (grounds) 1,000                     1,000              528                  (472)                

Maintenance (building) 18,000                   18,000            66,190             48,190            

Limestone building expenses 160,000                 235,000          342,155           107,155          

(This schedule is continued on the following page.)
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Variance

Original Final Over

Budget Budget Actual (Under)

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)

GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

PUBLIC WORKS (Continued) 

Public property division (Continued)

Schmitt property expenses -$                       -$                26,197$           26,197$          

Hallman property expenses -                         -                  3,481               3,481              

Janitor supplies 1,000                     1,000              874                  (126)                

Miscellaneous 10,000                   10,000            78,186             68,186            

Lightning strike insurance -                         -                  78                    78                   

Heating and air conditioning repairs 5,000                     5,000              570                  (4,430)             

Municipal signs -                         -                  1,250               1,250              

Equipment - gas and oil 150                        150                 14                    (136)                

Fire alarm service expense 2,500                     2,500              4,240               1,740              

Heating gas expense 2,000                     2,000              1,741               (259)                

Telephone expense -                         -                  311                  311                 

Economic development -                         -                  26                    26                   

Contingency 20,165                   20,165            -                   (20,165)           

Total public property division 221,815                 296,815          526,759           229,944          

CAPITAL OUTLAY

Building inspector

New cars -                         -                  13,750             13,750            

Code hearing

New equipment 1,100                     1,100              -                   (1,100)             

Public works

Sidewalk repairs 100,000                 100,000          91,888             (8,112)             

New equipment 17,500                   17,500            23,430             5,930              

Police department

New cars 34,900                   34,900            -                   (34,900)           

New equipment 6,175                     6,175              7,122               947                 

Total capital outlay 159,675                 159,675          136,190           (23,485)           

DEBT SERVICE

Principal 103,769                 103,769          176,769           73,000            

Interest 62,049                   62,049            73,216             11,167            

Total debt service 165,818                 165,818          249,985           84,167            

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 7,102,286$            7,177,288$     7,320,194$      142,906$        

(See independent auditor's report.)
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NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

 

 

200



 

Industrial

Tourism Development Centennial

  

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 850,246$        8,218$            -$                

Restricted cash -                  -                  -                  

Receivables (net, where applicable,

  of allowances for uncollectibles)

Property taxes -                  -                  -                  

Accounts 19,329            -                  -                  

Accrued interest 449                 -                  -                  

Due from other governments -                  -                  -                  

 

TOTAL ASSETS 870,024$        8,218$            -$                

 

Accounts payable 7,516$            570$               -$                

Accrued payroll -                  -                  -                  

Due to other funds -                  -                  3,793              

Total liabilities 7,516              570                 3,793              

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable property taxes -                  -                  -                  

Total deferred inflows of resources -                  -                  -                  

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 7,516              570                 3,793              

 

FUND BALANCES 

Restricted for maintenance of streets -                  -                  -                  

Restricted for tourism 862,508          -                  -                  

Restricted for economic development -                  7,648              -                  

Restricted for public safety -                  -                  -                  

Restricted for retirement -                  -                  -                  

Restricted for workers' compensation -                  -                  -                  

Restricted for debt service -                  -                  -                  

Unrestricted (deficit)

Unassigned (deficit) -                  -                  (3,793)            

 

Total fund balances (deficit) 862,508          7,648              (3,793)            

  

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS

  OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 870,024$        8,218$            -$                

Special Revenue

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

April 30, 2018

LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS

OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
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Motor Fuel Downtown Riverfront Tobacco

Fuel Tax IMRF Redevelopment Redevelopment DUI Drug Grant

  

ASSETS 

328,657$       311,380$       -$                 26,610$            19,981$         19,808$         -$               

-                 -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

-                 181,269         143,483           36,106              -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                   -                   1,025             54                  -                 

360                312                -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

21,213           -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

  

350,230$       492,961$       143,483$         62,716$            21,006$         19,862$         -$               

  

-$               -$               301$                -$                 -$               -$               -$               

-                 2,316             -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 84,710             -                   -                 -                 44                  

  

-                 2,316             85,011             -                   -                 -                 44                  

-                 181,269         143,483           36,106              -                 -                 -                 

-                 181,269         143,483           36,106              -                 -                 -                 

-                 183,585         228,494           36,106              -                 -                 44                  

  

 

350,230         -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                   26,610              -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                   -                   21,006           19,862           -                 

-                 309,376         -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 (85,011)            -                   -                 -                 (44)                 

  

350,230         309,376         (85,011)            26,610              21,006           19,862           (44)                 

  

350,230$       492,961$       143,483$         62,716$            21,006$         19,862$         -$               

Special Revenue

(This statement is continued on the following pages.)
- 95 -

202



 

Building Foreign

Code Fire Workers' Safe 

Demolition Insurance Compensation Passage

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 51,358$         11,150$         245,002$          870$                  

Restricted cash -                 -                 -                    -                    

Receivables (net, where applicable,

  of allowances for uncollectibles)

Property taxes -                 -                 208,045            -                    

Accounts -                 -                 -                    -                    

Interest -                 -                 -                    -                    

Due from other governments 4,748             -                 -                    -                    

TOTAL ASSETS 56,106$         11,150$         453,047$          870$                  

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 6,225$           -$               89$                    -$                  

Accrued payroll -                 -                 -                    -                    

Due to other funds -                 -                 -                    -                    

Total liabilities 6,225             -                 89                      -                    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable property taxes -                 -                 208,045            -                    

Total deferred inflows of resources -                 -                 208,045            -                    

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 6,225             -                 208,134            -                    

FUND BALANCES 

Restricted for maintenance of streets -                 -                 -                    -                    

Restricted for tourism -                 -                 -                    -                    

Restricted for economic development 49,881           -                 -                    -                    

Restricted for public safety -                 11,150           -                    870                    

Restricted for retirement -                 -                 -                    -                    

Restricted for workers' compensation -                 -                 244,913            -                    

Restricted for debt service -                 -                 -                    -                    

Unrestricted (deficit) -                 -                 -                    -                    

Total fund balances (deficit) 49,881           11,150           244,913            870                    

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS 

   OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 56,106$         11,150$         453,047$          870$                  

Special Revenue

April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (Continued)

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS

OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
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Debt Capital

Service Projects

MFT Fiber Optic  

Bond Broadband Total

 

-$               -$                 1,873,280$       

90,887            -                   90,887              

-                 -                   568,903            

-                 -                   20,408              

-                 -                   1,121                 

-                 -                   25,961              

 

90,887$         -$                 2,580,560$       

 

-$               -$                 14,701$            

-                 -                   2,316                 

-                 -                   88,547              

 

-                 -                   105,564            

-                 -                   568,903            

-                 -                   568,903            

-                 -                   674,467            

 

-                 -                   350,230            

-                 -                   862,508            

-                 -                   84,139              

-                 -                   52,888              

-                 -                   309,376            

-                 -                   244,913            

90,887            -                   90,887              

-                 -                   (88,848)             

 

90,887            -                   1,906,093         

 

90,887$         -$                 2,580,560$       

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Industrial

Tourism Development Centennial

 

REVENUES

Taxes 247,350$       -$               -$               

Intergovernmental -                 -                 -                 

Fines and fees -                 -                 -                 

Investment income 6,967             8                    19                  

Miscellaneous 6,846             850                36,250           

 

Total revenues 261,163         858                36,269           

 

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government -                 -                 -                 

Public safety -                 -                 -                 

Streets and highways -                 -                 -                 

Development 184,134         58                  61,461           

Capital outlay -                 -                 -                 

Debt service

Principal -                 -                 -                 

Interest and fiscal charges -                 -                 -                 

 

Total expenditures 184,134         58                  61,461           

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES  

  OVER EXPENDITURES 77,029           800                (25,192)          

  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in -                 -                 -                 

Transfers (out) -                 (504)               -                 

 

Total other financing sources (uses) -                 (504)               -                 

 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 77,029           296                (25,192)          

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT), MAY 1 785,479         7,352             21,399           

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 862,508$       7,648$           (3,793)$          

Special Revenue

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018
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Motor Downtown Riverfront Tobacco

Fuel Tax IMRF Redevelopment Redevelopment DUI Drug Grant

 

-$               187,448$       170,376$               22,047$              -$               -$               -$               

236,589         33,981           -                        -                      -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                        -                      5,298             30,841           -                 

411                423                1,470                     28                       -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 19,156                   -                      -                 501                -                 

237,000         221,852         191,002                 22,075                5,298             31,342           -                 

-                 96,630           -                        -                      -                 -                 2,510             

-                 -                 -                        -                      254                20,571           -                 

35,976           64,420           -                        -                      -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 63,210                   18,930                -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 99,649                   -                      -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                        -                      -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 96,701                   -                      -                 -                 -                 

35,976           161,050         259,560                 18,930                254                20,571           2,510             

201,024         60,802           (68,558)                 3,145                  5,044             10,771           (2,510)            

  

-                 -                 80,000                   -                      -                 -                 -                 

(115,728)        -                 (28,599)                 (80,000)               -                 -                 -                 

(115,728)        -                 51,401                   (80,000)               -                 -                 -                 

  

85,296           60,802           (17,157)                 (76,855)               5,044             10,771           (2,510)            

264,934         248,574         (67,854)                 103,465              15,962           9,091             2,466             

350,230$       309,376$       (85,011)$               26,610$              21,006$         19,862$         (44)$               

Special Revenue

(This statement is continued on the following pages.)
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Building Foreign

Code Fire Workers'

Demolition Insurance Compensation

REVENUES

Taxes -$               -$               198,912$          

Intergovernmental 33,421           13,427           -                    

Fines and fees -                 -                 -                    

Investment income 286                72                  73                     

Miscellaneous 10,852           -                 -                    

Total revenues 44,559           13,499           198,985            

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government 38,592           -                 17,430              

Public safety -                 15,797           -                    

Streets and highways -                 -                 -                    

Development -                 -                 -                    

Capital outlay -                 -                 -                    

Debt service

Principal -                 -                 -                    

Interest and fiscal charges -                 -                 -                    

Total expenditures 38,592           15,797           17,430              

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES 5,967             (2,298)            181,555            

 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in -                 -                 -                    

Transfers (out) -                 -                 (208,858)           

Total other financing sources (uses) -                 -                 (208,858)           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 5,967             (2,298)            (27,303)             

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT), MAY 1 43,914           13,448           272,216            

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 49,881$         11,150$         244,913$          

Special Revenue

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (Continued)

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018
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Debt Capital

Service Projects

Safe MFT Fiber Optic

Passage Bond Broadband Total

 

-$                  -$               -$                    826,133$          

-                    -                 -                     317,418            

-                    -                 -                     36,139              

-                    36                  -                     9,793                

3,094                -                 -                     77,549              

 

3,094                36                  -                     1,267,032         

 

4,094                -                 -                     159,256            

-                    -                 -                     36,622              

-                    -                 -                     100,396            

-                    -                 -                     327,793            

-                    -                 -                     99,649              

-                    110,000         -                     110,000            

-                    5,720             -                     102,421            

 

4,094                115,720         -                     936,137            

 

(1,000)               (115,684)        -                     330,895            

 

-                    115,728         -                     195,728            

-                    -                 (4,469,045)          (4,902,734)        

 

-                    115,728         (4,469,045)          (4,707,006)        

 

(1,000)               44                  (4,469,045)          (4,376,111)        

1,870                90,843           4,469,045           6,282,204         

870$                 90,887$         -$                    1,906,093$       

Special Revenue

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (Continued)

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original and Variance

Final Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Hotel/motel taxes 180,000$              247,350$       67,350$         

Investment income 2,500                    6,967             4,467             

Miscellaneous -                        6,846             6,846             

   

Total revenues 182,500                261,163         78,663           

   

EXPENDITURES

Current

Development

Salaries 52,849                  52,779           (70)                 

Other services 96,740                  108,126         11,386           

Miscellaneous 28,000                  23,229           (4,771)            

Contingency 17,759                  -                 (17,759)          

   

Total expenditures 195,348                184,134         (11,214)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (12,848)$               77,029           89,877$         

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 785,479         

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 862,508$       

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

TOURISM FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original and Variance

Final Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Investment income 20$                8$                  (12)$               

Miscellaneous -                 850                850                

   

Total revenues 20                  858                838                

   

EXPENDITURES

 Current

Development

Commodities 100                -                 (100)               

Other services 1,100             -                 (1,100)            

Miscellaneous 5,000             58                  (4,942)            

Contingency 670                -                 (670)               

Total expenditures 6,870             58                  (6,812)            

   

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES (6,850)            800                7,650             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (out) (500)               (504)               (4)                   

Total other financing sources (uses) (500)               (504)               (4)                   

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (7,350)$          296                7,646$           

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 7,352             

 

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 7,648$           

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original Final Variance

Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Investment income 5$                 5$                 19$                14$                

Miscellaneous 50,000           50,000           36,250           (13,750)         

    

Total revenues 50,005           50,005           36,269           (13,736)         

    

EXPENDITURES

Current

Development

Commodities -                -                5,635             5,635             

Miscellaneous 50,000           65,000           55,826           (9,174)           

    

Total expenditures 50,000           65,000           61,461           (3,539)           

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES 5                   (14,995)         (25,192)         (10,197)         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in -                15,000           -                (15,000)         

Total other financing sources (uses) -                15,000           -                (15,000)         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 5$                 5$                 (25,192)         (25,197)$       

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 21,399           

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 (3,793)$         

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

CENTENNIAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original Final Variance

Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Intergovernmental

Motor fuel tax allotments 235,661$       235,661$       236,589$       928$              

Investment income 161                161                411                250                

Total revenues 235,822         235,822         237,000         1,178             

    

EXPENDITURES

Current

Streets and highways

Contractual services 10,000           10,000           -                 (10,000)         

Maintenance 215,431         215,431         35,976           (179,455)       

Contingency 34,115           34,115           -                 (34,115)         

    

Total expenditures 259,546         259,546         35,976           (223,570)       

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES (23,724)         (23,724)         201,024         224,748         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (out) (115,720)       (115,720)       (115,728)       (8)                  

Total other financing sources (uses) (115,720)       (115,720)       (115,728)       (8)                  

    

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (139,444)$     (139,444)$     85,296           224,740$       

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 264,934         

 

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 350,230$       

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original and Variance

Final Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Taxes

Property taxes 185,000$       187,448$       2,448$           

Replacement taxes 25,000           33,981           8,981             

Investment income 100                423                323                

   

Total revenues 210,100         221,852         11,752           

   

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government

IMRF contributions 120,224         96,630           23,594           

Streets and highways

IMRF contributions 80,149           64,420           15,729           

Total expenditures 200,373         161,050         (39,323)          

   

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 9,727$           60,802           51,075$         

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 248,574         

 

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 309,376$       

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original Final Variance

Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Taxes

Property taxes 225,000$       225,000$       170,376$       (54,624)$       

Intergovernmental 200,000         400,000         -                 (400,000)       

Investment income -                 -                 1,470             1,470             

Miscellaneous 15,000           15,000           19,156           4,156             

    

Total revenues 440,000         640,000         191,002         (448,998)       

    

EXPENDITURES

Current

Development

Commodities -                 -                 18,642           18,642           

Contractual services 132,702         132,702         41,788           (90,914)         

Miscellaneous -                 -                 2,780             2,780             

Contingency 45,635           45,635           -                 (45,635)         

Capital outlay 304,000         554,000         99,649           (454,351)       

Debt service

Interest -                 -                 96,701           96,701           

    

Total expenditures 482,337         732,337         259,560         (472,777)       

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES (42,337)         (92,337)         (68,558)         23,779           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfer in -                 -                 80,000           80,000           

Transfer (out) -                 -                 (28,599)         (28,599)         

Total other financing sources (uses) -                 -                 51,401           51,401           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (42,337)$       (92,337)$       (17,157)         75,180$         

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT), MAY 1 (67,854)         

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 (85,011)$       

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT FUND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original and Variance

Final Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Taxes

Property taxes 36,000$         22,047$         (13,953)$        

Investment income 15                  28                  13                  

   

Total revenues 36,015           22,075           (13,940)          

   

EXPENDITURES

Current

Development

Contractual services 1,600             851                (749)               

Other services 18,050           18,079           29                  

   

Total expenditures 19,650           18,930           (720)               

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES 16,365           3,145             (13,220)          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (out) -                 (80,000)          (80,000)          

Total other financing sources (uses) -                 (80,000)          (80,000)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 16,365$         (76,855)          (93,220)$        

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 103,465         

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 26,610$         

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

RIVERFRONT REDEVELOPMENT FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original and Variance

Final Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

None -$                   -$               -$               

   

Total revenues -                     -                 -                 

   

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public safety

Other 1,000                  -                 (1,000)            

Contingency 100                     -                 (100)               

   

Total expenditures 1,100                  -                 (1,100)            

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES (1,100)                -                 1,100             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (out) -                     -                 -                 

Total other financing sources (uses) -                     -                 -                 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (1,100)$              -                 1,100$           

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 -                 

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 -$               

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

ESDA FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original and Variance

Final Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Fines and fees 6,900$           5,298$           (1,602)$          

   

Total revenues 6,900             5,298             (1,602)            

   

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public safety

Other services 6,000             254                (5,746)            

Contingency 600                -                 (600)               

Total expenditures 6,600             254                (6,346)            

   

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 300$              5,044             4,744$           

  

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 15,962           

 

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 21,006$         

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

DUI FUND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS
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Original Final Variance

Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Fines and fees 4,200$           34,200$        30,841$         (3,359)$         

Miscellaneous -                -                501               501               

  Total revenues 4,200            34,200          31,342           (2,858)           

    

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public safety

Other services 4,000            34,000          20,571           (13,429)         

Contingency 400               400               -                (400)              

    

  Total expenditures 4,400            34,400          20,571           (13,829)         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (200)$            (200)$            10,771           10,971$         

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 9,091            

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 19,862$         

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

DRUG FUND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original Final Variance

Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 1,430$           1,430$           -$               (1,430)$         

    

Total revenues 1,430             1,430             -                 (1,430)            

    

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government 1,430             3,430             2,510             (920)               

    

Total expenditures 1,430             3,430             2,510             (920)               

    

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -$               (2,000)$         (2,510)            (510)$             

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 2,466             

 

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 (44)$               

 

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

TOBACCO GRANT FUND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original and Variance

Final Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 71,000$         33,421$         (37,579)$        

Investment income 60                  286                226                

Miscellaneous income 5,000             10,852           5,852             

Total revenues 76,060           44,559           (31,501)          

   

EXPENDITURES

Current

General Government

Contractual services 62,000           23,879           (38,121)          

Other services 11,000           14,713           3,713             

Contingency 7,300             -                 (7,300)            

   

Total expenditures 80,300           38,592           (41,708)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (4,240)$          5,967             10,207$         

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 43,914           

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 49,881$         

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

BUILDING CODE DEMOLITION FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Original Final Variance

Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)

REVENUES

Property taxes 198,000$       198,000$       198,912$       912$              

Investment income 250                250                73                  (177)               

Total revenues 198,250         198,250         198,985         735                

    

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government

Contractual services -                 -                 17,430           17,430           

    

Total expenditures -                 -                 17,430           17,430           

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES 198,250         198,250         181,555         (16,695)         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (out) (208,642)       (258,642)       (208,858)       49,784           

Total other financing sources (uses) (208,642)       (258,642)       (208,858)       49,784           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (10,392)$       (60,392)$       (27,303)         33,089$         

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 272,216         

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 244,913$       

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND 

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Taxable Non-Taxable

Fiber Optic Fiber Optic

Broadband Broadband Total

REVENUES

None -$               -$               -$               

Total revenues -                 -                 -                 

   

EXPENDITURES

None -                 -                 -                 

   

Total expenditures -                 -                 -                 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES -                 -                 -                 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (out) (2,416,434)     (2,052,611)     (4,469,045)     

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,416,434)     (2,052,611)     (4,469,045)     

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (2,416,434)     (2,052,611)     (4,469,045)     

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 2,416,434      2,052,611      4,469,045      

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 -$               -$               -$               

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, 

AND CHANGES IN NET FUND BALANCE

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND SUB FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
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Taxable Non-Taxable

Fiber Optic Fiber Optic

Broadband Broadband Eliminations Total

CURRENT ASSETS

Restricted cash 2,386,133$       1,097,531$       -$                  3,483,664$       

Total current assets 2,386,133         1,097,531         -                    3,483,664         

CAPITAL ASSETS

Nondepreciable -                    745,595            -                    745,595            

Depreciable -                    482,154            -                    482,154            

Accumulated depreciation -                    (9,277)               -                    (9,277)               

Net capital assets -                    1,218,472         -                    1,218,472         

Total assets 2,386,133         2,316,003         -                    4,702,136         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

None -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total deferred outflows of resources -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 2,386,133         2,316,003         -                    4,702,136         

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND SUB FUNDS

April 30, 2018

(This statement is continued on the following pages.)
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Taxable Non-Taxable

Fiber Optic Fiber Optic

Broadband Broadband Eliminations Total

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 5,698$              383,389$          -$                  389,087$          

Accrued payroll 766                   -                    -                    766                   

Accrued interest payable 7,165                6,450                -                    13,615              

Compensated absences, current 2,104                -                    -                    2,104                

Total current liabilities 15,733              389,839            -                    405,572            

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Compensated absences, noncurrent 11,925              -                    -                    11,925              

Bonds payable, noncurrent 2,645,000         2,119,954         -                    4,764,954         

Total long-term liabilities 2,656,925         2,119,954         -                    4,776,879         

Total liabilities 2,672,658         2,509,793         -                    5,182,451         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

None -                    -                    -                    -                    

 

Total deferred inflows of resources -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 2,672,658         2,509,793         -                    5,182,451         

NET POSITION

Unrestricted (deficit) (286,525)           (193,790)           -                    (480,315)           

TOTAL NET POSITION (DEFICIT) (286,525)$         (193,790)$         -$                  (480,315)$         

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND SUB FUNDS

April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Continued)

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Taxable Non-Taxable

Fiber Optic Fiber Optic

Broadband Broadband Eliminations Total

OPERATING REVENUES

None -$              -$              -$              -$              

   

Total operating revenues -                -                -                -                

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personnel

Salaries 82,568          -                -                82,568          

Payroll taxes 13,216          -                -                13,216          

Payroll benefits 430               -                -                430               

Total personnel 96,214          -                96,214          

Commodities 33,215          -                33,215          

Contractual services 15,165          4,632            -                19,797          

Miscellaneous 62                 32,229          -                32,291          

Depreciation and amortization -                9,277            -                9,277            

Total operating expenses 144,656        46,138          -                190,794        

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (144,656)       (46,138)         -                (190,794)       

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Investment income 18,078          13,074          -                31,152          

Reimbursements 81                 3,177            -                3,258            

Other miscellaneous revenue 15,649          -                -                15,649          

Interest expense (86,933)         (77,512)         -                (164,445)       

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (53,125)         (61,261)         -                (114,386)       

NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS (197,781)       (107,399)       -                (305,180)       

Transfers in 2,556,256     2,052,611     (139,822)       4,469,045     

 Transfers (out) (2,645,000)    (2,278,824)    139,822        (4,784,002)    

Total transfers in (out) (88,744)         (226,213)       -                (314,957)       

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (286,525)       (333,612)       -                (620,137)       

NET POSITION, MAY 1 -                -                -                -                

Prior period adjustment -                139,822        -                139,822        

NET POSITION, MAY 1, RESTATED -                139,822        -                139,822        

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 (286,525)$     (193,790)$     -$              (480,315)$     

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES 

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND SUB FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Taxable Non-Taxable

Fiber Optic Fiber Optic

Broadband Broadband Eliminations Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to suppliers (42,744)$           (35,334)$           -$                  (78,078)$           

Payments to employees (81,419)             -                    -                    (81,419)             

Net cash from operating activities (124,163)           (35,334)             -                    (159,497)           

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL 

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers in 2,556,256         2,052,611         (139,822)           4,469,045         

Transfers (out) -                    (158,122)           139,822            (18,300)             

Receipt of other miscellaneous revenue 15,730              3,177                -                    18,907              

 

Net cash from noncapital financing activities 2,571,986         1,897,666         -                    4,469,652         

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital assets purchased -                    (706,065)           -                    (706,065)           

Interest payments on long-term debt (79,768)             (71,810)             -                    (151,578)           

 

Net cash from capital and related

   financing activities (79,768)             (777,875)           -                    (857,643)           

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received on investments 18,078              13,074              -                    31,152              

 

Net cash from investing activities 18,078              13,074              -                    31,152              

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND

  CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,386,133         1,097,531         -                    3,483,664         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, MAY 1 -                    -                    -                    -                    

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, APRIL 30 2,386,133$       1,097,531$       -$                  3,483,664$       

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND SUB FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(This statement is continued on the following pages.)
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Taxable Non-Taxable

Fiber Optic Fiber Optic

Broadband Broadband Eliminations Total

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME 

  (LOSS) TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM

  OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income (loss) (144,656)$         (46,138)$           -$                  (190,794)$         

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)

  to net cash from operating activities

Depreciation and amortization -                    9,277                -                    9,277                

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts payable 5,698                1,527                -                    7,225                

Accrued payroll 766                   -                    -                    766                   

Compensated absences 14,029              -                    -                    14,029              

 

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (124,163)$         (35,334)$           -$                  (159,497)$         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,386,133$       1,097,531$       -$                  3,483,664$       

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,386,133$       1,097,531$       -$                  3,483,664$       

NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Cost of capital assets included in accounts payable -$                  381,862$          -$                  381,862$          

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND SUB FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

April 30, 2018

 

Health

Insurance GIS IT Total

  

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and investments 298,935$         193,152$         492,087$         

Receivables

Accrued interest 130                  -                  130                  

Total current assets 299,065           193,152           492,217           

Total assets 299,065           193,152           492,217           

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 34                    17,027             17,061             

   

Total liabilities 34                    17,027             17,061             

NET POSITION  

Unrestricted 299,031           176,125           475,156           

  

TOTAL NET POSITION 299,031$         176,125$         475,156$         

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Health

Insurance GIS IT Total

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services   

Contributions 1,244,675$      36,480$           1,281,155$      

Other 10,000             -                  10,000             

Total operating revenues 1,254,675        36,480             1,291,155        

OPERATING EXPENSES

Administration   

Personnel

Employee benefits 1,253,164        -                  1,253,164        

Contractual services -                  4,983               4,983               

Other -                  17,172             17,172             

Total operating expenses 1,253,164        22,155             1,275,319        

OPERATING INCOME 1,511               14,325             15,836             

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Investment income 2,593               -                  2,593               

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 2,593               -                  2,593               

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 4,104               14,325             18,429             

NET POSITION, MAY 1 294,927           161,800           456,727           

NET POSITION, APRIL 30 299,031$         176,125$         475,156$         

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018
 

Health

Insurance GIS IT Total

  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from employer contributions 1,222,886$         36,480$          1,259,366$     

Receipts from other contributions 31,789                -                  31,789            

Payments to suppliers (1,253,130)          (5,128)             (1,258,258)      

  

Net cash from operating activities 1,545                  31,352            32,897            

  

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL 

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

None -                      -                  -                  

Net cash from noncapital financing activities -                      -                  -                  

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL 

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

None -                      -                  -                  

  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received on investments 2,629                  -                  2,629              

  

Net cash from investing activities 2,629                  -                  2,629              

  

NET INCREASE IN CASH

  AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,174                  31,352            35,526            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, MAY 1 294,761              161,800          456,561          

   
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, APRIL 30 298,935$            193,152$        492,087$        

  

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME

  TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM

  OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 1,511$                14,325$          15,836$          

Adjustments to reconcile operating income

  to net cash from operating activities

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts payable 34                       17,027            17,061            

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,545$                31,352$          32,897$          

CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents 298,935$            193,152$        492,087$        

TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS 298,935$            193,152$        492,087$        

(See independent auditor's report.)
- 123 -

232



FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF PLAN NET POSITION

PENSION TRUST FUNDS

April 30, 2018

 

Pension Trust

Police Firefighters'

Pension Pension Total

   

ASSETS 

Cash and short-term investments 262,175$         430,401$         692,576$         

Investments

U.S. agency obligations 47,143             230,509           277,652           

U.S. Treasury obligations 367,680           2,651,009        3,018,689        

Common stock 1,645,212        636,833           2,282,045        

Mutual funds 1,166,956        2,472,183        3,639,139        

Corporate bonds 1,185,514        498,385           1,683,899        

Municipal bonds 215,037           -                  215,037           

Mortgage pools -                  48,592             48,592             

Annuities 592,928           -                  592,928           

Negotiable certificates of deposit 1,713,446        -                  1,713,446        

Receivables  

Accrued interest 22,567             23,140             45,707             

Prepaid items 3,690               692                  4,382               

Total assets 7,222,348        6,991,744        14,214,092      

  

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 2,032               1,426               3,458               

   

Total liabilities 2,032               1,426               3,458               

 

NET POSITION RESTRICTED

  FOR PENSIONS 7,220,316$      6,990,318$      14,210,634$    

(See independent auditor's report.)
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PLAN NET POSITION

PENSION TRUST FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

Pension Trust

Police Firefighters'

Pension Pension Total

   

ADDITIONS

Contributions

Employer contributions 487,114$        268,245$              755,359$        

Employee contributions 118,679          75,968                  194,647          

Total contributions 605,793          344,213                950,006          

Investment income

Net appreciation in 

  fair value of investments 271,714          304,497                576,211          

Interest 82,697            101,760                184,457          

Total investment income 354,411          406,257                760,668          

Less investment expense (18,359)           (19,426)                 (37,785)           

Net investment income 336,052          386,831                722,883          

Total additions 941,845          731,044                1,672,889       

DEDUCTIONS

Benefits and refunds 756,029          515,017                1,271,046       

Administrative expenses 30,513            16,841                  47,354            

   

Total deductions 786,542          531,858                1,318,400       

   

NET INCREASE 155,303          199,186                354,489          

 

NET POSITION RESTRICTED

  FOR PENSIONS

May 1 7,065,013       6,791,132             13,856,145     

April 30 7,220,316$     6,990,318$           14,210,634$   

(See independent auditor's report.)
- 125 -

235



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
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SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL ASSETS

MUNICIPAL WATER FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

Construction in progress 55,578$               

Water plant and system improvements 10,867,956          

Equipment 738,912               

Total capital assets 11,662,446          

Less accumulated depreciation 6,503,739            

CAPITAL ASSETS 5,158,707$          

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL ASSETS

MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

Land and buildings

Buildings and substations 7,110,161$        

Hydro plant 14,604,492        

Total land and buildings 21,714,653        

Improvements, other than buildings

South 14th generators 3,302,388          

New services/metering 565,234             

Underground/conductors/fixtures 2,427,574          

Poles, cross arms and fixtures 6,105,092          

Route 30 project 19,042               

Riverside trailer court project 4,962                 

GIS mapping 141,022             

Generator upgrades 396,186             

Centennial Park risers 53,360               

Telecomm engineering 109,376             

Telecomm legal 2,604                 

Telecommunications maintenance 6,589                 

Telecomm project 289,830             

Total improvements, other than buildings 13,423,259        

Equipment

Utility office computer 57,053               

Equipment 2,616,714          

Computer software 81,077               

Computer software - labor 14,842               

Total equipment 2,769,686          

Total capital assets 37,907,598        

Less accumulated depreciation 24,345,984        

CAPITAL ASSETS 13,561,614$      

(See independent auditor's report.)
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CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL ASSETS

MUNICIPAL SANITARY SEWERAGE FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

Construction in progress 13,458$             

New sewer plant 26,197,166        

Disposal plant 11,594,348        

Sewer extensions 3,664,432          

Equipment 1,569,079          

Total capital assets 43,038,483        

Less accumulated depreciation 13,173,010        

CAPITAL ASSETS 29,865,473$      

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Construction in progress 745,595$           

Buildout engineering 441,717             

Building improvements 40,437               

Total capital assets 1,227,749          

Less accumulated depreciation 9,277                 

CAPITAL ASSETS 1,218,472$        

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL ASSETS

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND FUND 

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue October 1, 2012

Authorized Issue 720,000$        

Interest Rates 2.60%

Interest Dates January 1 and July 1

Principal Maturity Date January 1

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year Due Serially January 1

April 30, January 1 and July 1 Total

2019 110,000$        2,860$            112,860$        

110,000$        2,860$            112,860$        

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2012

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(MOTOR FUEL TAX ALTERNATIVE REVENUE SOURCE) 

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue October 1, 2012

Authorized Issue 280,000$         

Interest Rates 3.50%

Interest Dates November 1 and May 1

Principal Maturity Date January 1

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year Due Serially November 1

 April 30, November 1 and May 1 Total

2019 26,000$           5,872$             31,872$           

2020 27,000             4,963               31,963             

2021 28,000             4,018               32,018             

2022 30,000             3,038               33,038             

2023 30,000             1,988               31,988             

2024 25,000             938                  25,938             

166,000$         20,817$           186,817$         

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT

DEBT CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2012

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue March 17, 2016

Authorized Issue 2,427,000$       

Interest Rates

Interest Dates March 1 and September 1

Principal Maturity Date March 16, 2022

Interest

Fiscal Year Principal March 1 and

April 30, March 16 September 1 Total

2019 -$                  55,336$            55,336$            

2020 -                    55,336              55,336              

2021 -                    55,336              55,336              

2022 2,427,000         55,334              2,482,334         

2,427,000$       221,342$          2,648,342$       

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT

DEBT CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2016

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

2.28% through March 16, 2016, after 3-year 

Treasury Constant Maturity plus 1.50%

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue September 14, 2016

Authorized Issue 1,925,000$       

Interest Rates 2% to 4%

Interest Dates April 1 and October 1

Principal Maturity Date October 1

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year Due Serially April 1 and

April 30, October 1 October 1 Total

2019 85,000$            61,650$            146,650$        

2020 85,000              59,950              144,950          

2021 90,000              58,200              148,200          

2022 90,000              56,400              146,400          

2023 90,000              54,600              144,600          

After 2023 1,485,000         407,550            1,892,550       

1,925,000$       698,350$          2,623,350$     

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2016

(ALTERNATE REVENUE SOURCE) 

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue August 4, 2009

Authorized Issue 15,000,000$     

Interest Rates 0%

Interest Dates May 1 and November 1

Principal Maturity Date May 1 and November 1

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year May 1 and May 1 and

April 30, November 1 November 1 Total

2019 384,615$            -$                    384,615$            

2020 769,231              -                      769,231              

2021 769,231              -                      769,231              

2022 769,231              -                      769,231              

2023 769,231              -                      769,231              

After 2023 6,538,461           -                      6,538,461           

10,000,000$       -$                    10,000,000$       

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND

UTILITY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

LOANS PAYABLE OUTSTANDING

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Loans Payable

Illinois EPA - Treatment Plant Loan

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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Date of Issue August 10, 2011

Authorized Issue 4,111,016$       

Interest Rates 1.25%

Interest Dates March 19 and September 19

Principal Maturity Date March 19 and September 19

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year March 19 and March 19 and

April 30, September 19 September 19 Total

2019 178,292$            33,321$              211,613$            

2020 180,528              31,085                211,613              

2021 182,791              28,822                211,613              

2022 185,083              26,529                211,612              

2023 187,404              24,209                211,613              

After 2023 1,795,998           108,519              1,904,517           

2,710,096$         252,485$            2,962,581$         

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Loans Payable

Illinois EPA - Treatment Plant Loan

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND

LOANS PAYABLE OUTSTANDING (Continued)

UTILITY FUNDS 

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND

LOANS PAYABLE OUTSTANDING (Continued)

UTILITY FUNDS 

Date of Issue October 3, 2000

Authorized Issue 1,621,986$       

Interest Rates 2.905%

Interest Dates April 4 and October 4

Principal Maturity Date April 4 and October 4

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year April  4 and April  4 and

 April 30, October 4 October 4 Total

2019 96,481$              11,018$              107,499$            

2020 99,305                8,194                  107,499              

2021 102,210              5,288                  107,498              

2022 105,201              1,998                  107,199              

403,197$            26,498$              429,695$            

Loans Payable

Illinois EPA - Drinking Water Loan

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND

LOANS PAYABLE OUTSTANDING (Continued)

UTILITY FUNDS 

Date of Issue April 5, 2014

Authorized Issue 654,443$          

Interest Rates 1.25%

Interest Dates May 19 and November 19

Principal Maturity Date May 19 and November 19

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year May 19 and May 19 and

April 30, November 19 November 19 Total

2019 11,503$              2,107$                13,610$              

2020 23,221                3,998                  27,219                

2021 23,512                3,707                  27,219                

2022 23,807                3,412                  27,219                

2023 24,105                3,114                  27,219                

After 2023 231,017              13,960                244,977              

337,165$            30,298$              367,463$            

Loans Payable

Illinois EPA - Lift Station Rehabilitation Loan

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND

LOANS PAYABLE OUTSTANDING (Continued)

UTILITY FUNDS 

Date of Issue November 19, 2016

Authorized Issue 535,517$          

Interest Rates 1.86%

Interest Dates May 19 and November 19

Principal Maturity Date May 19 and November 19

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year May 19 and May 19 and

April 30, November 19 November 19 Total

2019 18,215$              3,104$                21,319$              

2020 36,939                5,699                  42,638                

2021 37,630                5,009                  42,639                

2022 38,333                4,305                  42,638                

2023 39,049                3,589                  42,638                

After 2023 163,631              6,922                  170,553              

333,797$            28,628$              362,425$            

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Loans Payable

Illinois EPA - Drinking Water Loan

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND

LOANS PAYABLE OUTSTANDING (Continued)

UTILITY FUNDS 

Date of Issue April 27, 2017

Authorized Issue 2,105,000$       

Interest Rates 2% to 4%

Interest Dates April 1 and October 1

Principal Maturity Date October 1, 2031 through October 1, 2037

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year Due Starting April 1 and 

April 30, October 1, 2031 October 1 Total

2019 -$                 77,400$            77,400$            

2020 -                   77,400              77,400              

2021 -                   77,400              77,400              

2022 -                   77,400              77,400              

2023 -                   77,400              77,400              

After 2023 2,105,000         908,825            908,825            

2,105,000$       1,295,825$       1,295,825$       

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

General Obligation Bonds Series 2017A

(Alternate Revenue Source)

(See independent auditor's report.)
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For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND

LOANS PAYABLE OUTSTANDING (Continued)

UTILITY FUNDS 

Date of Issue April 27, 2017

Authorized Issue 2,645,000$       

Interest Rates 2.15% to 4.00%

Interest Dates April 1 and October 1

Principal Maturity Date October 1, 2019 through October 1, 2031

Principal Interest

Fiscal Year Due Starting April 1 and

April 30, October 1, 2019 October 1 Total

2019 -$                 85,978$            85,978$            

2020 185,000            83,989              268,989            

2021 190,000            79,720              269,720            

2022 195,000            74,905              269,905            

2023 200,000            69,570              269,570            

After 2023 1,875,000         296,435            2,171,435         

2,645,000$       690,597$          3,335,597$       

CURRENT AND FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

General Obligation Bonds Series 2017B

(Alternate Revenue Source)

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Rate Taxes Rate Taxes 

per $100 Extended Collections per $100 Extended Collections

General 0.2500           183,396$       -$              0.2500           180,691$       181,365$       

IMRF/Social Security 0.2471           181,269         -                0.2583           186,690         187,386         

Road and bridge -                60,521           -                -                59,628           59,765           

Police protection 0.0750           55,019           -                0.0750           54,207           54,410           

Fire protection 0.0750           55,019           -                0.0750           54,207           54,410           

Police Pension 0.6240           457,757         -                0.6611           477,819         479,602         

Firefighters' Pension 0.4634           339,943         -                0.3595           259,834         260,803         

School crossing guard -                -                -                -                -                -                

ESDA -                -                -                -                -                -                

Audit -                -                -                -                -                -                

Liability insurance (tort) 0.2836           208,045         -                0.2741           198,109         198,847         

Emergency vehicle -                -                -                0.0342           24,719           24,811           

2.0181           1,540,969$    -$              1.9872           1,495,904$    1,501,399$    

2017 Levy

Equalized Assessed

Valuation - $73,358,544

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF ASSESSED VALUATIONS, RATES, EXTENSIONS,

AND COLLECTIONS

Last Five Levy Years

(Unaudited)

Valuation - $72,276,388

Equalized Assessed

2016 Levy
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Rate Taxes Rate Taxes Rate Taxes 

per $100 Extended Collections per $100 Extended Collections per $100 Extended Collections

0.2500           182,628$       180,846$       0.2500           183,746$       183,515$       0.2500           187,444$       186,933$       

0.2191           160,056         158,491         0.2593           190,581         190,341         0.2400           179,946         179,454         

-                59,391           58,878           -                57,696           57,612           -                55,258           55,086           

0.0750           54,788           54,252           0.0750           55,124           55,054           0.0750           56,233           56,080           

0.0750           54,788           54,252           0.0750           55,124           55,054           0.0750           56,233           56,080           

0.4769           348,382         344,976         0.3825           281,131         280,777         0.3975           298,036         297,221         

0.3750           273,942         271,264         0.1754           128,916         128,753         0.1345           100,845         100,570         

-                -                -                0.0200           14,700           14,680           0.0200           14,996           14,955           

-                -                -                0.0032           2,352             2,349             0.0031           2,324             2,318             

0.0206           15,050           14,901           0.0338           24,842           24,811           0.0332           24,893           24,824           

0.1843           134,634         133,317         0.2404           176,690         176,468         0.1864           139,758         139,376         

0.0336           24,545           24,306.00      0.0331           24,328           24,297           0.0348           26,092           26,021           

1.7095           1,308,204$    1,295,483$    1.5477           1,195,230$    1,193,711$    1.4495           1,142,058$    1,138,918$    

2013 Levy

Equalized Assessed

Valuation - $74,977,533

2015 Levy

Equalized Assessed

Valuation - $73,051,319

2014 Levy

Equalized Assessed

Valuation - $73,498,310
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Total Total

Fiscal Year Gallons Gallons

Ending  (Thousands) (Thousands) Meters

April 30, Pumped Billed Connected

2012 284,660           210,796           3,915               

2013 296,290           210,589           3,877               

2014 315,715           212,484           4,055               

2015 287,607           206,196           4,067               

2016 257,344           205,019           4,137               

2017 260,393           203,010           4,143               

2018 242,536           200,926           4,140               

(Unaudited)

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

OPERATING STATISTICS

MUNICIPAL WATER FUND

Last Seven Fiscal Years

The following is a schedule of gallons of water billed, pumped and meters connected to the

system for the past seven fiscal years:
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2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016 2014-2015 2013-2014

Meters in service 5,297               5,350               5,358               5,393               5,468               

Kilowatt hours billed 72,660,413      71,186,871      69,447,832      71,185,046      74,593,147      

Kilowatt hours purchased and generated 74,798,855      76,648,319      74,824,870      76,751,942      80,218,926      

Percent of loss 2.86% 7.13% 7.19% 7.25% 7.01%

Operating statistics for the last five fiscal years are as follows:

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

OPERATING STATISTICS

MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC FUND

Last Five Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016 2014-2015 2013-2014

Residential 3,682               3,712               3,781               3,712               3,615               

Commercial/industrial 358                  354                  350                  343                  347                  

4,040               4,066               4,131               4,055               3,962               

The number of customers served by the system for the last five fiscal years are as follows:

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

OPERATING STATISTICS

MUNICIPAL SANITARY SEWERAGE FUND

Last Five Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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October 11, 2018 

 

 

The Honorable Mayor 

Members of the City Council 

City of Rock Falls 

603 West 10th Street 

Rock Falls, Illinois 61071 

 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 

As part of our audit process we are required to have certain communications with those charged 

with governance at the beginning of our audit process and at the conclusion of the audit. Those 

communications include information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit, as well 

as other information required by auditing standards. Our communication at the beginning of our 

audit process along with our questionnaire regarding consideration of fraud in a financial statement 

audit was sent to you on May 1, 2018.  

 

In addition, auditing standards require the communication of internal control related matters to 

those charged with governance. Our communication of these matters as well as a listing of future 

pronouncements that may affect the City, is enclosed within this document. 

 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Mayor, City Council and management of the 

City of Rock Falls and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 

specified parties. 

 

 Very truly yours, 

 

  

 

 Sikich LLP 

 By:  Anthony M. Cervini, CPA 

 Partner 
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October 11, 2018 
 
 
The Honorable Mayor 
Members of the City Council 
City of Rock Falls, Illinois 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Rock Falls, 
Illinois (the City) for the year ended April 30, 2018. Professional standards require that we provide 
you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards as 
well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have 
communicated such information in our letter to you dated February 7, 2018. Professional standards 
also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In 
accordance with the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the 
appropriateness of accounting policies and their application. The significant accounting policies 
used by the City of Rock Falls, Illinois are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 
the fiscal year ending April 30, 2018. We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the 
year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.  
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and 
are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. A sensitive estimate affecting the 
City’s financial statements are the allowance for uncollectible accounts. Management’s estimate 
of the liability under the retiree health plan and pension plans are based on plan provisions, plan 
participants, benefit payments and assumptions made by management about future events. The 
City retains an actuary to perform a valuation to determine the City’s obligations and cost for the 
fiscal year. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used by the actuary to develop the 
liability under the retiree health plan and pension plans in determining that it is reasonable in 
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions 
used to develop these estimates in determining they are reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.  
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Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing our audit. 

 

Corrected Misstatements 

 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 

during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level 

of management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. In addition, none of the 

misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were material, 

either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole, with the 

exception of entry numbers AJE-01, AJE-06, AJE-09, AJE-10, AJE-13, AJE-14, AJE-15, AJE-18, 

AJE-19, AJE-24, AJE-25, AJE-26, AJE-27, and AJE-28 on the attached schedule of adjusting 

journal entries. 

 

Disagreement with Management 

 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a 

financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that 

could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report 

that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 

 

Management Representations 

 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 

representation letter dated October 11, 2018. 

 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 

accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation 

involves application of an accounting principle to the City of Rock Falls, Illinois’ financial 

statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those 

statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to 

determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such 

consultations with other accountants. 

 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 

auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City of Rock Falls, Illinois’ 

auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship 

and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
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Other Matters 

 

We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) as listed 

in the table of contents which are required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the 

basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 

methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 

management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 

obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not 

express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.  

 

We were engaged to report on the individual and combining statements and schedules, which 

accompany the basic financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary 

information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and 

methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not 

changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our 

audit of the basic financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary 

information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 

to the basic financial statements themselves. 

 

We were not engaged to report on the statistical section, which accompany the basic financial 

statements but are not RSI. We did not audit or perform other procedures on this other information 

and we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

 

Restriction on Use 

 

This information is intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the City of 

Rock Falls, Illinois and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 

specified parties. 

 

 Very truly yours, 

 

  

 

 Sikich LLP 

 By:  Anthony M. Cervini, CPA 

 Partner 
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CORF
Year End: April 30, 2018
Adjusting Journal Entries

Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 20-20-00-1014 MEF-20 513,094.81

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 20-20-00-3800 MEF-20 -513,094.81

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 20-20-00-3800 MEF-20

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 30-30-00-1010 MSSF-3 -206,964.13

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 30-30-00-1010 MSSF-3 9,824.24

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 30-30-00-3800 MSSF-3 -9,824.24

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE-PRIOR 30-38-00-3800 MSSF-3

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE-PRIOR 30-38-00-3800 MSSF-3 206,964.13

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 40-40-00-1010 MWF-40 34,515.71

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 40-40-00-1010 MWF-40 -300.42

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 40-40-00-1010 MWF-40 -9,824.24

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 40-40-00-3800 MWF-40 -34,515.71

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 40-40-00-3800 MWF-40

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 40-40-00-3800 MWF-40 300.42

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 40-40-00-3800 MWF-40 9,824.24

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 50-50-00-1010 MGF-50 44,230.96

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 50-50-00-3800 MGF-50

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 50-50-00-3800 MGF-50

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 50-50-00-3800 MGF-50 -44,230.96

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 51-51-00-1010 CSC-51 -134,629.29

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE - PRIOR 51-51-00-3800 CSC-51 90,185.32

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE - PRIOR 51-51-00-3800 CSC-51 133,907.12

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE - CURRENT 51-51-00-3801 CSC-51 -89,463.15

AJE-01 4/30/2018 CASH 75-75-00-1010 CUD-75 -249,947.64

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 75-75-00-3800 CUD-75 249,074.62

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 75-75-00-3800 CUD-75 -1,046.22

AJE-01 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE-CURRENT 75-75-00-3801 CUD-75 1,919.24

AJE-02 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 20-20-00-3800 MEF-20 34,863.24

AJE-02 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 20-20-00-3800 MEF-20 -2,919.99

AJE-02 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 20-20-00-4800 MEF-20 2,919.99

AJE-02 4/30/2018 BAD DEBT EXPENSE 20-20-00-5563 MEF-20 -34,863.24

AJE-02 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 40-40-00-3800 MWF-40 -1,196.81

AJE-02 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 40-40-00-4800 MWF-40 1,196.81

To allocate fund balanace into proper funds.

To adjust differences in fund balance. Sikich

noted changes in bad debt allowances were 

recorded against fund balance accounts.
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Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-03 4/30/2018 ACC REC - LIMESTONE GRANT 10-12-00-1556 GF-10 9,132.69

AJE-03 4/30/2018 USEPA GRANT-LIMESTONE BUILDING 10-12-00-4700 GF-10 -9,132.69

AJE-04 4/30/2018 BOND PREMIUM 90-90-00-2800 GLTDAG-90 8,542.06

AJE-04 4/30/2018 BOND PREMIUM 90-90-00-7000 GLTDAG-90 -8,542.06

AJE-06 4/30/2018 CASH HELD WITH PAYING AGENT 30-30-00-1035 MSSF-3 -384,615.38

AJE-06 4/30/2018 IEPA LOAN PAYABLE L17-2650 30-30-00-2400 MSSF-3 1,153,846.14

AJE-06 4/30/2018 IEPA LOAN PAYABLE L17-4568 30-30-00-2401 MSSF-3 176,084.23

AJE-06 4/30/2018 IEPA LOAN PAYABLE L17-3012 30-30-00-2402 MSSF-3 22,790.94

AJE-06 4/30/2018 EPA LOAN PAYABLE 30-30-00-2405 MSSF-3 -39,957.13

AJE-06 4/30/2018 EPA LOAN PAYABLE 30-30-00-2406 MSSF-3 -968,105.93

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTERST PAYABLE 30-38-00-2065 MSSF-3 2,262.88

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTERST PAYABLE 30-38-00-2065 MSSF-3

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE - IEPA LOANS 30-38-00-5651 MSSF-3 49,125.99

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE - IEPA LOANS 30-38-00-5651 MSSF-3 2,178.71

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE - IEPA LOANS 30-38-00-5651 MSSF-3 -13,609.68

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE - IEPA LOANS 30-38-00-5651 MSSF-3 -0.77

AJE-06 4/30/2018 CASH HELD WITH PAYING AGENT 40-40-00-1035 MWF-40 -13,120.43

AJE-06 4/30/2018 CASH HELD WITH PAYING AGENT 40-40-00-1035 MWF-40

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE 40-40-00-2060 MWF-40 -19,296.38

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE 40-40-00-2060 MWF-40 -845.93

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE 40-40-00-2060 MWF-40

AJE-06 4/30/2018 EPA LOAN PAYABLE 40-40-00-2405 MWF-40 -35,242.36

AJE-06 4/30/2018 IEPA LOAN PAYABLE L175023 40-40-00-2406 MWF-40 41,456.77

AJE-06 4/30/2018 IEPA LOAN PAYABLE L175023 40-40-00-2406 MWF-40 18,046.96

AJE-06 4/30/2018 MUNICIPAL REVENUE 40-40-00-4120 MWF-40 -13,358.18

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE 40-48-00-5738 MWF-40 -8,726.38

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE 40-48-00-5738 MWF-40 845.93

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE 40-48-00-5738 MWF-40 21,319.10

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE 40-48-00-5738 MWF-40 13,358.18

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE 40-48-00-5738 MWF-40 13,609.68

AJE-06 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE 40-48-00-5738 MWF-40 -18,046.96

AJE-07 4/30/2018 NEW CARS 10-06-00-5214 GF-10 -34,384.56

AJE-07 4/30/2018 CASH HELD WITH PAYING AGENT 10-10-00-1035 GF-10

AJE-07 4/30/2018 CASH HELD WITH PAYING AGENT 10-10-00-1035 GF-10

AJE-07 4/30/2018 LOAN/PRINCIPAL 10-10-00-5130 GF-10

AJE-07 4/30/2018 LOAN/PRINCIPAL 10-10-00-5130 GF-10 34,078.00

To record current year A/R on USEPA grant.

General Long Term Debt Account Group

Journal Entries.

To correct IEPA loan balances.
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Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-07 4/30/2018 INT - STREET SWEEPER LEASE 10-10-00-5138 GF-10 306.56

AJE-07 4/30/2018 INT - STREET SWEEPER LEASE 10-10-00-5138 GF-10

AJE-07 4/30/2018 CASH HELD WITH PAYING AGENT 20-20-00-1035 MEF-20

AJE-07 4/30/2018 CASH HELD WITH PAYING AGENT 20-20-00-1035 MEF-20

AJE-07 4/30/2018 LEASE OBLIGATION PAYABLE 20-20-00-2001 MEF-20

AJE-07 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE-LEASE 20-20-00-2060 MEF-20

AJE-08 4/30/2018 CASH 20-20-00-1014 MEF-20 -9,237.00

AJE-08 4/30/2018 EQUIPMENT 20-20-00-1500 MEF-20 57,053.39

AJE-08 4/30/2018 RES FOR DEPREC-EQUIPMENT 20-20-00-1525 MEF-20 -47,816.39

AJE-08 4/30/2018 CASH 51-51-00-1010 CSC-51 9,237.00

AJE-08 4/30/2018 EQUIPMENT 51-51-00-1500 CSC-51 -57,053.39

AJE-08 4/30/2018 RES FOR DEPRECIATION 51-51-00-1525 CSC-51 47,816.39

AJE-09 4/30/2018 LAND IMPROVEMENTS 95-95-00-1505 G-95 541,462.74

AJE-09 4/30/2018 EQUIPMENT 95-95-00-1520 G-95 -501.26

AJE-09 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 95-95-00-3800 G-95 -2,868,099.81

AJE-09 4/30/2018 GFAAG - PUBLIC SAFETY EXPENSE 95-95-00-5801 G-95 -24,317.50

AJE-09 4/30/2018 GFAAG - HIGHWAY & STREET EXP 95-95-00-5802 G-95 -1,032,765.68

AJE-09 4/30/2018 GENERAL GOVERNMENT ADDITIONS 95-95-00-5803 G-95 2,868,099.81

AJE-09 4/30/2018 GENERAL GOVERNMENT ADDITIONS 95-95-00-5803 G-95 -541,462.74

AJE-09 4/30/2018 GENERAL GOVERNMENT ADDITIONS 95-95-00-5803 G-95 501.26

AJE-09 4/30/2018 GENERAL GOVERNMENT ADDITIONS 95-95-00-5803 G-95 1,032,765.68

AJE-09 4/30/2018 GENERAL GOVERNMENT ADDITIONS 95-95-00-5803 G-95 24,317.50

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOW-IMRF 20-20-00-1480 MEF-20 467.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOW-IMRF 20-20-00-1480 MEF-20 -258,934.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOW-IMRF 20-20-00-1480 MEF-20 175,424.88

AJE-10 4/30/2018 NET PENSION LIABILITY-IMRF 20-20-00-2450 MEF-20 725,372.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 20-20-00-2451 MEF-20 -129,980.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 20-20-00-2451 MEF-20 -315,009.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 20-20-00-2451 MEF-20 -175,424.88

AJE-10 4/30/2018 Pension expense 20-20-00-5700 MEF-20 -21,916.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 30-30-00-1480 MSSF-3 161.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 30-30-00-1480 MSSF-3 -89,498.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 30-30-00-1480 MSSF-3 60,633.49

AJE-10 4/30/2018 NET PENSION LIABILITY-IMRF 30-30-00-2450 MSSF-3 250,716.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 30-30-00-2451 MSSF-3 -44,926.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 30-30-00-2451 MSSF-3 -108,879.00

proper funds.

To correct balances in GFAAG.

To allocate Customer Service Center into 

To correct capital lease balances.
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Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 30-30-00-2451 MSSF-3 -60,633.49

AJE-10 4/30/2018 Pension expense 30-30-00-5700 MSSF-3 -7,574.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 40-40-00-1470 MWF-40 162.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 40-40-00-1470 MWF-40 -90,034.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 40-40-00-1470 MWF-40 60,996.72

AJE-10 4/30/2018 NET PENSION LIABILITY-IMRF 40-40-00-2450 MWF-40 252,218.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOW IMRF 40-40-00-2451 MWF-40 -45,195.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOW IMRF 40-40-00-2451 MWF-40 -109,531.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOW IMRF 40-40-00-2451 MWF-40 -60,996.72

AJE-10 4/30/2018 Pension expense 40-40-00-5700 MWF-40 -7,620.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 50-50-00-1480 MGF-50 -70.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 50-50-00-1480 MGF-50 47.70

AJE-10 4/30/2018 NET PENSION LIABILITY-IMRF 50-50-00-2450 MGF-50 197.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED NFLOW OF RESOURCES 50-50-00-2451 MGF-50 -35.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED NFLOW OF RESOURCES 50-50-00-2451 MGF-50 -86.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED NFLOW OF RESOURCES 50-50-00-2451 MGF-50 -47.70

AJE-10 4/30/2018 Pension expense 50-50-00-5700 MGF-50 -6.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 90-90-00-1480 GLTDAG-90 377.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 90-90-00-1480 GLTDAG-90 -209,117.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-IMRF 90-90-00-1480 GLTDAG-90 141,674.21

AJE-10 4/30/2018 NET PENSION LIABILITY-IMRF 90-90-00-2450 GLTDAG-90 585,815.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 90-90-00-2451 GLTDAG-90 -104,973.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 90-90-00-2451 GLTDAG-90 -254,403.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 DEFERRED INFLOWS-IMRF 90-90-00-2451 GLTDAG-90 -141,674.21

AJE-10 4/30/2018 Change in NPL - General Government 90-90-00-5903 GLTDAG-90 -10,619.00

AJE-10 4/30/2018 Change in NPL - Streets 90-90-00-5904 GLTDAG-90 -7,080.00

AJE-11 4/30/2018 JOBS IN PROCESS 40-40-00-1570 MWF-40 9,824.24

AJE-11 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 40-40-00-3800 MWF-40 -9,824.24

AJE-12 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 18-18-00-3800 ESDA-18 -133.25

AJE-12 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE-CURRENT 18-18-00-3801 ESDA-18 133.25

AJE-13 4/30/2018 STATE INCOME TAX RECEIVABLE 10-01-00-1200 GF-10 -127,083.86

AJE-13 4/30/2018 STATE INCOME TAX 10-01-00-4300 GF-10 127,083.86

as amount relates to FY19.

To eliminate ESDA fund balance.

To eliminate receivable for State Income Tax 

To record changes in IMRF NPL.

To correct fund balance for FY17 invoices that

were accrued but not recorded by the City.
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Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH 20-20-00-1014 MEF-20 -35,006.17

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH EQUIVALENT 20-20-00-1025 MEF-20 36,550.50

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INVESTMENTS 20-20-00-1030 MEF-20 93,772.95

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE 20-20-00-1140 MEF-20 246.54

AJE-14 4/30/2018 DUE FROM CUD 20-20-00-1349 MEF-20 -96.22

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 20-20-00-2000 MEF-20 -43.65

AJE-14 4/30/2018 Customer Utility Deposits 20-20-00-2100 MEF-20 -131,529.01

AJE-14 4/30/2018 Customer Utility Deposits 20-20-00-2100 MEF-20 36,580.36

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 20-20-00-4040 MEF-20 -782.53

AJE-14 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE 20-20-00-5588 MEF-20 307.23

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH 30-30-00-1010 MSSF-3 -37,267.13

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH EQUIVALENT 30-30-00-1025 MSSF-3 39,147.18

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INVESTMENTS 30-30-00-1030 MSSF-3 100,434.92

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE 30-30-00-1140 MSSF-3 264.05

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 30-30-00-2000 MSSF-3 -46.75

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 30-30-00-2100 MSSF-3 -140,873.30

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 30-30-00-2100 MSSF-3 39,179.15

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 30-30-00-4040 MSSF-3 -838.12

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH 40-40-00-1010 MWF-40 -9,706.37

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH EQUIVALENT 40-40-00-1025 MWF-40 10,196.04

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INVESTMENTS 40-40-00-1030 MWF-40 26,158.68

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE 40-40-00-1140 MWF-40 68.77

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 40-40-00-2000 MWF-40 -12.18

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 40-40-00-2100 MWF-40 -36,691.02

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 40-40-00-2100 MWF-40 10,204.37

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 40-40-00-4040 MWF-40 -218.29

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH 50-50-00-1010 MGF-50 -964.11

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH EQUIVALENT 50-50-00-1025 MGF-50 1,012.75

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INVESTMENTS 50-50-00-1030 MGF-50 2,598.29

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE 50-50-00-1140 MGF-50 6.83

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 50-50-00-2000 MGF-50 -1.21

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 50-50-00-2100 MGF-50 -3,644.45

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 50-50-00-2100 MGF-50 1,013.58

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 50-50-00-4040 MGF-50 -21.68

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH 75-75-00-1010 CUD-75 82,943.80

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CASH EQUIVALENT 75-75-00-1025 CUD-75 -86,906.47

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INVESTMENTS 75-75-00-1030 CUD-75 -222,964.84

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE 75-75-00-1040 CUD-75 -586.20

AJE-14 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 75-75-00-2000 CUD-75 103.78

AJE-14 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEP-ACTIVE 75-75-00-2100 CUD-75 312,737.78

AJE-14 4/30/2018 DUE TO ELECTRIC 75-75-00-2350 CUD-75 96.22

AJE-14 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 75-75-00-4040 CUD-75 1,860.62

AJE-14 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE 75-75-00-5088 CUD-75 -307.23

AJE-14 4/30/2018 OPERATING TRANSFER OUT 75-75-00-5090 CUD-75 -86,977.46

To allocate Fund 75 into various funds.
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Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CASH 20-20-00-1014 MEF-20 40,984.54

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 20-20-00-2000 MEF-20 -310.05

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED WAGES 20-20-00-2040 MEF-20 -2,489.72

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED VACATION 20-20-00-2050 MEF-20 -5,236.85

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED SICK 20-20-00-2055 MEF-20 -1,056.24

AJE-15 4/30/2018 EMPLOYEE HEALTH INSURANCE REIM 20-20-00-4000 MEF-20 -4,611.45

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 20-20-00-4040 MEF-20 1,072.70

AJE-15 4/30/2018 TRANSFER FROM CUST SERVICE 20-20-00-4498 MEF-20 60,000.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CREDIT CARD CONVENIENCE FEE 20-20-00-4700 MEF-20 -5,663.32

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 20-20-00-4800 MEF-20 -6,501.95

AJE-15 4/30/2018 OVERTIME 20-20-00-5510 MEF-20 18.73

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SALARY/WAGES 20-20-00-5511 MEF-20 84,479.19

AJE-15 4/30/2018 COMMODITIES TRANSFERRED FROM FUND 51 20-20-00-5523 MEF-20 62,705.99

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES TRANSFERRED FROM FUND 51 20-20-00-5524 MEF-20 6,477.74

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SOCIAL SECURITY TAX EXPENSE 20-20-00-5566 MEF-20 5,056.36

AJE-15 4/30/2018 IMRF PENSION EXPENSE 20-20-00-5569 MEF-20 8,242.31

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INSURANCE EXPENSE-EMPLOYEE 20-20-00-5572 MEF-20 26,872.50

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MEDICARE TAX EXPENSE 20-20-00-5575 MEF-20 1,182.52

AJE-15 4/30/2018 UTILITY OFFICE EXPENSE 20-20-00-5581 MEF-20 -271,956.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE 20-20-00-5590 MEF-20 733.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CASH 30-30-00-1010 MSSF-3 -129,340.79

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 30-30-00-2000 MSSF-3 -332.08

AJE-15 4/30/2018 EMPLOYEE HEALTH INSURANCE REIM 30-30-00-4000 MSSF-3 -4,939.07

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 30-30-00-4040 MSSF-3 1,148.90

AJE-15 4/30/2018 TRANSFER FROM CUST SERVICE 30-30-00-4498 MSSF-3 15,000.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CREDIT CARD CONVENIENCE FEE 30-30-00-4700 MSSF-3 -6,065.66

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 30-30-00-4800 MSSF-3 -6,963.87

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED WAGES 30-38-00-2040 MSSF-3 -2,666.60

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED VACATION 30-38-00-2050 MSSF-3 -5,608.90

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED SICK 30-38-00-2055 MSSF-3 -1,131.28

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SALARY/WAGES 30-38-00-5611 MSSF-3 90,480.90

AJE-15 4/30/2018 OVERTIME 30-38-00-5613 MSSF-3 20.06

AJE-15 4/30/2018 COMMODITIES TRANSFERRED FROM FUND 51 30-38-00-5623 MSSF-3 67,160.85

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES TRANSFERRED FROM FUND 51 30-38-00-5624 MSSF-3 6,937.94

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SOCIAL SECURITY TAX EXPENSE 30-38-00-5666 MSSF-3 5,415.58

AJE-15 4/30/2018 IMRF PENSION EXPENSE 30-38-00-5669 MSSF-3 8,827.87

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INSURANCE EXPENSE-EMPLOYEE 30-38-00-5672 MSSF-3 28,781.61

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MEDICARE TAX EXPENSE 30-38-00-5675 MSSF-3 1,266.54

AJE-15 4/30/2018 UTILITY OFFICE EXPENSE 30-38-00-5681 MSSF-3 -67,992.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CASH 40-40-00-1010 MWF-40 5,502.68

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 40-40-00-2000 MWF-40 -86.49

AJE-15 4/30/2018 EMPLOYEE HEALTH INSURANCE REIM 40-40-00-4000 MWF-40 -1,286.40

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 40-40-00-4040 MWF-40 299.24

AJE-15 4/30/2018 TRANSFER FROM CUSTOMER SERVICE 40-40-00-4498 MWF-40 15,000.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CREDIT CARD CONVENIENCE FEE 40-40-00-4700 MWF-40 -1,579.83

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 40-40-00-4800 MWF-40 -1,813.77

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED WAGES 40-48-00-2040 MWF-40 -694.53

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED VACATION 40-48-00-2050 MWF-40 -1,460.86

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED SICK 40-48-00-2055 MWF-40 -294.65
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AJE-15 4/30/2018 SALARIES/WAGES 40-48-00-5711 MWF-40 23,566.12

AJE-15 4/30/2018 OVERTIME 40-48-00-5713 MWF-40 5.23

AJE-15 4/30/2018 COMMODITIES TRANSFERRED FROM FUND 51 40-48-00-5721 MWF-40 17,492.32

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES TRANSFERRED FROM FUND 51 40-48-00-5722 MWF-40 1,807.01

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SOCIAL SECURITY TAX EXPENSE 40-48-00-5766 MWF-40 1,410.51

AJE-15 4/30/2018 IMRF PENSION EXPENSE 40-48-00-5769 MWF-40 2,299.26

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INSURANCE EXPENSE-EMPLOYEE 40-48-00-5772 MWF-40 7,496.29

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MEDICARE TAX EXPENSE 40-48-00-5775 MWF-40 329.87

AJE-15 4/30/2018 UTILITY OFFICE EXPENSE 40-48-00-5781 MWF-40 -67,992.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CASH 50-50-00-1010 MGF-50 30,619.29

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 50-50-00-2000 MGF-50 -8.60

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED WAGES 50-50-00-2040 MGF-50 -68.98

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED VACATION 50-50-00-2050 MGF-50 -145.10

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED SICK 50-50-00-2055 MGF-50 -29.26

AJE-15 4/30/2018 EMPLOYEE HEALTH INSURANCE REIM 50-50-00-4000 MGF-50 -127.78

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 50-50-00-4040 MGF-50 29.72

AJE-15 4/30/2018 TRANSFER FROM CUSTOMER SERVICE 50-50-00-4498 MGF-50 10,000.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CREDIT CARD CONVENIENCE FEE 50-50-00-4700 MGF-50 -156.92

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 50-50-00-4800 MGF-50 -180.15

AJE-15 4/30/2018 OVERTIME 50-50-00-5102 MGF-50 0.52

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SALARY/WAGES 50-50-00-5111 MGF-50 2,340.78

AJE-15 4/30/2018 IMRF PENSION EXPENSE 50-50-00-5169 MGF-50 228.38

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INSURANCE EXPENSE - EMPLOYEE 50-50-00-5172 MGF-50 744.59

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MEDICARE TAX EXPENSE 50-50-00-5175 MGF-50 32.77

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SOCIAL SECURITY TAX EXPENSE 50-50-00-5566 MGF-50 140.11

AJE-15 4/30/2018 COMMODITIES TRANSFERRED FROM FUND 51 50-50-00-5823 MGF-50 1,737.48

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES TRANSFERRED FROM FUND 51 50-50-00-5824 MGF-50 179.15

AJE-15 4/30/2018 UTILITY OFFICE EXPENSE 50-50-00-5881 MGF-50 -45,336.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CASH 51-51-00-1010 CSC-51 52,234.28

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 51-51-00-2000 CSC-51 737.22

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED WAGES 51-51-00-2040 CSC-51 5,919.83

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED VACATION 51-51-00-2050 CSC-51 12,451.71

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ACCRUED SICK 51-51-00-2055 CSC-51 2,511.43

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INTEREST INCOME 51-51-00-4040 CSC-51 -2,550.56

AJE-15 4/30/2018 EMPLOYEE HEALTH INSURANCE REIM 51-51-00-4100 CSC-51 10,964.70

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CREDIT CARD CONVENIENCE FEE 51-51-00-4700 CSC-51 13,465.73

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS 51-51-00-4800 CSC-51 15,459.74

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ELECTRIC FUND CONTRIBUTION 51-51-00-4801 CSC-51 271,956.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 WATER FUND CONTRIBUTION 51-51-00-4802 CSC-51 67,992.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SEWER FUND CONTRIBUTION 51-51-00-4803 CSC-51 67,992.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 GARBAGE FUND CONTRIBUTION 51-51-00-4804 CSC-51 45,336.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 OVERTIME 51-51-00-5102 CSC-51 -44.54

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SALARY/WAGES 51-51-00-5111 CSC-51 -200,866.99

AJE-15 4/30/2018 RENT 51-51-00-5113 CSC-51 -48,792.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 PRINTED MATERIALS 51-51-00-5114 CSC-51 -5,446.20

AJE-15 4/30/2018 OFFICE SUPPLIES 51-51-00-5115 CSC-51 -2,761.90

AJE-15 4/30/2018 POSTAGE 51-51-00-5116 CSC-51 -33,650.43
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AJE-15 4/30/2018 NEW EQUIPMENT 51-51-00-5117 CSC-51 -6,224.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MAINTENANCE 51-51-00-5119 CSC-51 -4,910.35

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 51-51-00-5123 CSC-51 -22,099.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 LEASE/RENTAL 51-51-00-5133 CSC-51 -11,970.42

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SCHOOLS/MEETINGS/SEMINARS 51-51-00-5137 CSC-51 -971.27

AJE-15 4/30/2018 PHONE SERVICE 51-51-00-5152 CSC-51 -2,024.64

AJE-15 4/30/2018 LEGAL EXPENSES 51-51-00-5155 CSC-51 -2,640.49

AJE-15 4/30/2018 LEGAL EXPENSES 51-51-00-5155 CSC-51 180.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 CREDIT CARD BANK FEES 51-51-00-5162 CSC-51 -15,224.45

AJE-15 4/30/2018 PAYMENT SERVICE NETWORK FEES 51-51-00-5163 CSC-51 -4,402.67

AJE-15 4/30/2018 ONLINE INFO SERVICES EXPENSE 51-51-00-5164 CSC-51 -3,195.94

AJE-15 4/30/2018 SOCIAL SECURITY TAX EXPENSE 51-51-00-5166 CSC-51 -12,022.56

AJE-15 4/30/2018 IMRF EXPENSE 51-51-00-5169 CSC-51 -19,597.82

AJE-15 4/30/2018 INSURANCE EXPENSE - EMPLOYEE 51-51-00-5172 CSC-51 -63,894.99

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MEDICARE TAX EXPENSE 51-51-00-5175 CSC-51 -2,811.70

AJE-15 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS 51-51-00-5188 CSC-51 -365.05

AJE-15 4/30/2018 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE 51-51-00-5190 CSC-51 -732.67

AJE-15 4/30/2018 TRANSFER TO GARBAGE 51-51-00-5496 CSC-51 -10,000.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 TRANSFER TO ELECTRIC 51-51-00-5497 CSC-51 -60,000.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 TRANSFER TO SEWER 51-51-00-5498 CSC-51 -15,000.00

AJE-15 4/30/2018 TRANSFER TO WATER 51-51-00-5499 CSC-51 -15,000.00

AJE-16 4/30/2018 DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS 12-12-00-1390 BCDF-12 4,747.50

AJE-16 4/30/2018 GRANT FUNDS 12-12-00-4585 BCDF-12 -4,747.50

AJE-17 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE/BONDS 19-19-00-2065 DR-19 -96,701.39

AJE-17 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE 19-19-00-5338 DR-19 96,701.39

AJE-18 4/30/2018 BUILDOUT ENGINEERING 23-23-00-5504 FOBF-T-23 139,822.29

AJE-18 4/30/2018 TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS 23-23-00-6700 FOBF-T-23 -139,822.29

AJE-18 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 24-24-00-3800 FOBF-TE-24 -139,822.29

AJE-18 4/30/2018 TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS 24-24-00-6800 FOBF-TE-24 139,822.29

AJE-19 4/30/2018 LAND IMPROVEMENTS 95-95-00-1505 G-95 -337,641.90

AJE-19 4/30/2018 INFRASTRUCTURE 95-95-00-1510 G-95 13,701.84

AJE-19 4/30/2018 EQUIPMENT 95-95-00-1520 G-95 20,150.00

AJE-19 4/30/2018 RESERVE FOR DEP LAND IMPROVE 95-95-00-1535 G-95 6,326.47

AJE-19 4/30/2018 DEPREC EXP - HIGHWAY & STREETS 95-95-00-5406 G-95 -6,326.47

AJE-19 4/30/2018 GFAAG - HIGHWAY & STREET EXP 95-95-00-5802 G-95 337,641.90

To allocate fund 51 into varoius funds.

To record additional A/R for IHDA grant.

To record interest expense.

To record transfer of funds into Fund 23. Prior

year AP was reported in the incorrect sub-fund.
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Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-19 4/30/2018 GFAAG - HIGHWAY & STREET EXP 95-95-00-5802 G-95 -20,150.00

AJE-19 4/30/2018 GFAAG - HIGHWAY & STREET EXP 95-95-00-5802 G-95 -13,701.84

AJE-20 4/30/2018 ANT FUTURE REV TO RETIRE-CONTR 10-01-00-1650 GF-10 3.79

AJE-20 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 10-01-00-4800 GF-10 -3.79

AJE-21 4/30/2018 DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS 40-40-00-1390 MWF-40 -13,358.18

AJE-21 4/30/2018 INTEREST EXPENSE 40-48-00-5738 MWF-40 13,358.18

AJE-22 4/30/2018 RESERVE FOR BAD DEBT SPECIAL 20-20-00-1156 MEF-20 20,000.00

AJE-22 4/30/2018 BAD DEBT EXPENSE 20-20-00-5563 MEF-20 -20,000.00

AJE-23 4/30/2018 ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION-FIBER 21-21-00-1550 BF-21 -68,683.92

AJE-23 4/30/2018 DEPRECIATION FIBER 21-21-00-5690 BF-21 68,683.92

AJE-24 4/30/2018 LEASE OBLIGATION PAYABLE 90-90-00-2001 GLTDAG-90 152,769.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 ACCRUED INTEREST PAYABLE 90-90-00-2200 GLTDAG-90 30,090.82

AJE-24 4/30/2018 BONDS PAYABLE 90-90-00-2410 GLTDAG-90 24,000.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 BONDS PAYABLE-MFT 90-90-00-2411 GLTDAG-90 110,000.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 FUND BALANCE PRIOR 90-90-00-3800 GLTDAG-90 6,634,053.79

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAYMENT - MFT BOND 90-90-00-5100 GLTDAG-90 105,000.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAYMENT - MFT BOND 90-90-00-5100 GLTDAG-90 -110,000.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAY - 2012 DEBT CERT 90-90-00-5110 GLTDAG-90 23,000.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAY - 2012 DEBT CERT 90-90-00-5110 GLTDAG-90 -24,000.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCPL PAY - ELGIN ST SWEEPER 90-90-00-5200 GLTDAG-90 25,419.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCPL PAY - ELGIN ST SWEEPER 90-90-00-5200 GLTDAG-90 -26,179.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAY - POLICE VEHICLE 90-90-00-5210 GLTDAG-90 39,122.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAY-SQUAD CARS 90-90-00-5220 GLTDAG-90 34,385.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAY-SQUAD CARS 90-90-00-5220 GLTDAG-90 -34,078.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAY-DUMP TRUCK 90-90-00-5230 GLTDAG-90 51,102.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAY-DUMP TRUCK 90-90-00-5230 GLTDAG-90 -92,512.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PRINCIPAL PAY - IEPA LOAN 90-90-00-5300 GLTDAG-90 72,932.03

AJE-24 4/30/2018 Interest expense 90-90-00-5400 GLTDAG-90 -30,090.82

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PROCEEDS-GO BONDS 90-90-00-6200 GLTDAG-90 -6,675,000.00

AJE-24 4/30/2018 PROCEEDS-CAPITAL LEASE 90-90-00-6300 GLTDAG-90 -310,013.82

To record depreciation expense and

accumulated depreciation for assets.

To record changes in GLTDAG.

To write off Special A/R reserve.

To record adjustments to capital assets.

To write off immaterial deferred amount.

To eliminate prior year IEPA receivable.
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Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-25 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 10-01-00-2000 GF-10 -13,701.84

AJE-25 4/30/2018 ENGINEERING/SALES TAX PROJECT 10-10-00-5159 GF-10 13,701.84

AJE-25 4/30/2018 NETWORK BUILDOUT(PHASE 1)M/L 24-24-00-1530 FOBF-TE-24 247,922.50

AJE-25 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 24-24-00-2000 FOBF-TE-24 -247,922.50

AJE-25 4/30/2018 PLANT & PROPERTY-ENGINEERING 30-30-00-1571 MSSF-3 14,733.80

AJE-25 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 30-30-00-2000 MSSF-3 -14,733.80

AJE-25 4/30/2018 JOBS IN PROCESS 40-40-00-1570 MWF-40 12,197.31

AJE-25 4/30/2018 JOBS IN PROCESS 40-40-00-1570 MWF-40 8,758.68

AJE-25 4/30/2018 JOBS IN PROCESS 40-40-00-1570 MWF-40 2,900.00

AJE-25 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 40-40-00-2000 MWF-40 -12,197.31

AJE-25 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 40-40-00-2000 MWF-40 -8,758.68

AJE-25 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 40-40-00-2000 MWF-40 -2,900.00

AJE-26 4/30/2018 PREPAID EXPENSES 20-20-00-1470 MEF-20 -117,505.50

AJE-26 4/30/2018 MAINTENANCE GEN-SETS 20-20-00-5506 MEF-20 117,505.50

AJE-27 4/30/2018 Customer Utility Deposits 20-20-00-2100 MEF-20 -40,734.94

AJE-27 4/30/2018 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 20-20-00-4915 MEF-20 40,734.94

AJE-27 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 30-30-00-2100 MSSF-3 -28,176.84

AJE-27 4/30/2018 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 30-30-00-4915 MSSF-3 28,176.84

AJE-27 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 40-40-00-2100 MWF-40 -13,644.84

AJE-27 4/30/2018 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 40-40-00-4915 MWF-40 13,644.84

AJE-27 4/30/2018 CUSTOMER UTILITY DEPOSITS 50-50-00-2100 MGF-50 -4,420.84

AJE-27 4/30/2018 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 50-50-00-4915 MGF-50 4,420.84

AJE-28 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE/BONDS 23-23-00-2065 FOBF-T-23

AJE-28 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE/BONDS 23-23-00-2065 FOBF-T-23 -86,932.80

AJE-28 4/30/2018 BONDS PAYABLE 23-23-00-2410 FOBF-T-23 -2,645,000.00

AJE-28 4/30/2018 Interest Expense 23-23-00-5338 FOBF-T-23 86,932.80

AJE-28 4/30/2018 Transfers In 23-23-00-6800 FOBF-T-23 2,645,000.00

AJE-28 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE/BONDS 24-24-00-2065 FOBF-TE-24

AJE-28 4/30/2018 INTEREST PAYABLE/BONDS 24-24-00-2065 FOBF-TE-24 -78,260.00

AJE-28 4/30/2018 Bonds Payable 24-24-00-2410 FOBF-TE-24 -2,105,000.00

AJE-28 4/30/2018 BOND PREMIUM 24-24-00-2800 FOBF-TE-24 -14,953.76

AJE-28 4/30/2018 Interest Expense 24-24-00-5338 FOBF-TE-24 78,260.00

AJE-28 4/30/2018 Transfer In 24-24-00-6700 FOBF-TE-24 2,105,000.00

AJE-28 4/30/2018 Transfer In 24-24-00-6700 FOBF-TE-24 15,701.45

AJE-28 4/30/2018 BOND PREMIUM 24-24-00-7000 FOBF-TE-24 -747.69

AJE-28 4/30/2018 ACCRUED INTEREST PAYABLE 90-90-00-2200 GLTDAG-90

AJE-28 4/30/2018 ACCRUED INTEREST PAYABLE 90-90-00-2200 GLTDAG-90

AJE-28 4/30/2018 BONDS PAYABLE 90-90-00-2410 GLTDAG-90 4,750,000.00

AJE-28 4/30/2018 BOND PREMIUM 90-90-00-2800 GLTDAG-90 14,953.76

To accrue for additional accounts payable.

To reverse prior year prepaid expense.

To eliminate 'other financing sources' that 

are a reduction in deposits outstanding.
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Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit

AJE-28 4/30/2018 Transfer Out 90-90-00-6700 GLTDAG-90 -4,750,000.00

AJE-28 4/30/2018 Transfer Out 90-90-00-6700 GLTDAG-90 -15,701.45

AJE-28 4/30/2018 BOND PREMIUM 90-90-00-7000 GLTDAG-90 747.69

AJE-29 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 10-12-00-4800 GF-10 48,802.96

AJE-29 4/30/2018 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 10-12-00-4800 GF-10 18,504.99

AJE-29 4/30/2018 2017 LIGHTNING STRIKE-INS 10-12-00-5491 GF-10 -48,802.96

AJE-29 4/30/2018 2017 LIGHTNING STRIKE-INS 10-12-00-5491 GF-10 -18,504.99

AJE-30 4/30/2018 CASH 10-10-00-1010 GF-10 1,014.59

AJE-30 4/30/2018 CASH 10-10-00-1010 GF-10 1,015.25

AJE-30 4/30/2018 PREPAY WIRELESS TOWER LOCATION 10-12-01-4800 GF-10 -1,014.59

AJE-30 4/30/2018 PREPAY WIRELESS TOWER LOCATION 10-12-01-4800 GF-10 -1,015.25

AJE-30 4/30/2018 CASH 40-40-00-1010 MWF-40 -1,014.59

AJE-30 4/30/2018 CASH 40-40-00-1010 MWF-40 -1,015.25

AJE-30 4/30/2018 WATER TOWER RENTAL 40-40-00-4205 MWF-40 1,014.59

AJE-30 4/30/2018 WATER TOWER RENTAL 40-40-00-4205 MWF-40 1,015.25

AJE-31 4/30/2018 Transfer from Other Funds 10-01-00-4499 GF-10 -28,598.91

AJE-31 4/30/2018 RB&W REDEVELOPMENT 10-12-00-5428 GF-10 28,598.91

AJE-31 4/30/2018 TRANSFER TO OTHER FUNDS 19-19-00-4498 DR-19 28,598.91

AJE-31 4/30/2018 ARCHITECT/ENGINEERING EXPENSE 19-19-00-5056 DR-19 -28,598.91

recorded.

AJE-32 4/30/2018 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 10-01-00-2000 GF-10 -27,253.41

AJE-32 4/30/2018 MISC EXP/CONSOLIDATE DISPATCH 10-06-00-5257 GF-10 27,253.41

dispatch bill. Calculated as 1/3 of quarterly bill.

expense related to lightning strike.

To reclassify revenue into proper

account/fund.

To match reveral of prior year accounts payable

with corrected account where expenditure was 

To record AP for consolidated

To net insurance proceeds with

To transfer debt from GLTAG into

Broadband Funds
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401 W. State Street, Suite 509 
Rockford, IL 61101 

815.282.6565 

 

 

 

 

The Honorable Mayor 

Members of the City Council 

City of Rock Falls, Illinois 

 

As part of the annual audit, we are required to communicate internal control matters that we 

classify as significant deficiencies and material weaknesses to those charged with governance. A 

deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 

or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or 

a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 

important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. A material weakness is a 

deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 

possibility that a material misstatement of the City’s financial statements will not be prevented, or 

detected and corrected, on a timely basis. 

 

We have communicated the material weakness identified during our audit to the City Council in 

our separate correspondence titled “Management Letter.” 

 

During our audit, we also identify certain matters which we communicate only to management. 

While many of these matters are operational in nature, they may include internal control 

deficiencies that do not meet the definition of a significant deficiency or material weakness. We 

have chosen to communicate these matters in this communication. As discussed on the following 

pages, we reviewed the status of the deficiencies dated April 30, 2017. The status of these is 

included in Appendix A. 

 

The City’s written responses to the deficiencies in our audit have not been subjected to the audit 

procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion 

on it.  

 

This memorandum is intended solely for the information and use of management and is not 

intended and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

 

 

 

Rockford, Illinois 

October 11, 2018 
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DEFICIENCIES 
 

We consider the following to be deficiencies in internal control: 
 

1. Credit Card Policy Compliance  

 
 During our review of credit card transactions, we noted several transactions did not comply 

with the City’s established credit card policies. The following matters were noted: 
 

• Several card charges were not supported by a detailed receipt  

• Several purchases included sales tax  
 

We recommend the City require strict compliance with established credit card policies, and 
adequate support is maintained to support the City purpose of credit card purchases.  
 
Management’s Response 
 
During FY 17, a meeting was held with all cardholders reviewing the policy. All card holders 
have been directed to have detailed receipts. Since that meeting, the cardholders have 
remained compliant with the policy. The City’s current Credit Card Policy does not prohibit 
paying sales tax, it simply requires “Credit cardholders holders should make every effort to 
insure the purchases do not include sales tax.” Since a very high percentage of the credit 
card use is for one time online purchases or travel and/or meals, it is acceptable to the City 
that those credit card transactions would include sales tax. However, the City is currently 
reviewing the language of the current Credit Card Policy to provide for more reasonable 
language regarding sales tax and unavoidable situations such as sales tax on meals. 

 

2. Interfund Transactions  

 
During our audit, we noted interfund transactions (GIS IT) which are not completely 
allocated to individual funds.  
 
We recommend the City completely allocate all such interfund transactions to ensure  
quasi-interfund transactions are accounted in the individual fund receiving the service or 
commodity.  
 
Management’s Response 
 
The City will review the allocation of the interfund transfers between accounts to determine 
any necessary changes that need to be made in the accounting process. 

 

3. Expenditure and Bidding Procedures  
 

We reviewed a sample of purchases made by the City during the fiscal year for compliance 
with the City’s established purchasing and bidding policies and procedures. We noted the 
following matters: 
 

• The City does not utilize the “Quotation Form” to document verbal and written 
quotations 

• The City does not utilize purchase orders   
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DEFICIENCIES (Continued) 

 

3. Expenditure and Bidding Procedures (Continued) 

 

We recommend the City abide by the adopted purchasing policy or modify the existing 

policy to reflect the current policies and procedures. 

 

Management’s Response 

 

The City does currently and historically has used the “Quotation Form” provided in the 

Purchasing Policy. However, will be reviewed with the Department Heads as a reminder that 

all quoted goods and services need to use the form.  

 

Some of the City’s department do utilize purchase orders on a regular basis. Currently, 

purchase orders are not required to be used nor will they be required to be used in the future. 

 

4. Fiber Capital Assets  

 

 During our review of capital asset transactions, we noted several new fiber capital assets 

which were capitalized during the current year. However, we noted the City’s capitalization 

policy does not specifically address the capitalization thresholds and procedures for this 

unique type of asset. 

 

 We recommend the City update their capitalization policy to specifically address the 

capitalization policies and limits for fiber capital assets. 

 

Management’s Response 

 

Management will further review and determine whether a change is required in the 

capitalization policy in regard to the fiber capital assets as well as all other municipal capital 

assets. 

 

5. Collateral Agreement  

 

 During our review of collateral pledged to the City, we noted the City does not have a formal 

collateral agreement in place with the financial institution and custodian in which the 

collateral is pledged. 

 

 We recommend the City require formal written collateral agreements to be in place for all 

financial institutions in which deposits exceed FDIC insurance levels. 

 

Management’s Response 

 

Management recognized that although the funds were collateralized, that no collateral 

agreement was in place with two of our financial institutions. Management has since 

requested a collateral agreement from the financial institutions where no agreements existed. 

Management would also like to note that there is, and has been, a collateral agreement in 

place with our principal financial institution who holds the majority of the municipal funds. 
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OTHER COMMENTS  

 

1. Future Accounting Pronouncements 

 

 The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has issued a number of pronouncements 

that may impact the District in the future.  
 

 GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits 

Other Than Pensions, addresses reporting by governments that provide OPEB to their 

employees and for governments that finance OPEB for employees of other governments and 

replaces the requirements of GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting 

by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as they relate to 

governments that provide benefits through OPEB plans administered as trusts or similar 

arrangements that meet certain criteria. Statement No. 75 requires governments providing 

defined benefit OPEB to recognize their long-term obligation for OPEB as a liability for the 

first time, and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the annual costs of OPEB 

benefits. The Statement also enhances accountability and transparency through revised and 

new note disclosures and required supplementary information (RSI). The provisions in 

Statement No. 75 are effective for fiscal years beginning after April 30, 2019.  

 

 GASB Statement No. 82, Pension Issues – an amendment of GASB Statements No. 67, 

No. 68, and No. 73, addresses issues regarding (1) the presentation of payroll-related 

measures in the required supplementary information, (2) the selection of assumptions and 

the treatment of deviations from the guidance in an Actuarial Standard of Practice for 

financial reporting purposes, and (3) the classification of payments made by employers to 

satisfy employee (plan member) contribution requirements. The requirements of this 

standard are effective for the fiscal years ending April 30, 2018 and April 30, 2019. Earlier 

application is encouraged. 

 

 GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations [ARO’s], enhances 

comparability of financial statements among governments by establishing uniform criteria 

for governments to recognize and measure certain AROs, including obligations that may not 

have been previously reported. The Statement will also enhance the decision-usefulness of 

the information provided to financial statement users by requiring disclosures related to 

those AROs. The requirements of this statement are effective for the fiscal year ending 

April 30, 2020. 

 

 GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, will enhance consistency and comparability 

by (1) establishing specific criteria for identifying activities that should be reported as 

fiduciary activities and (2) clarifying whether and how business-type activities should report 

their fiduciary activities. The requirements of this statement are effective for the fiscal year 

ending April 30, 2020. 
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OTHER COMMENTS (Continued)  

 

1. Future Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)  

 

 GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017, addresses a number of issues across a spectrum of 

topics including issues related to blending component units where the primary government 

is a business type activity that reports basic financial statements in a single column, 

accounting for goodwill, fair value measurement and application related to real estate held 

by insurance activities and measuring certain investments at cost or amortized cost, and 

various issues related to accounting and reporting for postemployment benefits (pensions 

and other postemployment benefits [OPEB]). Statement No 85 is effective for the fiscal year 

ending April 30, 2019. 

 

 GASB Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues, was issued to improve 

consistency in accounting and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by 

providing guidance for transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with 

only existing resources are placed in an irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of 

extinguishing debt. This statement also addresses accounting and financial reporting for 

prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial statements for debt that 

is defeased in substance. Statement No. 86 is effective for the fiscal year ending April 30, 

2019. 

 

 GASB Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the 

information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial 

reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of 

governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and 

liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as 

inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the 

contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational 

principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this 

Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use 

lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of 

resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about 

governments’ leasing activities. The requirements of this Statement are effective for the 

fiscal year ending April 30, 2021. 

 

 GASB Statement No 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings 

and Direct Placements, was issued in March 2018 and provides guidance on improving 

disclosures in the notes to the financial statements related to debt, including direct 

borrowings and direct placements of debt. This Statement defines debt for purposes of 

disclosure in notes to financial statements as a liability that arises from a contractual 

obligation to pay cash (or other assets that may be used in lieu of cash) in one or more 

payments to settle an amount that is fixed at the date the contractual obligation is established. 

This Statement requires that additional essential information related to debt be disclosed in 

notes to financial statements, including unused lines of credit; assets pledged as collateral 

for the debt; and terms specified in debt agreements related to significant events of default 

with finance-related consequences, significant termination events with finance-related 

consequences, and significant subjective acceleration clauses. This statement is effective for 

the fiscal year ending April 30, 2020.  
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APPENDIX A 

STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR COMMENTS 

FROM APRIL 30, 2017 

 

DEFICIENCIES 
 

We consider the following to be deficiencies in internal control: 

 

1. Water Loss Statistics  

 

 During our review of water gallons pumped to water gallons billed, we noted a large 

percentage (28.2%) of all gallons pumped are not billed. The expectation for the percentage 

of loss would be at the 15% range or less based upon industry standards. 

 

 We recommend the City implement a process to compare the gallons billed to the gallons 

pumped on a monthly basis. This report, along with the support for any variances, should be 

reviewed by an employee independent of the water billing cycle. This monthly comparison 

should be reviewed by the Superintendent of Water on a monthly basis as well as by the City 

Council on a periodic basis to determine the cause of the loss. 

 

 Status: This comment has been implemented as of April 30, 2018. 

 

2. Cash Balance not on the General Ledger 

 

 During testing of cash, we noted the Sauk Valley Bank account titled RF Fire Department 

Auxiliary is held under the City’s FEIN number but was not listed on the City’s general 

ledger.  

 

 We recommend the City review all accounts held using the City’s FEIN number and 

determine if City oversight of these accounts is warranted and if these accounts should be 

included in the City’s general ledger.  

 

 Status: This comment has been implemented as of April 30, 2018. 

 

3. Credit Card Policy Compliance  

 

 During our review of credit card transactions, we noted several transactions did not comply 

with the City’s established credit card policies. The following matters were noted: 

 

• Several card charges were not supported by a detailed receipt  

• Several purchases included sales tax  

 

We recommend the City require strict compliance with established credit card policies, and 

adequate support is maintained to support the City purpose of credit card purchases.  

 

Status: This comment is still applicable as of April 30, 2018 and will be reported as a current 

year deficiency. 
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DEFICIENCIES (Continued) 

 

4. Interfund Transactions  

 

During our audit, we noted several interfund transactions (health insurance, GIS IT, etc.) 

which are not completely allocated to individual funds.  

 

We recommend the City completely allocate all such interfund transactions to ensure  

quasi-interfund transactions are accounted in the individual fund receiving the service or 

commodity.  

 

Status: This comment has been partially implemented as of April 30, 2018 and will be 

reported as a current year deficiency. 

 

5. Expenditure and Bidding Procedures  

 

We reviewed a sample of purchases made by the City during the fiscal year for compliance 

with the City’s established purchasing and bidding policies and procedures. We noted the 

following matters: 

 

• The City does not utilize the “Quotation Form” to document verbal and written 

quotations 

• The City does not utilize purchase orders  

 

We recommend the City abide by the adopted purchasing policy or modify the existing 

policy to reflect the current policies and procedures. 

 

Status: This comment is still applicable as of April 30, 2018 and will be reported as a current 

year deficiency. 

 

6. Capital Assets  

 

 During our review of capital asset transactions, we noted several transactions did not comply 

with the City’s established capitalization policies. The following matters were noted: 

 

• Several repairs, maintenance, and operational costs were capitalized 

• Several items less than the capitalization threshold of $2,500 were capitalized 

• Several items that appeared on the capital asset listing appear to be no longer in 

use 

• The trade in value of several assets was netted against the value of the new asset 

purchased 

 

We recommend the City require strict compliance with established capitalization policies. 

 

We recommend the City review their capital asset listing and remove any items that are no 

longer used by or in the possession of the City. Additionally, we recommend the City record 

the full expense of each asset, and record the value of an asset that is traded in as revenue. 

 

Status: This comment has been implemented as of April 30, 2018.  
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DEFICIENCIES (Continued) 

 

7.  Bond Compliance  

 

During our review of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board - Electronic Municipal 

Market Access website, we noted that the City did not complete the filing of its continuing 

disclosures in accordance with the timeframes established in the official statements. The 

audited financial statements are required to be submitted within six months after the end of 

the fiscal year and were not submitted within this timeframe.  
 

Additionally, we noted the City did not have adequate reserves set aside to comply with the 
requirements for the outstanding 2010 GO Bonds. 
 
We recommend the City implement policies and procedures to ensure compliance with all 
bond requirements. 
 

Status: This comment has been implemented as of April 30, 2018. 
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401 W. State Street, Suite 509 
Rockford, IL 61101 

815.282.6565 

 

 

 

The Honorable Mayor 

Members of the Council 

City of Rock Falls, Illinois 

 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, 

business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of 

Rock Falls, Illinois (the City) as of and for the year ended April 30, 2018, in accordance with auditing 

standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the City’s internal control 

over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 

and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 

or significant deficiencies and therefore material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that 

were not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control 

that we consider to be material weaknesses and other deficiencies that we consider to be significant 

deficiencies. 

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 

or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 

important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. A material weakness is a 

deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 

possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or 

detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  

 

The City’s written responses to the deficiencies in our audit have not been subjected to the audit 

procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on 

it.  

 

In addition, we reviewed the status of the material weaknesses for the period ended April 30, 2017. 

The status of these recommendations is included in Appendix A. 
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This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, the City Council and 

the management of the City and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 

these specified parties. 

 

 

 

Rockford, Illinois 

October 11, 2018 
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MATERIAL WEAKNESSES 

 

We consider the following to be material weaknesses over internal controls  

 

Segregation of Duties 

 

With a limited number of staff in City offices and departments, proper segregation of duties is difficult 

to accomplish. A fundamental element of internal control is the segregation of certain key duties. The 

basic idea underlying segregation of duties is that no employee or group should be in a position both 

to perpetrate and to conceal errors or fraud in the normal course of their duties. In general, the principal 

incompatible duties to be segregated include:  

 

- Custody of assets, in particular cash 

- Authorization or approval of related transactions affecting those assets 

- Recording or reporting of related transactions 

- Execution of the transaction or transaction activity 

 

An essential feature of segregation of duties/responsibilities within an organization is that no one 

employee or group of employees has exclusive control over any transaction or group of transactions. 

 

We noted specific lack of segregation of duties listed below. This list should not be considered to be 

all inclusive as we did not perform a comprehensive review of all control structures throughout the 

City. 

 

The Deputy City Clerk can enter invoices into the system, process checks, and mail checks. The 

Deputy City Clerk can both receive and record the same cash receipt. The Deputy City Clerk 

has administrative access to the accounting software (MSI) and performs accounting functions. 

The effectiveness of established controls is diminished when personnel involved in the 

accounting function have the ability to modify their access rights to the various modules of the 

accounting software. 

 

The Accounts Payable/Payroll Clerk can enter invoices into the system, process checks, and 

mail checks. In addition, the Accounts Payable/Payroll Clerk can both receive and record the 

same cash receipt.  

 

The Building Department Secretary can create permits and collect cash for permits. 

 

Custody of assets, including check signing authority, authorization or approval of related 

transactions affecting those assets, recording or reporting of related transactions, and execution 

of the transaction or transaction activity should be segregated. With a limited staff, segregation 

of these duties may not be possible. In this case, it is important department heads remain diligent 

in their monitoring of financial transactions.  

 

A detailed review of financial statements, budget vs. actual results, bank reconciliations, payroll 

registers, and invoices and supporting documentation for checks greatly enhances the internal 

control. This review should be performed by someone other than the preparer of the documents. 
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MATERIAL WEAKNESSES (Continued) 

 

Segregation of Duties (Continued) 

 

Review of bank reconciliations should include tests of mechanical accuracy and tracing of items on 

the reconciliation to the relevant source documents. The nature of unreconciled differences should be 

determined and followed up on in a timely manner and any journal entries deemed necessary, as a 

result, be recorded.  

 

In all cases, we recommend the City reassign duties in order to more fully segregate conflicting duties. 

 

Management’s Response 

 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

The Deputy City Clerk cannot process invoices without approval by a Department Head and the City 

Administrator who both initial the invoice prior to entering into the system. The Deputy City Clerk 

can process checks however, the Deputy City Clerk is not a signor on ANY accounts held by the City.  

 

Accounts Payable/Payroll Clerk 

 

The Accounts Payable/Payroll Clerk cannot process invoices without approval by a Department Head 

and the City Administrator who both initial the invoice prior to entering into the system. The Deputy 

City Clerk can process checks however, the Accounts Payable/Payroll Clerk is not a signor on ANY 

accounts held by the City.  

 

Review of Financial Statements 

 

Review of financial statements, budget vs. actual, bank reconciliations, payroll registers, invoices and 

the supporting documentation for checks is and has been conducted on a regular basis over the past 

several years by persons other than those that prepared those documents.  

 

Year End Close Process  

 

During our audit we proposed numerous audit adjustments, which management has reviewed and 

approved. Adjustments that were proposed were the result of recurring year end accruals that were not 

recorded, transactions that were not recorded in the proper period or classified correctly, and 

government-wide conversion entries such as capital assets and long-term debt.  

 

Generally accepted auditing standards emphasizes that the external auditor cannot be part of an 

entity’s internal control process over financial reporting. We recommend that procedures or checklists 

be adopted and followed to include all procedures that management determines are needed to be 

performed on a monthly or year end basis to ensure general ledger accounts are properly adjusted. 

 

Management’s Response 

 

Management will review and determine what procedures or checklists are necessary to ensure that the 

general ledger accounts are property adjusted. Management also recognizes that the amount of 

adjustments required are decreasing on a yearly basis.   
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SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCY 

 

Inventory 

 

During our testing of inventory, we noted there is no written inventory policy to provide guidance on 

securing inventory, and recording the activity of inventory purchased and used. 

 

During our testing of inventory, we noted several inventory invoices selected for testing which could 

not be located for the Electric Department to support the average cost of inventory items held at year 

end. In addition, several invoices could not be located for the Water Department to support the average 

cost of the inventory item.  

 

We recommend the City develop an inventory control policy to provide guidelines to accurately track 

and secure inventory. In addition, we recommend the City retain invoices for all inventory items to 

support the average cost of the inventory item used and review inventory for obsolescence on a 

periodic basis.  

 

Management’s Response 

 

The City’s Electric Department has maintained the current inventory program since 2003. During the 

conversion to the current program in 2003, all old invoice information was destroyed in the 

conversion. Considering the age of some of our infrastructure within the electric system, it is 

acceptable to have inventory on hand which may have been purchased prior to 2003. Unfortunately, 

until such time that all electric inventory purchased prior to 2003 is used, the City will not have 

invoices which support the average cost of the inventory currently held which was purchased prior to 

2003. The Electric Department does keep copies of all invoices for products in inventory since 2003. 

Those invoices are kept passed the mandatory 7 year period and are not destroyed until such time that 

the inventory is used.  

 

The City’s Water Department inventory process was reviewed during after the 2017 audit for 

necessary changes and after review, a process was implemented and they are now required to keep 

copies of all invoices of inventoried items. 
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APPENDIX A 

STATUS OF COMMENTS FROM APRIL 30, 2017 

CITY OF ROCK FALLS 

 

MATERIAL WEAKNESSES 

 

We consider the following to be material weaknesses over internal controls  

 

1. Segregation of Duties 

 

With a limited number of staff in City offices and departments, proper segregation of duties is 

difficult to accomplish. A fundamental element of internal control is the segregation of certain 

key duties. The basic idea underlying segregation of duties is that no employee or group should 

be in a position both to perpetrate and to conceal errors or fraud in the normal course of their 

duties. In general, the principal incompatible duties to be segregated include:  

 

- Custody of assets, in particular cash 

- Authorization or approval of related transactions affecting those assets 

- Recording or reporting of related transactions 

- Execution of the transaction or transaction activity 

 

An essential feature of segregation of duties/responsibilities within an organization is that no 

one employee or group of employees has exclusive control over any transaction or group of 

transactions. 

 

We noted specific lack of segregation of duties listed below. This list should not be considered 

to be all inclusive as we did not perform a comprehensive review of all control structures 

throughout the City. 

 

The Deputy City Clerk can enter invoices into the system, process checks, and mail 

checks. The Deputy City Clerk can both receive and record the same cash receipt. The 

Deputy City Clerk has administrative access to the accounting software (MSI) and 

performs accounting functions. The effectiveness of established controls is diminished 

when personnel involved in the accounting function have the ability to modify their access 

rights to the various modules of the accounting software. 

 

The Accounts Payable/Payroll Clerk can enter invoices into the system, process checks, 

and mail checks. In addition, the Accounts Payable/Payroll Clerk can both receive and 

record the same cash receipt.  

 

The Building Department Secretary can create permits and collect cash for permits. 

 

Custody of assets, including check signing authority, authorization or approval of related 

transactions affecting those assets, recording or reporting of related transactions, and 

execution of the transaction or transaction activity should be segregated. With a limited 

staff, segregation of these duties may not be possible. In this case, it is important 

department heads remain diligent in their monitoring of financial transactions.  
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MATERIAL WEAKNESSES (Continued) 

 
1. Segregation of Duties (Continued) 

 

A detailed review of financial statements, budget vs. actual results, bank reconciliations, payroll 

registers, and invoices and supporting documentation for checks greatly enhances the internal 

control. This review should be performed by someone other than the preparer of the documents. 

 

Review of bank reconciliations should include tests of mechanical accuracy and tracing of items 
on the reconciliation to the relevant source documents. The nature of unreconciled differences 
should be determined and followed up on in a timely manner and any journal entries deemed 
necessary, as a result, be recorded.  
 
In all cases, we recommend the City reassign duties in order to more fully segregate conflicting 
duties. 
 
Status: This comment has been repeated as Material Weakness #1 for the current year. 
 

2.  Uninsured and Uncollateralized Deposits 

 
 We noted approximately $4 million of the bank balance of the City’s deposits were uninsured 

and uncollateralized. The City’s investment policy requires collateral to be pledged by financial 
institutions for which deposits exceed FDIC insurance coverage.  

 
 We recommend the city monitor their collateral monthly on a monthly basis to ensure all City 

deposits are insured or collateralized by financial institutions where deposits are held.  
 
 Status: This comment has been implemented as of April 30, 2018. 

 

3. Year End Close Process  

 

During our audit we proposed numerous audit adjustments, which management has reviewed 

and approved. Adjustments that were proposed were the result of recurring year end accruals 

that were not recorded, transactions that were not recorded in the proper period or classified 

correctly, and government-wide conversion entries such as capital assets and long-term debt.  

 

Generally accepted auditing standards emphasizes that the external auditor cannot be part of an 

entity’s internal control process over financial reporting. We recommend that procedures or 

checklists be adopted and followed to include all procedures that management determines are 

needed to be performed on a monthly or year end basis to ensure general ledger accounts are 

properly adjusted. 

 

Status: This comment has been repeated as Material Weakness #2 for the current year. 
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MATERIAL WEAKNESSES (Continued) 

 

4. Segregation of Duties - Pension Accounting  

 

We noted the Firefighters’ Pension accountants prepare checks, sign all checks, reconciles the 

bank statements, and transfers funds from the pension investment accounts to the pension 

checking account. Investment transfers can only be made between pension accounts. Invoices 

and check registers are reviewed and approved by the Firefighters’ Pension Board. However, 

supporting checks or cancelled checks are not reviewed by the Board to ensure the payments 

correspond with approved invoices.  

 

We recommend the Pension Board receive and review the monthly bank statements, and a 

second review by the Pension Board of investment account transfers be required. 

 

Status: This comment has been implemented as of April 30, 2018. 

 

5. Prior Period Adjustment 

 

During our review of the minutes of the City Council and through discussions with management, 

it was noted that the City sold property after year-end that was not recorded on the City’s general 

ledger. The City took ownership of the property in 2006 and did not record the capital asset at 

the time the deed was transferred to the City. We proposed a prior period adjustment, which was 

reviewed, approved, and posted by the City to record the capital asset on the City’s general 

ledger as of April 30, 2017. 

 

Status: This comment has been implemented as of April 30, 2018. 

 

SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCY 

 

1. Inventory 

 

During our testing of inventory, we noted there is no written inventory policy to provide 

guidance on securing inventory, and recording the activity of inventory purchased and used. 

 

During our testing of inventory, we noted several inventory invoices selected for testing which 

could not be located for the Electric Department to support the average cost of inventory items 

held at year end. In addition, several invoices could not be located for the Water Department to 

support the average cost of the inventory item.  

 

We recommend the City develop an inventory control policy to provide guidelines to accurately 

track and secure inventory. In addition, we recommend the City retain invoices for all inventory 

items to support the average cost of the inventory item used and review inventory for 

obsolescence on a periodic basis.  

 

Status: This comment has been repeated as Significant Deficiency #1 for the current year. 
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401 W. State Street, Suite 509 
Rockford, IL 61101 

815.282.6565 

 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON 

MANAGEMENT’S ASSERTION OF COMPLIANCE 

 

 

The Honorable Mayor 

Members of the City Council 

City of Rock Falls, Illinois 

 

We have examined management’s assertion, included in its representation letter dated October 11, 

2018 that the City of Rock Falls, Illinois (the City) complied with the provisions of subsection (q) of 

Section 11-74.4-3 of the Illinois Tax Increment Redevelopment Allocation Act (Illinois Public Act 

85-1142) during the year ended April 30, 2018. Management is responsible for the City’s assertion 

and for compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

management’s assertion about the City’s compliance based on our examination. 

 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 

examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether management’s assertion about compliance 

with the specified requirements is fairly stated, in all material respects. An examination involves 

performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether management’s assertion is fairly stated, in 

all material respects. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our 

judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material misstatement of management’s assertion, 

whether due to fraud or error. We believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 

Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the City’s compliance with the specified 

requirements. 

 

In our opinion, management’s assertion that the City of Rock Falls, Illinois complied with the 

aforementioned requirements for the year ended April 30, 2018 is fairly stated, in all material respects. 

 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, the City Council, management 

of the City, Illinois State Comptroller’s Office and the joint review boards and is not intended to be 

and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

 

 

 

Rockford, Illinois 

October 11, 2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 

 

The Honorable Mayor 

Members of the City Council 

City of Rock Falls, Illinois 

 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each 

major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Rock Falls, Illinois (the City) 

as of and for the year ended April 30, 2018, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements 

of the City and have issued our report thereon dated October 11, 2018, which expressed an unmodified 

opinion on those statements. 

 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements as a whole. 

The supplementary information (schedules of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance; 

schedule of fund balance by source) is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a 

required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 

and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 

prepare the basic financial statements.  

 

The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 

financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 

information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 

statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 

accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 

the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a 

whole. 

 

 

 

Rockford, Illinois 

October 11, 2018 
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Downtown Riverfront 

TIF Fund TIF Fund Total

REVENUES

Property taxes 170,376$             22,047$         192,423$       

Investment Income 1,470                   27                  1,497             

Miscellaneous 19,157                 -                 19,157           

                                                

Total revenues 191,003               22,074           213,077         

                                                

EXPENDITURES

General government

Contractual services 41,788                 851                42,639           

Commodities 18,642                 -                 18,642           

Miscellaneous 2,780                   18,079           20,859           

Capital outlay 99,649                 -                 99,649           

Debt service

Interest 96,701                 -                 96,701           

                                                

Total expenditures 259,560               18,930           278,490         

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES                                                 

  OVER EXPENDITURES                 (68,557)              3,144           (65,413)

 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 80,000                 -                            80,000 

Transfers (out) (28,599)                (80,000)                  (108,599)

Total other financing sources (uses) 51,401                           (80,000)           (28,599)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (17,156)                (76,856)          (94,012)          

                                                

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT), MAY 1 (67,854)                103,465         35,611           

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 (85,010)$              26,609$         (58,401)$        

                                                

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) FUNDS

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS

(See independent auditor's report.)
- 3 -
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Downtown Riverfront 

TIF Fund TIF Fund Total

BEGINNING BALANCE (DEFICIT), MAY 1, 2017 (67,854)$       103,465$       35,611$         

DEPOSITS 

Property taxes 170,376         22,047           192,423         

Investment Income 1,470             27                  1,497             

Miscellaneous 19,157           -                19,157           

                                                                        

Total deposits 191,003         22,074           213,077         

Balance plus deposits 123,149         125,539         248,688         

                                                                        

EXPENDITURES

General government

Contractual services 41,788           851                42,639           

Commodities 18,642           -                18,642           

Miscellaneous 2,780             18,079           20,859           

Capital outlay 99,649           -                99,649           

Debt service -                

Interest 96,701           -                96,701           

                                                                        

Total expenditures 259,560         18,930           278,490         

                                                                        

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

  OVER EXPENDITURES           (68,557)              3,144           (65,413)

 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in            80,000 -                           80,000 

Transfers (out)           (28,599)           (80,000)         (108,599)

Total other financing sources (uses)            51,401           (80,000)           (28,599)

ENDING BALANCE (DEFICIT), APRIL 30, 2018 (85,010)$       26,609$         (58,401)$       

ENDING BALANCE BY SOURCE

Property tax -$              26,582$         26,582$         

Investment income -                27                  27                  

Deficit (85,010)         -                (85,010)         

Subtotal           (85,010)            26,609           (58,401)

                                                                        

Less surplus funds -                -                -                

                                                                        

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT), APRIL 30, 2018 (85,010)$       26,609$         (58,401)$       

For the Year Ended April 30, 2018

SCHEDULE OF FUND BALANCE BY SOURCE

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) FUNDS

CITY OF ROCK FALLS, ILLINOIS 

(See independent auditor's report.)
- 4 -

303



304



305



306



307



308


	AG OK     TBZComEd REVISE GRADE 7-31-18 ver.RF Ver redline.pdf
	(a) Grantee shall procure and maintain at its own expense, prior to entry upon Grantor’s Property hereunder, all licenses, consents, permits, authorizations and other approvals required from any federal, state or local governmental authority in connec...
	(b) In the event any aspect of Grantee’s construction, placement, maintenance, repair, use or operation of the Easement Premises and the Facilities at any time violates or is forbidden by any law, statute, rule, regulation, order or requirement of any...
	(c) Grantee’s use of the Easement Premises shall be conducted in a manner that does not conflict or interfere with Grantor’s Operations.
	(d) This Easement and the rights granted hereunder are subject and subordinate in all respects to all matters and conditions affecting the Easement Premises (whether recorded or unrecorded).
	(e) Grantee’s obligations and liabilities to Grantor under this Easement with respect to the Easement Premises and the Facilities and all other matters shall not be limited or in any manner impaired by any agreements entered into by and between Grante...
	(f)  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this Easement and the rights granted hereunder are subject and subordinate in all respects to the existing and future rights of Grantor and its lessees, licensees and grantees, existing roads and ...
	3. Term.  The term of this Easement shall be perpetual, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Easement, and shall commence as of the date first hereinabove written.
	4. Fees.  In partial consideration of this Easement, Grantee shall pay Grantor a certain sum of money as set forth in a separate agreement between Grantor and Grantee, which amount shall be due and payable to Grantor, prior to Grantor’s execution of t...
	5. Rights Reserved to Grantor.
	(a) Grantor’s rights in and to the Easement Premises, Grantor’s Property and Grantor’s Operations are and shall remain superior to Grantee’s rights granted hereunder.  Grantor shall not be liable to Grantee for damage to the Facilities due to Grantor’...
	(b) Grantor reserves the right to grant additional leases, licenses, easements and rights hereafter to third parties through, under, over and across all or any portion of Grantor’s Property, including the Easement Premises, so long as there is no mate...
	6. Relocation and Restoration of Easement Premises.  The following terms and conditions shall govern the rights and obligations of the parties with respect to relocation and restoration of the Easement Premises:
	(a) In the event any alteration, expansion, upgrade, relocation or other change in Grantor’s Operations interferes or conflicts with Grantee’s use of the Easement Premises hereunder, Grantor shall notify Grantee in writing of such proposed change and ...
	(b) Grantee agrees that, within sixty (60) days after the termination of this Easement for any reason, Grantee shall, at its sole cost and expense and only if directed to do so by Grantor in Grantor’s sole discretion, remove all of the Facilities from...
	7. Condition of Grantor’s Property.  Grantee has examined the Easement Premises and knows its condition.  Grantee hereby accepts the condition of the Easement Premises in its AS-IS, WHERE-IS CONDITION, WITH ALL FAULTS.  No representations as to the co...
	8. Conditions Governing Construction, Repair, Maintenance and Other Work.
	(a) All work performed by Grantee pursuant to this Easement, including without limitation all work related to the installation, alteration, maintenance (excluding only routine maintenance), repair, relocation, replacement or removal of the Easement an...
	(b) Prior to the performance of any work, Grantee shall (i) obtain all applicable permits, approvals and authorizations required from any federal, state or local governmental authorities and furnish Grantor with satisfactory evidence that all such app...
	(c) Except for emergency repairs affecting the health and safety of the public, Grantee shall provide Grantor with not less than thirty (30) days advance notice of any work (including routine maintenance) so that Grantor may take such protective actio...
	(d) Grantee hereby agrees that, in the event that Grantee (or any employee, agent, representative, contractor, licensee, invitee or guest of Grantee) performs any grading, leveling, digging or other work of any kind on the Grantor’s Property (to the e...
	(e) Except for emergency repairs affecting the health and safety of the public, which emergency repairs should be called in within the first 8-hours of entering Grantor’s Property and confirmed by Grantor, Grantee shall (in addition to the notice requ...
	(f) Grantee hereby acknowledges that the Easement Premises may be used from time to time to accommodate equipment and facilities of other persons and/or entities (including, without limitation, pipeline and utility companies) which are (or will be) lo...
	(g) Grantor may withhold its approval to the performance of any work hereunder whenever any of the following conditions exist:  (i) Grantee is in default under this Easement, (ii) the performance of such work and the use and occupancy of Grantor’s Pro...
	(h) All work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with all applicable laws, statutes, building codes and regulations of applicable governmental authorities.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Grantee sh...
	(i) Grantee shall promptly notify Grantor of any damage caused to Grantor’s facilities arising our of or related to the performance of such work, including without limitation damage to crops, fences, pasture land or livestock, landscaping and the like...
	(j) There shall be no impairment of any natural or installed drainage facilities occasioned by any work related to the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities and Grantee at its cost shall repair and replace all drainage tiles damaged or destroyed dur...
	(k) The following additional specific requirements shall apply to the performance of the work related to the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities:
	(i)  Grantee agrees that the Facilities will be installed in strict conformity with the Plat  of Easement  attached hereto as Exhibit B.
	(ii)  Should any proposed changes to the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities be required, either before or after installation, Grantee, or its successors, shall first submit such changes to Grantor, in the form of revised plans for Grantor’s revie...
	(iii) Where the Facilities cross Grantor’s fiber optic cable (TBON), Grantor may require that split plastic duct shall be installed and secured around Grantor’s underground fiber optic cables in order to protect the fiber optic cable from any damage d...
	(v) Grantee agrees, upon completion of the installation of the Facilities, Grantee will replace all backfilling material in a neat, clean and workmanlike manner, with the topsoil on the surface of Grantor’s Property, together with the removal of all e...
	(vii) Grantee covenants and agrees that, in the event that Grantee installs (or is required (by Grantor or otherwise) to install) any fencing and/or gates in connection with Grantee’s work at the Easement Premises (or its use or occupancy of the Easem...
	(viii) Grantee acknowledges and confirms that, in connection with Grantor’s review and/or approval of the plans and specifications for Grantee’s work at the Easement Premises (as provided in Subsection 8(a) above), Grantor may require that barricades ...
	9. Covenants of Grantee.  Grantee hereby covenants and agrees as follows (which covenants shall survive the expiration or termination of this Easement and Grantee’s rights and privileges under this Easement):
	(a) Grantee shall obtain and maintain all rights, licenses, consents and approvals required from any governmental authorities or third parties with respect to the installation, use or operation of the Easement Premises and/or the Facilities on Grantor...
	(b) Grantee shall install the Facilities and use and occupy the Easement Premises in a manner that avoids any interference with Grantor’s Operations.  Within fifteen (15) days after Grantor’s demand therefor, Grantee shall reimburse Grantor for all co...
	(c) Grantee hereby covenants and agrees that it will not cause or permit any lien (including, without limitation, any mechanic’s lien) or claim for lien to be asserted against the Easement Premises or any interest therein, whether such lien or claim f...
	(d) In addition to, and not in lieu of, the other payments which Grantee is required to make under this Easement, Grantee shall pay the following amounts to Grantor in respect of real estate taxes and assessments, in each case no later than thirty (30...
	For purposes of this Easement real estate taxes or assessments “for” or “with respect to” any particular period (or portion thereof) shall mean the real estate taxes or assessments which accrue with respect to such period, irrespective of the fact tha...
	12. Insurance.
	Grantee agrees to require its contractors, before commencing any work on the Leased Premises to purchase and maintain, or at the option of Grantee to itself purchase and maintain, at the cost of Grantee or its contractors, a policy or policies of insu...

	32. Independent System Operator.  In the event responsibility for management or operation of all or any portion of Grantor’s electrical transmission facilities located in or on the Grantor’s Property is transferred or assigned by Grantor to an indepe...
	33. Additional Requirements. The Grantee shall follow adhere to the Additional Requirements listed in Exhibit C.





